Technische Universität München TUM School of Life Sciences



# Interactions of fat migration and crystallization in filled dark chocolate products

Isabell Rothkopf

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Life Sciences der Technischen Universität

München zur Erlangung einer

Doktorin der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz: Prof. Dr.-Ing. Heiko Briesen

Prüfer\*innen der Dissertation:

- 1. Prof. Dr. Horst-Christian Langowski
- 2. Prof. Dr. Stephen Schrettl

Die Dissertation wurde am 16.02.2023 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Life Sciences am 05.06.2023 angenommen.

# Abstract

A white layer on the surface of chocolates, the so-called fat bloom, is the decisive parameter for the quality loss of this product group. Filled products, such as pralines, are particularly susceptible. This is because in such filled products oils can migrate from the filling into the chocolate.

The *migrated oil*, which migrates from the filling into the chocolate during storage can change the crystalline structure of the chocolate. The migration mechanism has not yet been fully understood. Moreover, the influence of the initial oil has hardly been investigated. *Initial oil* is oil from the filling, which - during the production of the filled products - already gets into the liquid chocolate that later encloses the finished product as a shell. This oil can change the crystal state of the chocolate.

The microstructure of chocolate can be changed by adding particles, by adding vegetable oils or edible fats, and by changing the crystal state of the polymorphic cocoa butter. This can be used to retard the migration of oils from the filling into the chocolate and resulting fat bloom in filled chocolate products. Therefore, a model system was developed to study the influence of chocolate microstructure on the migration of oils from the filling through the chocolate. Finally, a realistic experiment with cold-stamped chocolates was conducted to verify the results.

The study shows that both the initial and migrated oil accelerate the transition from the less stable to the more stable crystal form of cocoa butter. Moreover, the migration is faster for samples with the most stable polymorphic crystal form  $\beta_{\rm VI}$ . On the other hand, oil in the chocolate, whether initial oil or migrated oil, reduces the migration rate. Fat bloom formation was not accelerated by initial oil, as the effects on migration and crystallization of the initial oil appear to counteract to each other.

# Contents

List of Figures V			V	
Lis	List of Tables X List of quantities, their symbols and abbreviations XII			
Lis				
1	Intro	oductio	n	1
2	Bac	kgroun	d	3
	2.1	Chemi	ical properties of fats and oils	. 3
		2.1.1	Cocoa butter	. 4
		2.1.2	Milk fat	. 5
		2.1.3	Nut and drupe oils	. 6
	2.2	Crysta	allization of vegetable fats and oils $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	. 9
		2.2.1	Crystallization of TAG	. 11
		2.2.2	Polycrystalline structure and microstructure	. 15
		2.2.3	Measuring rate and degree of cocoa butter crystallization	. 15
	2.3	Choco	plate as a dispersion	. 17
		2.3.1	Microstructure of solidified chocolate	. 20
	2.4	Migra	tion of filling lipids into chocolate	. 22
		2.4.1	Diffusion through the fat phase	. 23
		2.4.2	Fat migration caused by capillary flow	. 25
	2.5	Manuf	facture of chocolate products	. 27
		2.5.1	Cocoa and chocolate processing	. 27
		2.5.2	Chocolate tempering	. 29
	0.0	2.5.3	Forming filled chocolates	. 30
	2.6	Fat bl	oom	. 32
		2.6.1	Causes for fat bloom	. 32
		2.6.2	Impact factors for fat bloom formation	. 35
		2.6.3	Production parameters and fat bloom formation	. 38
3	Mat	erial, p	processes and methods	39
	3.1	Sampl	le material	. 39
	3.2	Invest	igation of particle impact on chocolate crystallization	. 39
	3.3	Invest	igation of filling lipids in chocolate and cocoa butter	. 40
		3.3.1	Impact of filling fats and oils on cocoa butter and chocolate crys-	
			tallization	. 40

	2.4	3.3.2	Proof of the presence and quantification of filling lipids in chocolate	40
	3.4	Filling	oil migration in cylindrical chocolate model systems	40
	٥.٣	3.4.1	Cylindrical model systems	41
	3.5	Manuf	acture of filled model pralines	44
		3.5.1	Tempering of chocolate	44
		3.5.2	Cold forming of model praline shells	44
		3.5.3	Simulation of unintended mixing during production	48
		3.5.4	Pralines with post treatments	48
		3.5.5	Praline storage tests at isothermal and cycled temperature	49
	3.6	Genera	al instrumental analysis	51
		3.6.1	Fat analysis	51
		3.6.2	NMR - nuclear magnetic resonance	53
		3.6.3	DSC - differential scanning calorimetry	56
		3.6.4	Free fat	58
		3.6.5	Particle size distribution	59
		3.6.6	BET-surface	59
		3.6.7	Fat bloom evaluation	59
		3.6.8	Statistics and curve analysis	59
4	Resi	ults and	discussion	60
	4.1	Filling	fats and oils in cocoa butter and chocolate	60
		4.1.1	Fat analysis	60
		4.1.2	Crystallization of cocoa butter mixed with oils and fats $\ldots \ldots$	61
		4.1.3	Discussion	67
	4.2	Filling	fat and oil detection in dark chocolate $\hdots \hdots \h$	69
		4.2.1	Use of solid fat content (SFC) for filling fat and oil detection $\ldots$	69
		4.2.2	Fatty acid composition for quantification of filling oils and fats in chocolate	71
		4.2.3	Discussion	73
	4.3	Filling	oil migration in chocolate	74
		4.3.1	Storage temperature, time and sampling	75
		4.3.2	Basic experiment - chocolate and cocoa butter	75
		4.3.3	Dispersed phase - variation of type and amount of particles	77
		4.3.4	Changed particle surface properties by adding lecithin	82
		435	Impact of cocoa butter polymorphism	83
		436	Discussion	85
	44	Filled	chocolates	87
	1.1	4 4 1	Storage tests	87
		442	Simulating mixing during production	93
		4 4 3	Post-treatment of pralines	102
_	_	1.1.0		104
5	Sum	mary		107
Bi	Bibliography 109			

# List of Figures

2.1	TAG are composed of glycerol and FAs with residual carbon chains R of	
	different length and number of double bonds	3
2.2	Different conformations of TAG with marked glycerol moiety	4
2.3	The main fatty acids in natural (vegetable and animal) oil or fat	4
2.4	Three phases of crystallization	9
2.5	Gibbs free energy $\Delta G$ (a) in dependency of nuclei radius with critical radius $r*$ at maximum $\Delta G$ with $\Delta G_V$ as volume related energy and $\Delta G_S$ as surface related energy and (b) for different temperatures $T_1 < T_2 < T_3$ below melting temperature $T_m$ and according critical nuclei radius $r_1 <$	10
0.0	$r_2 < r_3 \dots$	10
2.6	Structure model of the polymorphic forms of POP and SOS (modified $(1002)$ )	10
0.7	after Yano et al. (1993))	12
2.1	schematic two dimensional drawing of a trimodal particle size distribution	17
28	Surface S to volume V ratio in dependency of particle radius or edge	11
2.0	length r for spheres and cubes	18
29	Decreasing micro porosity with increasing conching time as shown by	10
2.0	Ziegleder Balimann et al 2003	19
2.10	confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) micrographs of cocoa par- ticles. A: cocoa mass; B: cocoa powder with $11 g/100g$ fat; C: highly defatted accea powder with $\leq 1 g/100g$ fat (De et al. 2011)	10
2.11	Migration over time based on diffusion through the fat phase, which ends in a partition equilibrium and capillary diffusion, which ends in an equi-	19
	librium of forces	25
2.12	Cocoa Processing from pod to chocolate	28
2.13	Exemplary cooling curve of under, normal and over tempered dark choco-	
	late for TI determination	29
2.14	Schematic drawing of conventional shelling principle	30
2.15	Schematic drawing of cold forming principle	31
2.16	Schematic drawing of enrobing principle	31
2.17	Schematic drawing of one-shot principle	32
2.18	Self-fractionation of TAG according to Ziegleder and Mikle 1995a	34
2.19	The optimum temperature for fat bloom formation in filled chocolate	
	products is in between the optimum temperatures of crystallization of fat	
	bloom on the surface and high migration of oils from the filling according	
	to Ziegleder and Schwingshandl 1999	37

3.1	Setup of cylindrical model systems	41
3.2	Basic experiment (blue) and changed crystal form cylinders (red) for	40
იი	model migration measurements, see text for detailed explanation	42
ა.ა	of particles and legithin addition, see tout for detailed emplanation	49
21	Sliging of the guindrical model systems for sampling	42
0.4 9 ธ	Numbered stations per mold of the proline forming plant ubi <sup>®</sup> DN V.	44
5.5	Numbered stations per mold of the praime forming plant up PN-1;	45
26	Molda with dimension of 275 mm × 125 mm × 24 mm (length × width	40
3.0	Molds with dimension of 275 mm $\times$ 155 mm $\times$ 24 mm (length $\times$ width $\times$ height) and the two lange for mold filling from A1 to C2 (red) and in	
	$\times$ height) and the two falles for more fining from A1 to G5 (feq) and in reverse direction C2 to A1 (blue)	16
27	reverse direction G5 to A1 (blue)	40
ა.( ე ი	Decreasing signal of a fat gamples of an a 00° bigh frequency impulse (DIN	49
3.8	Decreasing signal of a fat samples after a 90 mign frequency impulse (DIN EN ISO $2010_{\circ}$ )	<b>E</b> 9
20	EN ISO 2010a) $\ldots$	55
3.9	over time	56
2 10	Heat flow of gogos butter CB 02 recorded by DSC during molting at	50
3.10	$3^{\circ}C/min$ from 20 °C to 45 °C with peak maximum, which was used for	
	avaluation and baseline (dotted grav)	57
2 11	Heat flow of CB 02 recorded by DSC during isothermal arrestallization at	57
0.11	$10^{\circ}$ C peak maximum time and baseline (dotted grav)	57
2 1 9	Heat flow of CB 02 recorded by DSC during cooling erystallization with	57
0.12	near now of CD 02 recorded by DSC during cooling crystalization with	59
	peak maximum and basenne (dotted gray)	90
4.1	NMR fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal crystallization at 19°C of cocoa	
	butter CB 01 (reference) and mixed with 50 mg/g almond (ao), hazelnut	
	(hno), olive (oo) and walnut oil (wo) based on cocoa butter weight from	
	three measurements each	62
4.2	NMR fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal crystallization at 19°C of cocoa	
	butter CB 01 (reference) and mixed with 100 mg/g almond (ao), hazelnut	
	(hno), olive (oo) and walnut oil (wo) based on cocoa butter weight from	
	three measurements each	63
4.3	NMR fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal crystallization at 19°C of cocoa	
	butter CB 01 (reference) and mixed with 150 mg/g almond (ao), hazelnut	
	(hno), olive (oo) and walnut oil (wo) based on cocoa butter weight from	
	three measurements each	64
4.4	DSC peak maximum time of isothermally crystallized CB 01 as a reference	
	and mixed with oils, namely almond (ao), hazelnut (hno), olive (oo) and	
	walnut oil (wo) at 19 °C as mean of four measurements with standard	
	deviation	65

4.5	Peak maximum temperature of cooling curves measured via DSC with a cooling rate of $2^{\circ}C/min$ from $40^{\circ}C$ to $-10^{\circ}C$ for cocoa butter CB 01 as a	
	reference and mixed with oils, namely almond (ao), hazelnut (hno), olive	
	(oo) and walnut oil (wo) as mean of four measurements with standard	
	deviation	65
4.6	SFC at 20 °C of reference CB 01 mixed with different oils, namely almond	
	oil (ao), hazelnut oil (hno), olive oil (oo) and walnut oil (wo) and the SFC	
	of the mixtures which would be expected by dilution	66
4.7	SFC at 20 °C of CB 01 as a reference mixed with increasing amounts of	
	butterfat (bf) and coconut fat (cnf) and the SFC which would be expected	
	by dilution	67
4.8	SFC of chocolate mixed with different amounts of hazelnut oil (hno), but-	
	terfat (bf) or coconut fat (cnf) related to whole sample amount, prepared	
	with $\beta$ -stabilization and measured immediately after preparation (day 0)	
	and after 22 days storage at $20 ^{\circ}\text{C}$	70
4.9	GC-FID calibration curve of hazelnut oil in dark chocolate as the ratio of	
	the lead substances C18:0 for chocolate and C18:1 for hazelnut oil $\ \ldots$ .	71
4.10	GC calibration curve of hazelnut oil in cocoa butter CB 01 and CB 03 $\ .$ .	72
4.11	Recovery rate for GC-FID measurements with target recovery rate of $1 \text{ g/g}$	73
4.12	Picture of two cocoa butter, two chocolate and two 1:1-mixture cylinders	
	(from left to right) with adherent nougat at the bottom (Sonnleitner 2016)	75
4.13	Pictures of the sectional view of cylinders made of cocoa butter and	
	mixtures with sugar (S) and cocoa powder (CP), S30_CP0, S50_CP0,	
	$S10\_CP20$ , $S25\_CP25$ , $S0\_CP30$ and $S0\_CP50$ (from left to right) (Wald-	
	schütz 2016)	75
4.14	SFC of the bottom slice of cocoa butter model cylinders stored at $18$ °C,	
	$20^{\circ}\text{C}$ and $23^{\circ}\text{C}$ , determined by NMR analysis after sample preparation	
	with $\beta$ -stabilization and 21 d storage at 20 °C determined in duplicate	76
4.15	SFC of the bottom, middle and top slices of cocoa butter model cylinders	
	stored at 23 °C, determined by NMR after sample preparation with $\beta$ -	=0
4.10	stabilization and 21 d storage at 20°C determined in duplicate	76
4.10	SFC and amount of nazemut off that migrated into the bottom since of	
	basic experiment dark chocolate, cocoa butter and 1:1 mixture model	
	cylinders stored at 25°C, determined by GC analysis in triplicate and by NMP analysis after complementation with $\beta$ stabilization and 21 d	
	by NMR analysis after sample preparation with $\rho$ -stabilization and 21 d	77
117	CE diameter and volume based particle density distribution $a_0$ of fat free	11
4.17	cocoa powder and finest sugar	78
4 18	Free fat based on fat content of cocoa butter sugar and cocoa powder	10
0	mixtures, according to tab. 3.2 with 5 mg/g or without lecithin determined	
	by centrifuge, sorted according to BET-surface	80
		~~

4.19	Amount of hazelnut oil in mg/g based on fat content that migrated into the bottom slice of the cocce butter CB 04 model cylinders with differ	
	ent amounts of sugar and fat free cocca powder particles according to	
	tab 3.2 stored at 23°C determined by CC analysis in triplicate	81
4 20	SEC of the bettern glice of good butter CB 04 model cylinders with	01
4.20	different amounts of sugar and fat free same powder particles, according	
	different amounts of sugar and fat-free cocoa powder particles, according	
	to tab. 3.2, stored at 23°C, determined by NMR analysis after sample	
	preparation with $p$ -stabilization and 21 d storage at 20 C determined in	01
4.01		81
4.21	Amount of nazemut oil that migrated into the bottom slice of cocoa but-	
	ter CB 04 model cylinders with different amounts of sugar and fat-free	
	cocoa powder and with 5 mg/g lecithin stored at 23 °C, determined by	0.0
	GC analysis in triplicate	82
4.22	SFC of the bottom slice of cocoa butter model cylinders with different	
	amounts of sugar and fat-free cocoa powder with 5 mg/g lecithin stored	
	at 23 °C, determined by NMR analysis after sample preparation with $\beta$ -	
	stabilization and 21 d storage at 20 °C in duplicate	83
4.23	Amount of hazelnut oil that migrated into the bottom and middle slices of	
	dark chocolate, cocoa butter and 1:1 mixture model cylinders in $\beta_{\rm VI}$ poly-	~ .
	morphic form stored at 23 °C, determined by GC analysis in triplicate	84
4.24	SFC of the bottom and middle slices of dark chocolate, cocoa butter and	
	1:1 mixture model cylinders in $\beta_{\rm VI}$ polymorphic form stored at 23 °C, de-	
	termined by NMR analysis after sample preparation with $\beta$ -stabilization	~ .
	and 21 d storage at 20 °C determined in duplicate	84
4.25	SFC over time of emptied chocolate shells obtained from isothermally	
	stored pralines	88
4.26	SFC over time of emptied chocolate shells obtained from pralines sub-	
	jected to cycling temperature storage	88
4.27	SFC of emptied chocolate shells obtained from pralines, which were sub-	
	ject to isothermal or cycling storage with intervals of 3 d and 7 d for 28 d	
	in total	89
4.28	WI of isothermally stored filled pralines and chocolate shells in depen-	
	dency of storage time	90
4.29	View of the top of a fresh praline and after 98 d isothermal storage at	
	$20 ^{\circ}\text{C}$ and $27 ^{\circ}\text{C}$	90
4.30	WI of filled pralines and chocolate shells, which were subject to cycling	
	temperature storage in dependency of starting temperature, second tem-	
	perature, cycling frequency in days and storage time	91
4.31	Supercooling temperature and Temper Index (TI) measured using Büh-	
	ler MultiTherm <sup>™</sup> and Sollich Tempermeter E4 in dependency of initial	
	hazelnut oil in dark chocolate	93
4.32	SFC of emptied chocolate shells obtained from pralines stored at $18^{\circ}$ C,	
	$20^{\circ}\text{C}$ and $23^{\circ}\text{C}$ and in dependency of the initial fraction of hazelnut oil .	94

4.33	$\Delta$ SFC of dark chocolate nougat praline shells during storage at 18 °C, in	
	dependency of the initial fraction of hazelnut oil $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	. 96
4.34	Migrated hazelnut oil during storage at $18$ °C, for different amounts of the	
	initial fraction of hazelnut oil	. 97
4.35	Maximum peak temperature of melting curves obtained via differential	
	scanning calorimetry (DSC) indicating the polymorphic crystal form of	
	chocolate from pralines without initial hazelnut oil, stored at $18^{\circ}\mathrm{C},20^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	
	and $23 ^{\circ}C$ and shown as single values	. 98
4.36	Maximum peak temperature of melting curves obtained via DSC for emp-	
	tied shells of pralines stored at $20^{\circ}\text{C}$ with increasing amounts of initial	
	hazel nut oil, measured in duplicate and shown as single values	. 99
4.37	WI of dark chocolate nougat praline shells during storage at $23 ^{\circ}\text{C}$ and in	
	dependency of the initial fraction of hazelnut oil $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	. 100
4.38	Time-temperature profile of the simulated post tempering DSC process	. 102
4.39	Melting curves of tempered chocolate after process simulation in a DSC	
	with varying post-tempering temperatures	. 103
4.40	SFC of pralines without post-tempering at 18 °C and with post-tempering	
	at 28 °C and 30 °C for 15 min followed by subsequent storage at 20 °C	
	measured with $\beta$ -stabilization in duplicate	. 103
4.41	Peak maximum temperature as indicator for the polymorphic crystal form	
	of melting curves of pralines without post-tempering at $18^{\circ}\text{C}$ and post-	
	tempered at 28 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ and 30 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ stored at 18 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ determined in duplicate	. 104
4.42	WI of pralines and empty shells, which were produced without post-	
	tempering at 18 °C or with post-tempering at 28 °C and 30 °C and subse-	
	quent storage at 20 °C	. 105
4.43	Dark chocolate nougat pralines stored at 23 °C without (left) and with	
	shell post-tempering at $30 ^{\circ}$ C (right)	. 105

# List of Tables

2.1	Fatty acid composition of cocoa butter from different origins in $g/100g$	
	(Klagge and Sen Gupta 1990) with abbreviation and carbon number	5
2.2	Main TAG and diglycerides (DG) and sum of C-atoms in the FA chains	
	within the TAG of cocoa butter from different origins in $g/100g$	5
2.3	Fatty acid composition of anhydrous milk fat (AMF) in g/100g	6
2.4	Main TAG according to the number of carbon atoms in the FA chains of	
	anhydrous milk fat (AMF) in g/100g	7
2.5	Fatty acid composition of different nut and drupe oils in g/100g (rounded	
	mean values from Krist and Biladt 2013)	7
2.6	Main TAG and sum of carbon atoms in the FA chains within the TAG of	
	different nut and drupe oils in g/100g (Krist and Biladt 2013)	8
2.7	Polymorphic forms of cocoa butter according to different authors and their	
	nomenclatures	13
3.1	Fillings and filling fats and oils for experimental procedures	39
3.2	Naming and composition of the samples of cocoa butter mixed with dif-	00
0	ferent amounts of finest sugar (S) and fat-free cocoa powder (CP)	43
3.3	Used parameters in machine relative units $(m,r,u)$ and their meaning	10
0.0	for praline production using the praline plant ubi <sup>®</sup> PN-Y (ubitec GmbH.	
	Bergneustadt. Germany)	47
3.4	Conditions for 40 d of cycling temperature storage	50
3.5	Used chemicals for fat analysis by GC and HPLC	52
0.0		-
4.1	Fatty acid composition of coconut fat and butterfat from C4:0 to C14:0	
	in mg/g for three replicates as mean $\pm$ standard deviation	60
4.2	Fatty acid composition in mg/g for three replicates as mean $\pm$ standard	
	deviation and sum of means from C4:0 to C18:2	61
4.3	Main TAG of cocoa butter in mg/g based on total quantified TAG, three	
	replicates as mean $\pm$ standard deviation (P:palmitic, S:stearic, O:oleic)	61
4.4	Minor TAG of cocoa butter in mg/g based on total quantified TAG, three	
	replicates as mean $\pm$ standard deviation (P:palmitic, S:stearic, O:oleic,	
	L:linoleic)	62
4.5	Decision and determination limit with $\alpha = 0.05$ of hazelnut oil, coconut	
	fat and butterfat in chocolate in mg/g quantified by SFC via NMR	70

4.6	Decision and determination limit with $\alpha = 0.05$ of hazelnut oil, coconut	
	fat and butterfat (lead substance in brackets) in dark chocolate (lead sub-	
	stance C18) in mg/g quantified by FA composition via GC with number	
	of concentrations $c$ and samples $s$ for each concentration and correlation	
	coefficient $\mathbb{R}^2$ calculated for the ratio of the lead substances to given con-	
	centration	72
4.7	Increasing BET-surface of particles in cocoa butter mixed with different	
	amounts of finest sugar (S) and fat-free cocoa powder (CP) $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	79
4.8	$D_{eff}$ calculated for hazelnut oil migration in dark chocolate pralines	
	stored at 18 °C, in dependency of initial hazelnut oil with standard er-	
	ror and correlation coefficient $R^2$ of the linear regression	97

# List of quantities, their symbols and abbreviations

## Symbols

A	area

- $D_{eff}$  effective diffusion coefficient
- $D_0$  molecular diffusivity
- g gravitational acceleration
- G Gibbs free energy
- h height of capillary rise
- H enthalpy
- l length
- *m* mass
- $q_3$  volume based particle density distribution
- $Q_0$  quantitative cumulative particle size distribution
- r radius
- S entropy
- t time
- T temperature
- V volume
- $\gamma$  surface energy
- $\mu$  viscosity of the fluid
- $\Phi$  volume fraction
- $\rho$  density of the fluid

- $\sigma$  surface tension
- au tortuosity
- $\Theta$  contact angle

## Abbreviations

AMF	anhydrous milk fat
BET	Brunauer Emmett Teller
CBE	cocoa butter equivalent
CBR	cocoa butter replacer
CBS	cocoa butter substitute
CE	circle equivalent
CLSM	confocal laser scanning microscopy
DSC	differential scanning calorimetry
ELSD	evaporative light scattering detector
FA	fatty acid
FFA	free fatty acid
FID	flame ionization detector
GC	gas chromatography
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
LLL	trilinolein
LLO	1,2-dilinoleoyl-3-oleoylglycerol
LOO	1-linoleoyl-2,3-dioleoylglycerol
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
000	triolein
POP	$1, 3- {\rm dipalmitoyl}-2- oleoylgly cerol$
POS	$1, 3\mbox{-}palmitoyl\mbox{-}stearoyl\mbox{-}2\mbox{-}oleoylglycerol$
RCF	relative centrifugal force
RR	recovery rate
SFC	solid fat content

	List of quantities, their symbols and abbreviations
SOS	1,3-distearoyl-2-oleoylglycerol
SSS	tristearin
TAG	triacylglyceride
TI	temper index

TMSH methanolic trimethylsulfoniumhydroxide

WI Whiteness Index

XRD X-ray diffraction

# **1** Introduction

Filled chocolates are the most popular chocolate products amongst consumers. However, they are particularly susceptible to fat bloom, a white or grayish layer on the surface of the product. Fat bloom in filled chocolate is often assigned to migration of oil from the filling into the surrounding chocolate.

Even though migration in chocolate has been investigated for several decades, the mechanism is still unclear. Two main mechanisms for migration in chocolate are discussed. The first description of migration of oil molecules in chocolate was based on diffusion of these molecules as the transport mechanism (Ziegleder, Moser, et al. 1996a; Ziegleder, Moser, et al. 1996b; Galdámez et al. 2009; Ghosh et al. 2002; Lee et al. 2010; Maleky et al. 2012; K. L. McCarthy and M. J. McCarthy 2008; Motwani et al. 2011). In 2004 capillary flow was supposed as another possible mechanism to describe migration in chocolate (Aguilera et al. 2004; Choi, K. L. McCarthy, and M. J. McCarthy 2005; Guiheneuf et al. 1997). A combination of both mechanisms is also conceivable (Deka et al. 2006; Reinke, Hauf, et al. 2015; Rousseau and P. Smith 2008). A third less probable mechanism which is discussed is convective flow (Altimiras et al. 2007; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015a; Loisel et al. 1997). All mechanisms highly depend on the microstructure of the chocolate, which is influenced by sugar, cocoa and eventually milk particles, but also the structure of the crystals of the cocoa butter, such as crystal density, crystal size or polymorphic form.

The crystal structure is affected by intrinsic and extrinsic factors. Intrinsic factors are triacylglyceride (TAG) composition, amount of minor components or presence of particles (Cebula and K. W. Smith 1992; Danzl and Ziegleder 2016a; Danzl and Ziegleder 2016b; Foubert 2003; Foubert, Vanrolleghem, Thas, et al. 2004; Patel and Dewettinck 2015; Ribeiro et al. 2015; K. W. Smith, Bhaggan, Talbot, and van Malssen 2011; Tietz and Hartel 2000; Sato 1999; Sato 2001; Svanberg et al. 2011a; Svanberg et al. 2011b). Extrinsic factors are especially production parameters, such as cooling time and temperature or introduced shear (Zeng 2000; Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2008c; Augusto et al. 2012; Dhonsi and Stapley 2006; Guthrie 2008; Maleky 2015; Padar, Mehrle, et al. 2009; Ramel and Marangoni 2017; Shi and Maleky 2015; Stapley et al. 1999; Ziegleder 1991; Ziegleder 1993c; Ziegleder 1995; Ziegleder and Kegel 1989; Marty and Marangoni 2009). An extrinsic factor that causes intrinsic changes is the partial transfer of filling oils into the chocolate during the manufacturing process. This results in a changed TAG composition, which can alter crystallization (Rothkopf and Danzl 2015; Cebula and Ziegleder 1993).

The crystallization rate of the chocolate might be accelerated or decelerated by entrained filling oils, depending on their type. However, this requires an adjustment of the processing parameters. The amount of crystallized fat in the chocolate might also be reduced by filling oils. The change of the crystallization behavior of chocolate with the amount of added filling oil depends on the TAG composition of the filling oil (Rothkopf and Danzl 2015). However, filling oils affect not only crystallization during production but also during storage. Migrating hazelnut oil is known to promote polymorphic transition of cocoa butter from the stable  $\beta_{\rm V}$  into the more stable  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  crystal form during storage (K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007). The effects of initial filling oil are not well investigated and might differ from the effects caused by migrated filling oil.

Although most investigations focus on cocoa butter, the impact of particles in chocolate must be taken into account. Particles have an impact on crystallization (Svanberg et al. 2011a; Svanberg et al. 2011b; Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2008c) as well as on migration (Altimiras et al. 2007; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015a; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015b).

Migration and crystallization in filled products cannot be regarded separately. *Initial* oil, which is already contained in the liquid chocolate might affect crystallization, which affects microstructure and thus migration. On the other hand, these already present filling oils reduce migration pressure due to the reduction of the concentration gradient. During storage initial or migrating filling oil affects the polymorphic transition. However, migration might also depend on the polymorphic form of the chocolate crystal lattice.

Several model systems were developed and used to investigate crystallization and migration separately. Further, the impact of crystallization on migration and of migration on crystallization was studied. Finally, a realistic model praline was used to investigate the interaction of migration and crystallization in several life-cycle steps.

The initial hypothesis of this work is that the crystalline state of cocoa butter in chocolate influences the migration of oils from the filling through the chocolate, e.g. in a praline. Additionally the migrating oil is assumed to alter the crystalline structure of the cocoa butter in chocolate. Therefore, the aim of this work was to identify impact factors for cocoa butter crystallization, oil migration in chocolate and their interaction.

# 2 Background

## 2.1 Chemical properties of fats and oils

The ingredients used in chocolate and chocolate products are cocoa products, namely cocoa liquor and cocoa butter, sugar and in case of milk chocolate, milk products, such as milk powder and milk fat. The amount of these components is regulated by law or defined in guidelines. While flavor and taste are mainly defined by cocoa solids and sugar, the physical properties and flavor release are determined by cocoa butter. Cocoa butter, as well as other edible fats and oils, is mainly composed of triacylglycerides (TAGs). Other components are mono- and diglycerides, free fatty acids (FFAs) and minor components such as phospholipids, phytosterols, tocopherols and hydrocarbons (Gunstone 2013). Fats and oils contain between 95 %(w/w) to 99 %(w/w) TAG depending on refining and amount of unsaponifiable material (Gunstone 2013). TAG are fatty acid (FA) esters of the trihydric alcohol glycerol and are shown in fig. 2.1 (Gunstone 2013).



Figure 2.1: TAG are composed of glycerol and FAs with residual carbon chains R of different length and number of double bonds

Due to the chiral character of the carbon atom in position sn-2, three conformations for TAG are possible, shown in fig. 2.2 (Hall et al. 2008). While the trident structure is mainly found at oil/water interfaces, the tuning fork and chair conformation depend on the saturation and sn-position of FA-chains (Bayés-García et al. 2015).

FA in edible fats and oils are unbranched and include 4 to 26 carbon atoms. The degree of saturation of the FA determines the physical state at room temperature. Fats which contain a high amount of saturated FA are mainly solid, whereas oils, which



Figure 2.2: Different conformations of TAG with marked glycerol moiety

contain high amounts of unsaturated FA are liquid at room temperature. The amount of saturated and unsaturated FA in vegetable oils is mainly influenced by climate, especially temperature. Plants in cold growing areas include more unsaturated FA to ensure that the oil is liquid and transportable inside the plant. Since humans and animals are able to produce body heat and meet their requirements of unsaturated fats by food supply, their unsaturated FA biosynthesis is limited. (Krist 2013a)

Fig. 2.3 shows the main FAs, namely palmitic, oleic and stearic acid, which are present in almost every natural (vegetable and animal) oil or fat. It can be seen that the double bond in oleic acid causes a kink which affects TAG interaction.



Figure 2.3: The main fatty acids in natural (vegetable and animal) oil or fat

## 2.1.1 Cocoa butter

In tab. 2.1 the main FAs in cocoa butter grown in different regions are listed.

The position of FA in TAG is not randomized in edible oils and fats. While saturated FA are at the end positions sn-1 or sn-3 of the glycerol, the sn-2 position is usually occupied by an unsaturated FA (Gunstone 2013). Therefore the main TAG in cocoa butter

fatty acid			Ecuador	Brazil	Ghana	Ivory Coast	Malaysia	Java	
palmitic	Р	16:0	25.6	25.1	25.3	25.8	24.9	24.1	
stearic	$\mathbf{S}$	18:0	36.0	33.3	37.6	36.9	37.4	37.3	
oleic	Ο	18:1	34.6	36.5	32.7	32.9	33.5	34.3	
linoleic	$\mathbf{L}$	18:2	2.6	3.5	2.8	2.8	2.6	2.7	
$\alpha$ -linolenic	$\operatorname{Li}$	18:3	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	
arachidic	А	20:0	1.0	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2	
sum			99.9	99.8	99.8	99.8	99.8	99.8	

Table 2.1: Fatty acid composition of cocoa butter from different origins in g/100g (Klagge and Sen Gupta 1990) with abbreviation and carbon number

are 1,3-dipalmitoyl-2-oleoylglycerol (POP), 1,3-palmitoyl-stearoyl-2-oleoylglycerol (POS) and 1,3-distearoyl-2-oleoylglycerol (SOS) as can be seen in tab. 2.2.

Table 2.2: Main TAG and diglycerides (DG) and sum of C-atoms in the FA chains within the TAG of cocoa butter from different origins in g/100g

TAG		Southeast Asia <sup>1</sup>	West Africa <sup>1</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Central} \\ \text{America} \ ^1 \end{array}$	Bahia <sup>1</sup>	Ivory Coast $^2$
	DG	1.3	0.8	1.4	1.2	
C50	POP	15.0	16.1	17.5	14.7	14.8
	PLP	1.7	1.8	1.7	1.9	
C52	POS	37.4	36.2	37.8	34.2	45.4
	POO	1.9	3.2	2.6	6.2	
	PLS	3.0	3.4	3.1	3.5	
C54	SOS	31.2	27.6	27.3	23.6	28.8
	SOO	3.1	4.9	3.6	8.5	
	SLS	2.2	2.2	2.0	2.0	
	000	0.3	0.8	0.5	1.3	
C56	SOA	1.6	1.4	1.3	0.8	
sum		98.7	98.4	98.8	97.9	89.1

<sup>1</sup> Ziegleder, Geier-Greguska, et al. 1994

<sup>2</sup> Dimick and Manning 1987

## 2.1.2 Milk fat

Beside cocoa butter, milk or butterfat is the only fat in chocolate, which is allowed to be used in amounts higher than 5%(w/w) in the European Union (European Parliament and Council 2000). Milk fat contains a lot of short-chained FA, as shown in tab. 2.3 for

anhydrous milk fat (AMF), which is made from fresh cream or butter. The minimum fat content of AMF is 99.8% (Early 2012). The main FA are palmitic, oleic, myristic and stearic acid. FA composition is influenced by season and feeding (Lock and Garnsworthy 2003).

_		$\mathrm{AMF}^1$	$\mathrm{AMF}^2$	${\rm summer} \\ {\rm AMF}^3$	${ m winter}$ ${ m AMF}^3$	${\rm summer} \\ {\rm AMF}^4$	${\rm winter} \\ {\rm AMF}^4$
butyric	4:0	4.1		4.9	3.8	5.1	2.7
caproic	6:0	2.4	1.6	2.2	2.3	2.8	0.7
caprylic	8:0	1.3	1.2	1.4	1.5	1.6	0.4
capric	10:0	2.7	2.6	2.5	3.0	3.2	1.4
lauric	12:0	3.2	3.3	3.2	3.7	3.4	2.4
myristic	14:0	10.5	11.5	17.9	11.4	11.2	10.4
$\operatorname{myristoleic}$	14:1			1.6	1.2	0.3	0.4
palmitic	16:0	27.6	31.2	30.5	31.4	29.4	34.7
palmitoleic	16:1			3.2	1.8	1.4	1.5
stearic	18:0	10.6	11.4	11.1	14.1	12.6	16.4
oleic	18:1	25.5	19.9	21.6	25.7	25.3	24.7
linoleic	18:2	2.0	1.1			3.2	3.5
$\alpha$ -linolenic	18:3	0.9	1.0			0.6	0.7
sum		90.8	84.8	100.1	99.9	100.1	89.9

Table 2.3: Fatty acid composition of anhydrous milk fat (AMF) in g/100g

<sup>1</sup> Breitschuh and Windhab 1998

 $^2$  Sabariah et al. 1998

 $^3$  Tietz and Hartel 2000

 $^4$  Williams et al. 1997

Due to the high number of different FA in milk fat, more than thousand different TAGs can be found there. Therefore, the TAGs in tab. 2.4 are only classified by their number of carbon atoms.

However, milk fat is not only used in chocolate itself but also in chocolate fillings. Additionally, high or low melting milk fat fractions are of interest for chocolates or confectionery (Büning-Pfaue and Bartsch 1989; Ziegleder 1993a; Ziegleder 1993b).

## 2.1.3 Nut and drupe oils

Other fats and oils found in chocolate fillings originate from nuts and drupes, such as hazelnut, almond, pistachio, peanut and macadamia. Their FA composition is shown in tab. 2.5.

The FA and thus the resulting TAG composition varies. This is mainly caused by the origin and whether the oil samples are obtained from raw or roasted material (Crews et al. 2005). Additionally the oil extraction method may have an influence (Bernardo-

carbon number sum of FA	winter AMF <sup>1</sup>	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm high} \\ {\rm melting} \\ {\rm fraction}^1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{low} \\ \text{melting} \\ \text{fraction}^1 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{summer} \\ \text{AMF}^2 \end{array}$	winter $AMF^2$	summer AMF <sup>3</sup>	winter AMF <sup>3</sup>
C32	2.5	1.4	2.9	2.2	2.2	3.1	2.1
C34	4.5	3.2	6.2	5.0	4.6	6.5	5.6
C36	9.4	5.9	11.1	9.9	9.2	11.7	10.8
C38	13.3	9.5	14.5	12.7	12.3	13.8	13.4
C40	11.0	6.6	12.7	9.8	7.9	10.6	10.7
C42	7.0	5.6	6.8	6.4	6.2	6.6	6.6
C44	6.2	6.8	5.3	5.7	5.7	5.8	6.2
C46	6.8	10.1	5.4	6.4	6.5	6.4	6.7
C48	8.6	14.0	6.5	8.4	8.7	7.8	8.7
C50	11.5	18.3	8.7	11.8	12.4	9.7	11.1
C52	11.5	12.1	10.8	11.8	12.5	8.6	10.7
C54	5.4	5.8	6.7	5.5	5.8	4.9	5.6
sum	97.7	99.3	97.6	95.6	94.0	95.5	98.2

Table 2.4: Main TAG according to the number of carbon atoms in the FA chains of anhydrous milk fat (AMF) in g/100g

 $^{\rm 1}$  Herrera et al. 1999

 $^2$  Tietz and Hartel 2000

 $^3$  Williams et al. 1997

Table 2.5: Fatty acid composition of different nut and drupe oils in g/100g (rounded mean values from Krist and Biladt 2013)

	palmitic	stearic	oleic	linoleic	$\alpha$ -linolenic	sum		
	(P) 16:0	(S) 18:0	(O) 18:1	(L) 18:2	(Ln) 18:3			
hazelnut	6	2	83	9	traces	100		
almond	5	2	70	20	0	97		
olive	13	2	67	12	traces	94		
pistachio	9	2	65	20	traces	96		
canola	4	0	60	22	9	95		
macadamia	9	3	60	2	0	74		
peanut	10	3	50	35	traces	98		
sunflower	7	5	27	61	traces	100		
linseed	5	4	20	18	53	100		
safflower	4	2	19	71	1	97		
walnut	5	2	17	62	10	96		
hampseed	6	2	11	60	21	100		

Gil et al. 2002). Macadamia oil is the only oil which also includes high amounts of palmitoleic acid of about 20 % (w/w). The FA composition of all oils and fats depends on the origin. This is especially reported for hazelnut, olive and walnut oil. Furthermore different varieties exist. In the case of sunflower oil, there are several varieties with an increased amount of one or two fatty acids, such as high-linoleic or high-oleic sunflower oil (Krist 2013b). Due to the high amount of oleic and linoleic acid found in all nut and drupe oils, the main TAG are OOO, LOO, LLO and LLL, as can be seen in tab. 2.6. The TAG composition of hazelnut oil depends on genotype, origin, climate, maturity and malibration. Thus, hazelnuts of increasing diameter show a significant increase in OOO content while LLL, LLO and LOO contents decrease (Rieblinger and Ziegleder 1995).

		hazelnut	almond	peanut	linseed	olive	sunflower
C48	PPL	traces		2	14	1	1
C50	PPO	traces	traces	1		4	traces
C52	POO	10	9	6	4	22	2
	$\operatorname{PLL}$	traces	3	7	11	1	9
	POL	2	9	13	14	8	6
C54	SOO	4	3	3		4	1
	000	67	31	10	2	30	3
	OOL	14	25	20	4	10	12
	OLL	2	16	20	7	1	26
	LLL	1	3	4	4	traces	21
sum		100	99	85	60	77	81

Table 2.6: Main TAG and sum of carbon atoms in the FA chains within the TAG of different nut and drupe oils in g/100g (Krist and Biladt 2013)

P: palmitic; S: stearic; O:oleic; L:linoleic acid

## 2.2 Crystallization of vegetable fats and oils

Crystallization is the transfer of a material from an amorphous, liquid or gaseous into a crystalline state. Crystals are solids whose constituents, such as atoms or molecules form a highly ordered structure which extends in all directions. The smallest unit is called elementary cell, whose periodic, three dimensional continuation results in the crystal lattice. Crystallizing from a melt includes nucleation and crystal growth. Depending on the growth rate, crystal growth can be divided in main crystallization followed by post crystallization. The three phases of crystallization are shown in fig. 2.4.



Figure 2.4: Three phases of crystallization

In the first phase, the nucleation, stable and viable nuclei have to be formed. Therefore, the Gibbs free energy, which indicates whether a reaction is spontaneous ( $\Delta G < 0$ ) or not ( $\Delta G > 0$ ) has to be taken into account. The Gibbs free energy  $\Delta G$  depends on the changes of entropy  $\Delta S$  and of enthalpy  $\Delta H$  together with temperature T, as shown in eq. 2.2.1.

$$\Delta G = \Delta H - T \cdot \Delta S \tag{2.2.1}$$

According to Ziegleder 1995, the Gibbs free energy of crystallization can also be described as the sum of the energy which is released during crystallization of the supercooled volume and the energy needed to build up the surface of crystals, as can be seen in eq. 2.2.3.

$$\Delta G = A \cdot \Delta G_A - V \cdot \Delta G_V \qquad (2.2.2)$$

$$\Delta G = 4\pi r^2 \cdot \qquad \sigma - \frac{4}{3}\pi r^3 \cdot \qquad \Delta H \frac{T_m - T}{T_m \cdot V_m} \tag{2.2.3}$$

 $\Delta G$  is the Gibbs free energy,  $\Delta G_V$  is the volume related energy and  $\Delta G_A$  the sur-

face/area related energy, with r being the crystal nuclei radius. T is the temperature and index m indicates melting with  $\Delta H$  being the melting enthalpy and  $\sigma$  is the surface tension. The supercooling, which induces crystallization is expressed by the term  $\Delta T = T_m - T$ .



Figure 2.5: Gibbs free energy  $\Delta G$  (a) in dependency of nuclei radius with critical radius r\* at maximum  $\Delta G$  with  $\Delta G_V$  as volume related energy and  $\Delta G_S$  as surface related energy and (b) for different temperatures  $T_1 < T_2 < T_3$  below melting temperature  $T_m$  and according critical nuclei radius  $r_1 < r_2 < r_3$ 

Fig. 2.5a illustrates the relation of the parameters. The parameters  $\Delta G^*$  and  $r^*$  are the critical Gibbs free energy and critical crystal nuclei radius, above which the nuclei are stable and start to grow (Gibbs 1874-78). The temperature dependency of nucleation is shown in fig. 2.5b. It has to be noted that too high supercooling (too low temperatures) lead to a reduced mass transport and decreased diffusivity (Toro-Vazquez et al. 2000). However, the supercooling used to induce crystallization in fat systems is generally low, only a few degrees (Walstra et al. 2001).

Thermal crystallization at different supercooling temperatures leads to different critical radii. Lower supercooling temperatures, e.g.  $\Delta T = T_m - T_3$  result in less and bigger nuclei than high supercooling temperatures such as  $\Delta T = T_m - T_1$ . Intensified supercooling also leads to higher nucleation rates (Himawan et al. 2006).

Athermal crystallization, during which temperature is continuously reduced causes a change of nuclei stability. Nuclei with same radius  $r_2$  are instable at temperatures higher than  $T_2$  but become stable when temperature is reduced below  $T_2$ .

During nucleation crystal nuclei are formed in a homogeneous or heterogeneous way (Dimick 1999). Homogeneous nucleation occurs in melts without surfaces (i.e. particle surfaces) that serve as activators for nuclei formation (Avrami 1939). This kind of nucleation is also called primary nucleation. If surfaces are present, the nucleation is called heterogeneous (Dimick 1999). Heterogeneous nucleation needs less change of free enthalpy than homogeneous nucleation and therefore less supercooling. The reason is supposed to be a local arrangement caused by interaction at the surface (Dimick 1999;

Himawan et al. 2006; Garside 1987). A special kind of heterogeneous nucleation is secondary nucleation. Primary crystals are broken up, e.g. by shear forces, into secondary crystals which can act as new nuclei or are intentionally added in the course of the process.

After the critical cluster size  $r^*$  has been exceeded, crystal growth starts (Himawan et al. 2006). The crystal growth rate depends on the number of nuclei, their surface and structure as well as the temperature (Cebula and K. W. Smith 1991; Himawan et al. 2006). Crystal growth is mainly depending on the crystallizing substances. During post-crystallization the crystal surfaces are restructured and the crystallization degree increases further (Dimick 1999). Crystal growth and post-crystallization highly depend on the crystallizing material and will be further described for TAG in the next chapter.

## 2.2.1 Crystallization of TAG

TAG, which are the main component of edible fats and oils, often show polymorphic behavior, which means that more than one crystal form exists for a chemical identical melt. A distinction is drawn between enantiotropic and monotropic polymorphism. Enantioropic polymorphism shows thermodynamically stable polymorphic forms in a particular temperature and pressure range which are reversible and convertible into each other. In monotropic polymorphism, the transition proceeds in only one direction and the polymorphic forms exhibit different thermodynamic stability. Polymorphism is a matter of special importance for TAG, especially those with high amounts of symmetric, monounsaturated FAs (Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2009b; Talbot 2009b; Hubbes, Danzl, et al. 2018).

An overview of fat crystallization is given by Himawan et al. 2006; Sato 2001; Sato et al. 1999. However, a lot of research is done on pure TAG systems, while real fats and oils are mixtures of different TAG. These TAG include saturated and unsaturated fatty acids, where the unsaturated fatty acid is in the middle position of the glycerol backbone. Therefore they are called TAG of the 'sat-O-sat' type (sat: saturated; O: oleic acid - unsaturated fatty acid). Due to the kink of the unsaturated oleic acid at the sn-2 position, specific structures have to be formed. Compared to saturated TAG structures, an intermediate  $\gamma$  phase can be found and a triple chain-length structure is formed. This structure is representative for most TAG of the sat-O-sat type, except POP, which shows a double chain-length structure in  $\beta'$  crystal polymorph, as can be seen in fig. 2.6 (Yano et al. 1993).

The crystal structure and phase behavior of binary and ternary mixtures of POP, POS and SOS have been investigated by several authors (K. W. Smith, Bhaggan, and Talbot 2013; Tran et al. 2015; Miura et al. 2004; Rousset et al. 1998). Especially these ternary mixtures are used to describe the phase behavior of natural fats (K. W. Smith, Bhaggan, and Talbot 2013; Hubbes, Danzl, et al. 2018).

Cocoa butter, which includes 0.75 g/g to 0.85 g/g POP, POS and SOS, shows monotropic polymorphism with up to six forms: the unstable  $\gamma$  and  $\alpha$  forms, which melt below 20 °C; the metastable  $\beta'$  forms, which are either interpreted as a range of  $\beta'$  forms or as two forms  $\beta'_{\rm III}$  and  $\beta'_{\rm IV}$ , and the most stable forms  $\beta_{\rm V}$  and  $\beta_{\rm VI}$ , which are of interest for



Figure 2.6: Structure model of the polymorphic forms of POP and SOS (modified after Yano et al. (1993))

the manufacturing industry (van Malssen, Langevelde, et al. 1999; Wille and Lutton 1966; Timms 1984). The nomenclature and melting temperatures are listed in tab. 2.7.

1, 2	Nomenclatu <sup>3</sup>	ure 4	Meltin $T_{melt}$ <sup>1</sup>	g tempe $T_{melt}^2$	rature $T_m$	$\begin{bmatrix} ^{\circ}C \end{bmatrix}$	chain length <sup>5</sup>
Ι	sub- $\alpha/~\gamma$	$\gamma$	$17,\!3$	$13,\!0$	-8,0	$^{5,0}$	double
Π	$\alpha$	$\alpha$	$23,\!3$	20,0	$17,\!0$	$22,\!5$	double
III	$\beta$ '	$\beta'_{\mathrm{III}}$	$25,\!5$	$23,\!0$	$19,\! 6$	29,0	double
IV	$\beta$ '	$\beta'_{\rm IV}$	$27,\!5$	25,0			double
V	$\beta$	$\beta_{ m V}$	$33,\!8$	$_{30,0}$	28,0	33,7	triple
VI	$\beta$	$\beta_{\rm VI}$	36,3	$^{33,5}$			triple

Table 2.7: Polymorphic forms of cocoa butter according to different authors and their nomenclatures

 $^{1}$  Wille and Lutton 1966

<sup>2</sup> Lovegren, Gray, et al. 1976

 $^3$  Vaeck 1960

 $^4$ van Malssen, Langevelde, et al. 1999

 $^5$  Talbot 2009b

As a matter of practical applications, not only pure TAG but also other fats and oils are mixed and analyzed regarding their crystallization and phase behavior. The phase behavior of the mixtures depends on the type of fat or oil which is added. Fats with symmetrical TAGs, such as POP, POS and SOS are compatible (Gordon et al. 1979). Cocoa butter seed crystals contain higher levels of SOS in comparison to cocoa butter (Dimick and Manning 1987; Schlichter-Aronhime, Sarig, et al. 1988; van Malssen, Peschar, et al. 1996). Some authors reported an increased level of tristearin (SSS) in cocoa butter seed crystals. Bloom on dark chocolate showed relatively higher levels of POP (Ziegleder, Geier-Greguska, et al. 1994).

In general, cocoa butter crystals may incorporate 0.05 g/g to 0.1 g/g of liquid TAG into the crystal lattice (Rothkopf and Danzl 2015). However, common additions to cocoa butter are milk fat and hazelnut oil as model samples to gain knowledge about milk chocolate and filled products. Lovegren, Gray, et al. 1976; K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007 found that hazelnut and olive oil addition to cocoa butter accelerated polymorphic transition and in the case of olive oil fewer polymorphic forms were observed (Lovegren, Gray, et al. 1976).

Vegetable oils mainly include oleic and linoleic acid and therefore consist of few TAG, namely triolein (OOO), trilinolein (LLL), 1-linoleoyl-2,3-dioleoylglycerol (LOO) and 1,2-dilinoleoyl-3-oleoylglycerol (LLO). Especially OOO is known to be incorporated into the cocoa butter lattice easily up to amounts of 0.12 g/g (Ziegleder, Geier-Greguska, et al. 1994). Milk fat includes up to 400 fatty acids, which leads to a theoretical number of 400<sup>3</sup> possible TAG (Breitschuh and Windhab 1998). This great variety leads to a broad melting temperature range and complex physicochemical properties (Metin and Hartel 1996). The usage of milk fat and milk fat fractions in chocolate and its effect on crys-

tallization has been investigated for decades: Hogenbirk 1990; Metin and Hartel 1996; Metin and Hartel 1998; Pajin et al. 2012; Petersson 1986; Schmelzer and Hartel 2001; Sonwai and Rousseau 2010; Tietz and Hartel 2000; Timms 1984.

Minor components, such as fatty acids, mono- and diglycerides as well as emulsifiers have an influence on crystallization. The main emulsifier used in chocolate is lecithin, which reduces the viscosity of the chocolate to facilitate chocolate manufacturing (Minifie 1989). Lecithin is a natural product and includes a mixture of phospholipids, TAG, FFA and carbohydrates. Its impact on crystallization depends on the type of lecithin, the amount used and the combination with other ingredients (Kindlein et al. 2015; Ribeiro et al. 2015). The size of the spherulites was reduced in static crystallized pure cocoa butter when lecithin was added (Bowser 2006). The impact of lecithin on pure cocoa butter crystallization may be caused by solids in the lecithin which act as crystal nuclei. During crystal growth, the so-called button-syndrome can occur (Schlichter-Aronhime and Garti 1988). The button-syndrome describes the incorporation of emulsifiers in the crystal lattice. The incorporated emulsifier reduces the rate and amount of polymorphic transition into the stable  $\beta$ -form due to its particular chemical and structural fit (Schlichter-Aronhime and Garti 1988).

In mixtures of cocoa butter with sugar and lecithin the crystallization is accelerated (Svanberg et al. 2011b). The interaction of sugar particle surfaces and the TAG is probably increased by the emulsifier. Under shearing conditions a crystallization delay was observed by Dhonsi and Stapley 2006, which was explained by a reduced effective shear input caused by the emulsifier.

As was already mentioned, lecithin is used in chocolate , where also cocoa and sugar particles are present. They cause heterogeneous nucleation, so that the impact of lecithin on nucleation might be neglected (Dimick 1999). To verify this, Bowser 2006 investigated the impact of cocoa and sugar particles on cocoa butter crystallization with and without lecithin addition. It was found that in isothermal nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) measurements cocoa particles shortened the induction time, while sugar particles showed no effect without lecithin addition. In samples with lecithin, a slight shortening effect of sugar particles on induction time was found. The results were confirmed by Svanberg et al. 2011b for seeded cocoa butter. Svanberg et al. 2011b found that 5 mg/g lecithin had an significant impact on crystal growth in seeded cocoa-butter-sugar-suspensions, since the amount of stable crystals was increased as measured by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) melting curves. Further studies with emulsifiers including acyl groups similar to those of fat showed an overall faster crystallization (Ribeiro et al. 2015). An increased crystal growth rate allows more time for instable polymorphs to transform to more stable ones (Bowser 2006; Svanberg et al. 2011b).

Cocoa-butter-cocoa-powder-suspensions showed a higher crystal growth rate than cocoabutter-sugar-suspensions. The morphology of the crystals was influenced by cocoa powder addition, which was probably caused by the residual fat content of 0.10 g/g to 0.12 g/g, according to Svanberg et al. 2011b.

The cocoa particles themselves can act as nuclei and might accelerate nucleation. Heterogeneous nucleation on surfaces is affected by the interface energy of the fluid-crystal interface, fluid surface and crystal surface (Garside 1987). Thus the lipophilic TAG are more likely to be immobilized on the lipophilic cocoa particle surface than on the lipophob sugar surface (Svanberg et al. 2011b).

#### 2.2.2 Polycrystalline structure and microstructure

The polycrystalline structure is responsible for the microstructure and resulting mechanical properties of pure fats (Hubbes, Braun, et al. 2020a). The influencing factors for the microstructure are crystal amount, size, morphology and polymorphism. Since these factors depend on crystallization time and temperature, the processing conditions have an impact on the microstructure of crystallized fat.

The interaction of crystallization behavior, microstructure and mechanical properties was studied by Brunello et al. 2003. They found that, besides solid fat content (SFC), polymorphism strongly influences the microstructure. Statically crystallized cocoa butter showed granular morphologies, large spheres, clusters of small spheres or a continuous microstructure depending on crystallization temperature and time.

The polymorphism of cocoa butter strongly depends on pre-crystallization, also named tempering. In case of cocoa butter replacer (CBR), cooling rate influenced mechanical properties, such as storage modulus and hardness in stearic rich fats. In palmitic rich fats brittleness was affected to a higher extent than hardness and storage modulus (Gregersen et al. 2015; Hubbes, Braun, et al. 2020b). In AMF and lard crystallization, the fat crystal network also depends on the cooling rate (Campos et al. 2002). The impact of polymorphism becomes visible when density is regarded. A higher density could be observed with increased stable polymorphic forms for POP, POS and SOS. The increase in density leads to contraction during crystallization which facilitates demolding. Also cracks and crevices might be formed (Arishima, Sagi, et al. 1995). The microstructure of fats with suspended particles will be described in chap. 2.3.1.

#### 2.2.3 Measuring rate and degree of cocoa butter crystallization

Besides TAG composition, there are other factors influencing crystallization and polymorphism, such as temperature, including cooling and heating rate, pressure, solubility and impurities (Sato 2001). These factors can be varied within different measuring apparatuses and conditions.

There are two types of crystallization in fats and oils: solid-solid transition, which describes the polymorphic transition, and the solidification from liquid to solid. For the latter the sample has to be initially in a molten state. The crystallization is induced by supercooling. Therefore the sample can be cooled rapidly to a temperature and held there isothermally for some time. Another possibility is the use of a constant cooling rate. Typical apparatuses for measuring crystallization in fats and oils are DSC, NMR or X-ray diffraction (XRD). XRD measurements are used to gain information about the crystal lattice. DSC detects changes in the samples which are accompanied by phase transitions and NMR can be used to investigate the electronic structure of single atoms and their interaction with atoms surrounding them. DSC can be used for measuring under isothermal conditions or using a constant cooling rate (Foubert, Vanrolleghem, and Dewettinck 2003; Ziegleder 1988; Ziegleder 1985; Fessas et al. 2005). However, for DSC measurements, the sample state has to be changed. Therefore it is a destructive measuring technique. In contrast NMR is a nondestructive measuring technique. For example measuring the SFC is a well-established method described in DIN EN ISO 2010a; DIN EN ISO 2010b, which are based on Petersson et al. 1985; Petersson 1986. However, NMR can also be used to measure crystallization kinetics by measuring the same sample frequently during cooling (Padar, Jeelani, et al. 2008; Bootello et al. 2013; Bowser 2006). Due to the big sample volume used for NMR measurements the heat of crystallization causes warming of the sample. Therefore crystallization kinetics measurements using NMR should rather be named quasi-isothermal. The release of crystallization heat is used for Shukoff measurements and the Bühler MultiTherm<sup>™</sup> TC, which is based on the Shukoff principle (Shukoff 1899; Shukoff and Schtschawinsky 1903). The completely molten sample is placed in a glass flask (Shukoff) or an aluminum cup (MulitTherm<sup>TM</sup>) which is then placed in a water bath. The temperature of the sample is recorded over time and the resulting cooling curve can be evaluated. Other methods used to measure fat crystallization are turbidimetry or polarized light microscopy. However, these methods can solely be used for detecting the crystallization start due to saturation after a short time (Marangoni 1998; Bowser 2006). Viscosity and ultra sonic shear reflection measurements are also possible (Rigolle et al. 2015; Foubert, Dewettinck, and Vanrolleghem 2003). For all methods which are suitable to describe the crystallization change over time a typical sigmoidal curve progress, as shown in fig. 2.4, can be obtained.

## 2.3 Chocolate as a dispersion

A dispersion consists of two or more in-miscible substances. One or more substances are dispersed in a continuous phase. Dispersions can be divided in groups according to the state of matter of the individual phases (Lagaly et al. 1997). For instance, solids dispersed in liquids are called dispersions, while solids in air are called aerosols. Dispersions can be further divided according to the particle size of the dispersed phase. Liquids with dispersed solids with a size of less then 1 nm are called solutions, with particles from 1 nm to 1 µm, they are called sol and in the case of bigger particles with diameter of more than 1 µm, they are called suspensions (Bahadir et al. 2000).

In the case of molten chocolate, solid sugar, cocoa and optionally milk particles are dispersed in a continuous liquid fat phase. The size of particles present in chocolate is  $4\,\mu\text{m}$  to  $30\,\mu\text{m}$ , which is bigger than  $1\,\mu\text{m}$  thus, chocolate is a suspension. The technically useful particle size is limited by a sandy mouth feel of too big particles. Too small particles have a big surface compared to their volume, where fat can be bound, which increases the needed cocoa butter amount. The particle size is not uniform instead it covers a broad range due to processing and mechanical properties of the particles.

Due to the non-uniform dispersity of particle size in chocolate, small particles are able to fill the interspace between big particles, as is schematically shown in fig. 2.7. In crystallized chocolate the fat is only partly solid, thus the continuous liquid oil phase is decreased while the dispersed phase is increased compared to liquid chocolate.



Figure 2.7: Schematic two dimensional drawing of a trimodal particle size distribution with big (lightgray), medium (gray) and small (black) round particles

However, the filling of particle interspace by smaller particles is also limited due to an enlarged surface. Therefore the particle size in chocolate is limited on the small size because of the adsorption of fat to the particle surface (Beckett 2009a). The particle volume is given by the chocolate recipe, while the surface depends on the particles size. The surface (S) to volume (V) ratio is reciprocally proportional to the radius, which can be seen in fig. 2.8.

These theoretical calculations have to be adjusted since particles in chocolate are ir-



Figure 2.8: Surface S to volume V ratio in dependency of particle radius or edge length r for spheres and cubes

regular nuggets and plates instead of spheres. Spheres show the minimum surface to volume ratio resulting in an higher ratio for all other shapes, such as cubes.

As already mentioned, the continuous phase has to be available as a flux to allow flowing of the chocolate mass (Do et al. 2011). Regarding chocolate, the particles are agglomerated after roll refining and the fat is enclosed in these agglomerates. Additionally the particle surfaces are not fully covered with fat (Ziegleder, Balimann, et al. 2003). During conching the agglomerates are broken down, the particle surfaces are covered with fat and some trapped fat might be pressed out of the cocoa particles due to the mechanical energy input. This could be shown by a drastic decrease in pore volume, as can be seen in fig. 2.9, and increase of fat removable by centrifuging, with increased dry conching time (Ziegleder, Balimann, et al. 2003).

The impact of trapped fat on flow properties of chocolate was intensively studied for milk powder (Attaie et al. 2003; Haylock and Dodds 2009; Liang and Hartel 2004). Do et al. 2011 studied the flow properties of chocolate prepared with cocoa mass, standard defatted cocoa powder and highly defatted cocoa powder. Their results were ambiguous due to different particle size and shape. However, they found that cocoa particles show a porous structure with trapped fat on the pores surface, as can be seen in fig. 2.10.

The specific surface of chocolate with different particle sizes and fat content was calculated from particle size distribution by Afoakwa, Paterson, and M. Fowler 2008 and ranged from  $1 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$  to  $2 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$  depending on particle size and fat content. The specific surface area and surface polarity of icing sugar and cocoa was also determined by Franke et al. 2011, where the specific surface was  $0.27 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$  for cocoa powder and  $0.55 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$  for sugar. For the surface energy the ratio of dispersive to polar was 4.50 for cocoa powder and 3.68 for the sugar (Franke et al. 2011). However, particle size is not explicitly given;



Figure 2.9: Decreasing micro porosity with increasing conching time as shown by Ziegleder, Balimann, et al. 2003



Figure 2.10: confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM) micrographs of cocoa particles. A: cocoa mass; B: cocoa powder with 11 g/100 g fat; C: highly defatted cocoa powder with < 1 g/100 g fat (Do et al. 2011)

the sugar was sieved to be below  $90\,\mu\text{m}$  and no details are given for the cocoa powder concerning particle size and fat content.

#### 2.3.1 Microstructure of solidified chocolate

The microstructure of chocolate was studied with focus on mechanical properties and impact on migration mechanism by several authors (Dahlenborg 2014; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015a; Lee et al. 2010; Maleky et al. 2012; Miquel et al. 2001; Motwani et al. 2011; Svanberg et al. 2013; Svanberg et al. 2011a; Svanberg et al. 2011b). According to Delbaere et al. 2016, four influencing factors in terms of chocolate microstructure are composition, processing conditions, post-processing and storage conditions. The amount of solids in solidified chocolate is higher than in liquid chocolate due to the partly crystallized cocoa butter. The crystallization process of cocoa butter and the impact of particles on chocolate flow properties were described in chap. 2.2.2. Both have an impact on final chocolate structure, which is characterized by cocoa particles, sugar crystals, solidified cocoa butter and, in case of milk chocolate, milk powder in a continuous phase of liquid cocoa butter (Aguilera et al. 2004; Afoakwa 2010). In chocolate two effects overlay: the solids interact with each other and the solids might affect crystallization.

The particle size in chocolate is limited by mouth feel and flow properties. However, chocolates with different particles sizes and particles size distributions are available. Afoakwa investigated a broad range of parameters, influenced by particle size and distribution. Chocolates made with smaller particles, as well as chocolates with lower fat content showed higher hardness, probably caused by particle interaction (Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2009c). Particle interactions can be caused by van der Waals forces and hydrogen bonds in the case of polar particles. Hence particle networks can be formed (Delbaere et al. 2016). In addition, the interaction of particles and fat influences the microstructure.

The main particle component is sugar, mainly sucrose or additional lactose in milk chocolates. Both sugars can be present in amorphous or crystalline state, which has an impact on microstructure (Bricknell and Hartel 1998). The microstructure is mainly influenced by the shape of the sugar particles. While amorphous sugars are round, crystalline ones show sharp edges (Bricknell and Hartel 1998). The different surface properties also have an impact on microstructure (Delbaere et al. 2016). The surface properties of the particles can be changed by lecithin addition, as mentioned in chap. 2.2, which affects crystallization properties. Svanberg et al. 2011b compared the crystallization properties of cocoa butter with sugar or cocoa powder or a mixture of both. They found that cocoa particle addition accelerated nucleation and crystal growth compared to sugar addition. The difference in crystallization properties could be reduced by lecithin addition, which mainly had an impact on cocoa-butter-sugar-suspensions (Svanberg et al. 2011b). With regards to microstructure cocoa powder addition resulted in an inhomogeneous visual appearance of the crystal structure of the cocoa butter with more stable crystals. Samples seeded with cocoa butter crystals showed a very homogeneous visual appearance and dense structure (Svanberg et al. 2011a). Thus the inhomogeneous crystal struc-

ture caused by cocoa powder addition could be reduced by proper pre-crystallization (Svanberg et al. 2011b). However, tempering under shear, which will be described in chap. 2.5.2, leads to different structures than tempering by seeding (Svanberg et al. 2013; Svanberg et al. 2011b). Shear tempering is affected by particles, especially by particle size distribution and amount. This is due to the changed rheological behavior where the realizing of shear is affected and the effective heat capacity, which is different for fat, cocoa and sugar particles (Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2008c; Rothkopf and Danzl 2015). Nevertheless, particle size distribution had no effect on crystallinity of chocolate, independent of tempering regime, which was shown by investigating the melting behavior (Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2009b; Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2008a). Beside melting behavior, the hardness was also measured. In this case samples containing small particles with dimensions less than 18 µm showed a higher hardness for all tempering regimes (Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2008b). Comparison of tempering regimes showed increasing hardness from optimal to over- and under-tempered (bloomed) samples (Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2008b).

As already mentioned, particles influence the flow behavior of the chocolate melt. They cause a yield stress, i.e. a force that must be overcome to make the chocolate flow. Therefore liquid chocolate has to be vibrated to remove air bubbles, which have to less uplift to overcome the yield stress. These air bubbles could result in macro pores after solidification if they are not removed. However, air could also be dissolved in the chocolate and cause micro pores. Using mercury porosimetry, it could be shown that solidified chocolate has a porous structure (Loisel et al. 1997). In well-tempered chocolate with 319 mg/g cocoa butter cavities occupied  $10 \text{ cm}^3/\text{m}^3$  of the volume. A decrease of cocoa butter amount to 295 mg/g increased the pore volume to about  $20 \text{ cm}^3/\text{m}^3$ . While under-tempering (too less pre-crystallization) had no effect, over-tempered samples (too much pre-crystallization) showed an increased pore volume of about  $40 \text{ cm}^3/\text{m}^3$ . Reinke, Wilde, et al. 2015 confirmed the presence of cracks and crevices especially near air bubbles and particles using synchrotron X-ray microtomography. They stated that the cracks are formed due to local stress during cooling caused by different contraction of cocoa butter and particles (Reinke, Wilde, et al. 2015).

Beside pores, the crystallinity influences migration and vice versa. While the impact of the solid fat content was already studied (Jin and Hartel 2015), the influence of polymorphism is unknown. However, K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007 showed that migrating hazelnut oil changes the polymorphism by accelerating the  $\beta_{\rm V}$  to  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  transition.

The microstructure is especially important when it comes to migration from a softer filling into the chocolate. Studies on oil migration and the impact factors were done to investigate fat bloom formation. This will be further described in chap. 2.6. Observing the migration of oil in chocolate with regard to microstructure is challenging, due to the dark color. Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) is a measuring method, where the migration of filling fat into chocolate can be observed over a certain time period, which also allows to determine the spatial distribution at a resolution of 200  $\mu$ m/pixel (Miquel et al. 2001).
The impact of particle size of the sugar and cocoa particles on oil migration in chocolate is contradictory. On the one hand, bigger particles lead to a more porous structure, which accelerates migration (Choi, K. L. McCarthy, M. J. McCarthy, and Kim 2007). On the other hand, Altimiras et al. 2007; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015a found that samples with small particles show faster migration. This might be caused by the increased surface of non-fat solids. The increased surface is accompanied by a more heterogeneous network of non-fat particles and crystallized fat, which leads to higher permeability (Altimiras et al. 2007; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015a). In both cases the impact of particles can be explained by a changed fat crystal structure, which is more heterogeneous and has more pores. The pores are big enough to cause capillary flow (Aguilera et al. 2004; Rousseau and P. Smith 2008; Reinke, Roth, et al. 2015). The start of pore formation was also found on the chocolate surface during storage, where they might be important for fat bloom formation (Rousseau and P. Smith 2008; Sonwai and Rousseau 2006).

The addition of particles might change the migration mechanism of oil in chocolate. TAG might migrate through particle interspace (Ghosh et al. 2002; Ziegler, Shetty, et al. 2004; Ziegler and Szlachetka 2005). The way of the migrating oil is enlarged by a higher tortuosity caused by the particles compared to samples without particles (Galdámez et al. 2009; Ghosh et al. 2002; Motwani et al. 2011). Lee et al. 2010; Svanberg et al. 2011a found that the addition of cocoa particles and sugar leads to a reduced migration in tempered cocoa butter. However, Reinke, Roth, et al. 2015; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015b; Motwani et al. 2011 observed an increased migration in samples with particle addition. The migration rate in samples of cocoa butter with sugar was lower than in mixtures of cocoa butter with cocoa particles (Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015b). The impact of particle surface and properties, such as hydrophobicity or specific surface is still unclear. The addition of emulsifiers on migration results is also controversial. Emulsifiers affect crystallization and microstructure, therefore they might also have an impact on migration (Delbaere et al. 2016). Timms 2002 found that lecithin addition increased fat migration, while Bueschelberger 2004 found that the use of deoiled lecithin instead of liquid lecithin showed contrary effects. Thus, all factors influencing microstructure, such as crystallization, particles and surface active agents, also affect migration in chocolate products.

# 2.4 Migration of filling lipids into chocolate

Migration here describes the movement of a substance from one place to another across a single boundary. This chapter will focus on mass transport of chemical species. Mass transport is a common phenomenon in food, especially during storage. In most cases moisture migration is the cause for quality loss. This might also be the case for chocolates filled with fillings with water as the continuous phase, such as alcoholic/liqueur fillings, fondant, ganaches and butter cream fillings. In this work the focus was on fillings with fat as the continuous phase, such as nougat or marzipane. In chocolates with fat based fillings, fat migration is the main cause for fat bloom formation and texture

### changes (Delbaere et al. 2016).

The driving force for migration is the concentration gradient and the transport mechanism is usually related to chocolate properties. However, besides fat composition and SFC, the binding of the liquid oil in the filling might affect migration. Due to the complex microstructure of chocolate, which is further described in chap. 2.3, the migration mechanism is still not fully understood. The first hypotheses by Ziegleder, Moser, et al. 1996a was that diffusion is the transport mechanism for fat migration in chocolate (Ziegleder, Moser, et al. 1996b; Galdámez et al. 2009; Ghosh et al. 2002; Lee et al. 2010; Maleky et al. 2012; K. L. McCarthy and M. J. McCarthy 2008; Motwani et al. 2011). Another hypothesis discussed by Aguilera et al. 2004 mentions capillary flow as transport mechanism. This hypothesis is also described by others (Choi, K. L. McCarthy, and M. J. McCarthy 2005; Guiheneuf et al. 1997). The theory of capillary flow is complemented by the theory of driven convective flow (Altimiras et al. 2007; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015a; Loisel et al. 1997). In the last decade a combination of both mechanisms has also been mentioned (Deka et al. 2006; Reinke, Hauf, et al. 2015; Rousseau and P. Smith 2008). Diffusion or capillary flow as transport mechanism of oil from the filling through the fat phase of chocolate will be further described in the following sections chap.2.4.1 and 2.4.2.

# 2.4.1 Diffusion through the fat phase

The diffusion theory describes the migration of molecules from a place with a higher concentration to one with a lower one caused by Brownian motion in accordance to the first Fickian law. The driving force in accordance to the Fickian laws is a gradient (Aguilera et al. 2004). To describe the mobility of the molecules, the diffusion coefficient D is used, which is, according to the first Fickian law, the proportionality factor between the diffusion rate and the concentration gradient (Aguilera et al. 2004). In the case of filled chocolate, the more mobile oils from the filling migrate into the solidified chocolate shell to equilibrate the oil concentration difference (Ghosh et al. 2002; K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007; Khan and Rousseau 2006; Marty, Baker, et al. 2005). Migration of fat from the chocolate into the filling is also possible, but to a lesser extent (Birkett 2009: Talbot 1990; Timms 2003). Both results in a hardening of the filling and a softening of the chocolate (Ziegleder 2005a). The thermodynamic transport mechanism of diffusion in chocolate is the difference in fat content and composition. Every TAG is migrating due to its specific concentration difference between the two phases chocolate and filling. So, at least, the TAG fingerprint of chocolate fat and filling oils are constantly changing and converge. This was demonstrated by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)measurements during storage (Ziegleder 2002).

To describe migration over time, Ziegleder proposed a simplification of the solution of the second Fickian law, which is given in eq. 2.4.1 (Aguilera et al. 2004; Galdámez et al. 2009; Ghosh et al. 2002; Miquel et al. 2001; Ziegleder, Petz, et al. 2001).

$$\frac{m_t}{m_s} = \frac{A}{V} \cdot \sqrt{D_{eff} \cdot t} \tag{2.4.1}$$

With  $m_t$  being the amount of migrated oil at a certain time t and  $m_s$  the migrated amount at saturation. The contact area between the chocolate and the filling is A, the effective diffusion coefficient is  $D_{eff}$  and V is the chocolate volume. The impact of shell thickness is described by the specific length  $l = \frac{A}{V}$  (Ziegleder, Moser, et al. 1996a).

Chocolate is a heterogeneous systems, consisting of fat, which is partially solid at room temperature and enclosed sugar and cocoa particles. Therefore the effective diffusion coefficient  $D_{eff}$ , given in eq. 2.4.2, is used in this work. It is affected by the molecular diffusivity  $D_0$ , the volume fraction of the liquid fat in the chocolate  $\Phi$ , given in eq. 2.4.3, and the tortuosity  $\tau$  as given in eq. 2.4.4. Tortuosity is used to describe diffusion and fluid flow in porous media, e.g. particle filled media and is defined as the square of the ratio of the actual flow path length  $l_{eff}$  to the straight distance l between the ends of the flow path.

$$D_{eff} = D_0 \cdot \frac{\Phi}{\tau} \tag{2.4.2}$$

$$\Phi = \frac{V_{fat}^{hq}}{V_{choc}} \tag{2.4.3}$$

$$\tau = \left(\frac{l_{eff}}{l}\right)^2 \tag{2.4.4}$$

The diffusion can be decelerated by increasing the tortuosity. This can be done by adding particles, which extends the diffusion path way (Galdámez et al. 2009). However, the composition of chocolate is limited by regulatory framework and production parameters, which allow only small changes regarding tortuosity. Thus, the volume fraction of the liquid phase  $\Phi$  is the main influencing factor for diffusion through the fat phase. The particle size of the cocoa and sugar particles and the degree of tempering have a minor effect with regards on migration (Ziegler 2009).

In the beginning the migrated amount is directly proportional to the square root of time. During further storage migration decelerates and approaches saturation as can be seen in fig. 2.11a. Eq. 2.4.1 is suitable to describe the migration in the beginning. However, using the simplified solution of the Fickian law and a constant diffusivity, it is not possible to describe the spatial distribution of oil in chocolate (Choi, K. L. McCarthy, and M. J. McCarthy 2005). Additionally it is not suitable to describe the saturation due to the root function, which has no horizontal asymptote. The difficulties in describing the whole migration process from the beginning until the end are mainly caused by the complex microstructure of multi-component food systems, which might change during processing and storage (Aguilera et al. 2004; Ghosh et al. 2002; Greiner et al. 2014). Therefore variable effective diffusivity constants  $D_{eff}$  have to be determined empirically in stead of using constant ones (Aguilera et al. 2004). This discrepancy supports the hypothesis that fat migration is based on additional or other mechanisms, such as capillary flow (Aguilera et al. 2004).



Figure 2.11: Migration over time based on diffusion through the fat phase, which ends in a partition equilibrium and capillary diffusion, which ends in an equilibrium of forces

### 2.4.2 Fat migration caused by capillary flow

Capillary flow is another mechanism used to describe filling oil migration in chocolate (Aguilera et al. 2004). The capillary effect describes the rise of a fluid in a capillary column caused by surface tension (Ziegler 2009).

Chocolate consists of solids dispersed in a continuous fat phase (Quevedo et al. 2005). During crystallization of the cocoa butter in chocolate cracks and crevices might form. The fraction of solids is increased by solidified cocoa butter. The remaining liquid cocoa butter is soaked up by capillary forces in the interspace between the solids, including cocoa and sugar particles as well as fat crystals. This leads to the assumption that, with regards to oil migration, all pores in chocolates are filled with liquid oil due to the capillary effect (Aguilera et al. 2004).

The Lucas-Washburn equation, given in eq. 2.4.5 describes the rise of a fluid from an infinite reservoir in a cylindrical capillary column.

$$\frac{2}{r} \cdot \gamma \cdot \cos \Theta = \frac{8}{r^2} \cdot \mu \cdot h \cdot \frac{dh}{dt} + \rho \cdot g \cdot h$$
(2.4.5)

The capillary flow is besides others affected by gravitation and friction. The parameters are radius r, surface energy  $\gamma$ , contact angle between fluid and surface of the capillary  $\Theta$ , viscosity of the fluid  $\mu$ , density of the fluid  $\rho$ , and gravitational acceleration g resulting in height of capillary rise h in dependency of time t (Aguilera et al. 2004; Ziegler 2009). High surface tension, low density of the fluid and a small radius of the capillary column result in a high capillary rise.

The time dependent height of the migrating oil caused by capillary flow is shown in fig. 2.11b. In the beginning the rise of a liquid in a vertical capillary is linearly proportional to the square root of time (Zhmud et al. 2000). After further storage the height

of capillary rise reaches a maximum at which the hydrostatic pressure is in equilibrium with the pressure caused by surface tension (Aguilera et al. 2004). Thus, the two mechanisms can not be distinguished according to their time response.

The definition of chocolate as a dispersion of cocoa and sugar particles as well as solid fat crystals dispersed in a liquid oil phase is well-accepted but precise information about the microstructure of chocolate is unavailable (Loisel et al. 1997). However, the difference in surface tension between liquid and crystallized TAG is small and the shape of the capillary columns in chocolate might not be round. Rough or heterogeneous particle surfaces, as for instance in chocolate, might cause complex contact angle phenomena (Walstra 2009).

# 2.5 Manufacture of chocolate products

### 2.5.1 Cocoa and chocolate processing

The cacao tree (Theobroma cacao, L.) originates from South and Central America. It was introduced in Asia in the sixteenth and seventeenth century and in West Africa in the eighteenth and nineteenth century. These three, West Africa, South East Asia and South America, are still the main cocoa growing areas. The different growing conditions lead to varying fat compositions of the cocoa butter. Additionally there are many varieties of cocoa. The most famous ones are Criollo, Forastero and Trinitario, which started as a hybrid of Forastero and Criollo. They vary in cocoa bean color, size and flavor as well as resistance to pests and diseases. All varieties have in common, that their fruits, the cocoa pods, grow from the trunk and thicker branches. (M. S. Fowler 2009)

Cocoa processing starts with cocoa pod harvesting. It is important that the pods are ripe, otherwise mono- and diglycerides are present due to incomplete TAG synthesis. On the other hand in overripe pods enzyme reactions lead to TAG degradation to monoand diacylglycerols. The pods are broken and the husk is removed, while beans and pulp are fermented together (Afoakwa 2010). During fermentation sugars and mucilage are disintegrated by natural yeasts and bacteria, which multiply in the pulp. The pulp reduces into a fluid state and drains off. Afterwards, the fermented beans are dried to a moisture content of 50 mg/g to 80 mg/g to avoid mildewing during transportation (Minifie 1989). The dried beans are transported to Europe or the US for further processing. The next steps, roasting and grinding, can be performed in two ways. In most cases the nibs are roasted, but whole bean roasting is also possible (Beckett 2000; Minifie 1989). Whole bean roasting can lead to inhomogeneous roasting results due to unequal size of the beans, but facilitate removing of the skin or testa (the shell). Nib roasting requires a breakdown of the still elastic beans, but leads to more homogeneous roasting. The roasted nibs or beans are finely ground to obtain cocoa liquor. A scheme of the manufacturing process is shown in fig. 2.12.

Chocolate consists of cocoa liquor, cocoa butter, sugar and possibly milk powder. In most countries the amount of these main components and the usage of other ingredients is regulated. The three main kinds of chocolate are dark chocolate, milk chocolate and white chocolate. The ingredients are mixed, while some of the cocoa butter is restrained. The premix is reduced to small pieces using a roll refiner. The particle size of chocolate should be less than 30 µm to avoid a sandy mouthfeel. On the other hand, particles should not be too small to reduce the amount of cocoa butter needed. The particle size and the amount of cocoa butter influence flow properties. Flow properties are not only important for the taste but also for manufacturing. After roll refining the now powdery mixture is treated in the conche. Thereby agglomerates are dissolved, aroma diffusion takes place and the remaining ingredients, cocoa butter and lecithin are added. After conching the chocolate contains all ingredients and flavor is fully developed. The ready to use chocolate needs to be tempered to achieve the stable crystal form  $\beta_V$ .



Figure 2.12: Cocoa Processing from pod to chocolate

# 2.5.2 Chocolate tempering

Chocolate is pre-crystallized, the so called tempering, by applying a specific temperature profile. For this purpose, the chocolate is fully melted at  $50 \,^{\circ}$ C followed by cooling to  $27 \,^{\circ}$ C. During cooling crystal nuclei are formed. Re-heating between  $30 \,^{\circ}$ C to  $32 \,^{\circ}$ C ensures that instable crystal nuclei melt and only stable crystals remain in the chocolate mass. The cooling and re-heating temperatures might need to be adjusted, depending on the type of chocolate and type of cocoa butter. Additional shearing during cooling leads to a higher amount of stable crystals.

Ideally tempered mass contains around 10 mg/g crystallized fat (Schuster-Salas and Ziegleder 1992). This can also be achieved by adding seed crystals in the appropriate crystal form to the cooled but still liquid chocolate mass (Zeng 2000). The tempering degree can be controlled by taking a sample of tempered chocolate and recording a tempering curve by measuring time and temperature upon cooling of the mass. The typical progression of a tempering curve of dark chocolate is shown in fig. 2.13 for normal, under and over tempered chocolate. From this curve, the so-called temper index (TI) can be calculated.



Figure 2.13: Exemplary cooling curve of under, normal and over tempered dark chocolate for TI determination

Due to the increasing amount of solids tempering affects the flow properties (Danzl and Ziegleder 2013). Flow properties are important for certain forming techniques, which are described in the following chapter. After forming the chocolate is cooled to solidify and afterwards demolded and packed.

# 2.5.3 Forming filled chocolates

**Conventional shelling** There are different ways to produce filled chocolates. The oldest, easiest and therefore most used technique is forming shells and filling them. In the conventional shelling or spinning process chocolate is poured into molds, shaken to remove air bubbles and turned around to remove surplus chocolate from the inside. A thin shell remains in the molds, which is than cooled, filled with the filling and sealed with tempered chocolate. The principle of conventional shelling can be sen in fig. 2.14. This is an easy way to produce shells, which offers a high variability for product design. However, the shell thickness is uneven and the removed chocolate is used as rework. This means that the chocolate has to be molten and tempered again before it can be re-used.



Figure 2.14: Schematic drawing of conventional shelling principle

**Cold stamp** Another way to produce shells is cold forming, where a cooled plunge is used. This process was invented by Boyd and Yates 1923. The usage of this technique was established around 1990 when Aasted developed the "frozen cone", which is based on the same technique (Aasted 1994). A defined amount of tempered chocolate is poured into a mold. A cooled plunge is entered into the chocolate and pushes the chocolate aside. The result is a shell with equal thickness. The shell can be filled and put together with another shell or closed by covering the filling with tempered chocolate, to obtain a filled chocolate product. A low temperature of the plunge is important to ensure that the chocolate does not stick to the plunge, but lowering the temperature is also limited. At too low temperatures the chocolate solidifies amorphous, which results in low contraction and impeded demolding. For industrial manufacturing plunge temperatures vary between -20 °C to 5 °C for 3 s to 180 s (Böhme et al. 2003). Due to the low temperatures a dry air environment is needed. Another disadvantage is the supplementary cooling effort for the plunge. In addition high dimensional accuracy is needed, whereby variability of product design is reduced due to the high costs for the plunges. On the other hand there is no rework during the process and it is almost independent from chocolate flow properties. The schematic of the processing principle can be seen in fig. 2.15.

**Enrobing** Beside these two methods, where a shell is produced and filled, the manufacturing of a so called core or center piece, which is enrobed with chocolate afterwards, is possible. The center piece is brought to a certain temperature and placed on a wire belt.



Figure 2.15: Schematic drawing of cold forming principle

It passes a chocolate curtain where the top and the sides are covered with chocolate. The surplus chocolate can be collected in a drip pan, through which the center piece is moved to cover its bottom (not shown) or the bottom is covered by using a roller, as can be seen in fig. 2.16. An air blower might be used to remove any remaining chocolate, which then flows back into a sump from which it is reused. To achieve an equal shell thickness, a glossy surface and to avoid the formation of a chocolate tail at the bottom of the product, the flow properties need to be controlled. The temperature of the center piece is also important. If the center piece is too hot, the crystals in the tempered chocolate melt; if it is too cold the chocolate will solidify too fast resulting in a thick shell.



Figure 2.16: Schematic drawing of enrobing principle

**One-Shot** The methods described until now always include two steps: forming a shell or a center and adding the other part in liquid state. In contrast, the one-shot or single-shot process is a way to combine a molten filling with a molten chocolate in one step. This technique was already used around 1930, but was just spread around 1970, when

the use of computers enabled sufficient controlling (Minifie 1989). For the production, a concentric nozzle is used to co-inject the shell and the filling at the same time. The chocolate is filled through the outer part and the filling through the inner part of the nozzle, as can be seen in fig. 2.17. The precise control of the filling process as well as the matching of the ingredient flow properties are important (Padar 2009). The variability of the fillings is limited due to the flow properties and the direct contact between filling and chocolate. A filling which melts at a high temperature is unsuitable because the crystals in the tempered chocolate would melt. Thus, using a one-shot process requires knowledge about the process itself and about the flow properties of the ingredients. The product variability is limited by the flow properties and the unintentional mixing of chocolate and filling during production results in a softer shell (Ziegleder 2005b). However, only one cooling tunnel is needed, which makes the process energy and time saving.



Figure 2.17: Schematic drawing of one-shot principle

# 2.6 Fat bloom

The main consequence of the interaction of crystallization and migration is the formation of fat bloom. Fat crystals at the surface of chocolate products cause light scattering. At the beginning, this reflection causes a dull surface, resulting in a whitish layer over time. This layer appears in different degrees and shapes and is called fat bloom (Becker 1957; Ziegleder, Geier-Greguska, et al. 1994; Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2009a). Sugar bloom also forms a whitish layer on the surface, but the causes are different. Sugar bloom is mainly caused by high humidity, when sugar is dissolved and recrystallizes on the surface.

### 2.6.1 Causes for fat bloom

According to literature, there are four main causes, which are described below, for fat bloom formation, which are all a result of migration, crystallization or their interaction with regard to microstructure (Ziegleder and Mikle 1995a; Khan and Rousseau 2006).

# 2.6.1.1 Post-crystallization

As already mentioned in chap. 2.2, crystallization can be divided in three steps: nucleation, crystal growth and post-crystallization. In the first step, around  $2 \text{ cm}^3/\text{m}^3$  to  $20 \text{ cm}^3/\text{m}^3$  of the fat crystallize. Depending on the used cocoa butter, the amount of crystallized fat increases to  $0.45 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  to  $0.60 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  during crystal growth and reaches values of  $0.65 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  to  $0.80 \text{ m}^3/\text{m}^3$  during further storage (Cebula and Ziegleder 1993; Försterling et al. 1981). The last post-crystallization step is slow and therefore large crystals can be formed. These crystals might become visible at the surface as fat bloom (Ziegleder and Mikle 1995b). The formation of large crystals is also promoted by Ostwald ripening, which causes the further growth of large crystals at the expense of smaller ones (Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2009a). The physical background of Ostwald ripening is the stabilization due to a reduced surface energy on the larger surface with smaller curvature.

#### 2.6.1.2 Polymorphic transition

During further storage, crystallization continues and a polymorphic transition from  $\beta_{\rm V}$  to  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  crystal form occurs (Cebula and Ziegleder 1993). The primary idea for the origin of fat bloom formation was that the needle shaped  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  crystals pierce through the surface and become visible (Vaeck 1960). However, Bricknell and Hartel 1998 showed that sole polymorphic transition is not crucial for fat bloom development. Nonetheless, it was observed that fat bloom development is often accompanied by polymorphic transition (K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007). Additionally, polymorphic transition was only observed in dark chocolate, while milk chocolate remains in the  $\beta_{\rm V}$  crystal structure but fat bloom can also appear on milk chocolate (Cebula and Ziegleder 1993; Ziegleder 1993a). It should be noted that polymorphic transition as well as fat bloom formation are aging processes of chocolate. However, the formation of fat bloom and the occurrence of polymorphic transition are not always coupled.

#### 2.6.1.3 Fat fractionation

Fat fractionation or demixing is a consequence of the before mentioned processes: postcrystallization, Ostwald ripening and polymorphic transition. The fast crystallization process of tempered chocolate leads to the incorporation of TAG, which are usually in liquid state at the crystallization temperature, into the crystal lattice. During storage of the freshly produced pralines the TAG distribution equilibrates. Asymmetric TAG from the crystal are dissolved in the liquid phase, while symmetric TAG, especially those of the sat-O-sat type, are adsorbed at the crystal surface. During this process of fat fractionation, shown in fig. 2.18, the crystals grow and might appear as fat bloom (Ziegleder and Mikle 1995a).

Fat fractionation is particularly critical when filling fats or oils get into the chocolate unintentionally, as might be the case during the enrobing process (Rothkopf, Danzl, and Ziegleder 2016). Some TAG, e.g. OOO can be incorporated into the crystal lattice in



Figure 2.18: Self-fractionation of TAG according to Ziegleder and Mikle 1995a

amounts of 50 mg/g to 100 mg/g (Rothkopf and Danzl 2015; Ziegleder, Geier-Greguska, et al. 1994). They are then gradually removed from the crystal network (Rothkopf, Kind, et al. 2017).

### 2.6.1.4 Migration fat bloom

It can be observed that filled products are particularly susceptible to fat bloom formation. This is mainly caused by migration of oils from the filling into the surrounding chocolate. Therefore this type of fat bloom is called migration fat bloom. As a consequence migration of oils from the filling in chocolate is a highly discussed topic in scientific literature as was described in chap. 2.4.

With regards to fat bloom formation two kinds of migration have to be distinguished. In the first case, macro migration from a filling into chocolate is regarded, which has been described in chap. 2.4. Independent of the type of migration, the migrated amount is initially proportional to the square root of time. However, the explanation for fat bloom caused by migration in filled products varies. On the one hand, the migrating oil might dissolve some of the crystallized TAG, which are then able to crystallize at the surface. On the other hand, the mobility of the migrating oil has an impact. While the fat in chocolate is mainly solid, fillings often contain high amounts of liquid oil. As a result the overall migration rate from the filling into the chocolate is higher than reversely. Ziegleder and Mikle 1995a assumed, that the resulting overpressure in the shell pushes the TAG in the chocolate to the surface, where they crystallize and become visible as fat bloom.

The second kind of migration, which has to be taken into account is the micro migration of TAG. The interface of chocolate and filling is particularly susceptible (Ziegler and Szlachetka 2005; K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007). Additionally, the ability of TAG to resolve in the melt and crystallize elsewhere is the transport mechanism for the before mentioned phenomenons (Beckett 2009b; Ziegleder and Mikle 1995a; K. W. Smith and van Malssen 2003).

Migration of oil from filling into chocolate is influenced by many factors: the type of filling plus the particle size and distribution have an impact (Ziegleder and Mikle 1995a; K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007; Afoakwa, Paterson, M. Fowler, and Vieira 2009a). Other factors are the contact area and contact intensity between chocolate and filling as well as the volume-ratio of chocolate and filling. As already mentioned, the oil content and mobility have to be considered, too (Birkett 2009). The latter are affected by temperature, which has a major impact on fat bloom formation.

Regarding migration fat bloom, a second overlaying effect can be observed. The migrating oil might additionally accelerate the  $\beta_{\rm V}$  to  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  transition, which can go along with fat bloom formation (K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007).

### 2.6.2 Impact factors for fat bloom formation

The four factors known from the literature, namely post-crystallization, polymorphic transition, fat fractionation and migration, which were described in chap. 2.6.1, which

influence the formation of fat bloom can in turn be traced back to migration, crystallization, their interaction and their impact on microstructure. Otherwise, crystallization, migration and microstructure are affected by processing and environmental conditions. For instance, chocolates with larger particles show faster fat bloom formation than chocolates with smaller particles (Afoakwa 2010; Altimiras et al. 2007).

# 2.6.2.1 Fat bloom is affected by the filling

Fats that show a high SFC after solidification are usually used for enrobing masses and compounds, while fats with a lower SFC are used for fillings (Richter 2009; Vereecken et al. 2007). The fats for chocolate fillings can be divided in the following three main groups (Talbot 2009a).

*Polymorphic, non-lauric fats* include non-lauric oils. All fats and oils are non-lauric except palm kernel oil and coconut oil. Fats in this group show polymorphic behavior. Cocoa butter, as well as cocoa butter equivalent (CBE) belong to this group.

*Non-polymorphic, non-lauric fats* are often hardened or fractionated oils, such as palm oil, soy oil, canola oil or cotton seed oil. These fats are named cocoa butter replacer (CBR).

*Lauric fats* are based on palm kernel or coconut oil. They are often fractionated and are called cocoa butter substitute (CBS).

The filling oil should have a TAG composition which is similar to that of the surrounding mass. However, choosing a filling is usually based on its sensory properties, such as flavor, taste, texture and on quality and shelf-life aspects (Talbot 2009a).

The use of incompatible fats is especially critical, since eutectic effects can occur, which soften the chocolate to an immoderate extent (Aguilera et al. 2004; Bigalli 1988; Talbot 1990). An exception is milk fat (e.g. in milk chocolate), which is known to be incompatible with cocoa butter, but also reduces fat bloom formation in small amounts (Kleinert 1997; Ziegleder 1993a; Ziegleder 1993b; Sonwai and Rousseau 2010). The migration rate also depends on the molecule size. Small TAG migrate faster than long-chained ones (Delbaere et al. 2016).

### 2.6.2.2 Processing parameters

The crystallinity and oil mobility in the filling might also affect migration. However, the tempering regime seems to have no effect on fat bloom formation (Juul 2010). A major influence on bloom tendency is caused by the processing speed. When the chocolate shell is not fully crystallized before filling early migration may be forced. This is also found in one-shot pralines where the liquid masses are in contact during processing and mixing at the interface might occur (Ziegleder, Danzl, et al. 2011). NMR measurements showed that it takes several minutes for a dark chocolate (containing 0.337 g/g cocoa butter from West Africa and 0.02 g/g anhydrous milk fat) to reach a crystallinity which is high enough to resist against migration of filling oils (Strassbourg et al. 2006). In case of cold forming, post-tempering of the shells before filling might increase shells stability (Juul 2010). Enrobed products are particularly susceptible to fat bloom formation due

to a partial contamination of the chocolate mass with filling oils during the process (Rothkopf, Danzl, and Ziegleder 2016).

### 2.6.2.3 Storage temperature

Depending on the storage temperature the impact of either crystallization or migration predominates, as can be seen in fig. 2.19. At higher temperatures, migration is accelerated due to higher mobility of the migration phase and less resistance of the chocolate, caused by a reduced SFC (Ali et al. 2001; Altan et al. 2011; Dahlenborg 2014; Guiheneuf et al. 1997; Khan and Rousseau 2006; Lonchampt and Hartel 2004; Miquel et al. 2001; Ziegleder and Schwingshandl 1998). At lower temperatures, the crystallization is predominant, which leads to a more intense crystallization of the fat on the surface, which becomes visible as bloom. A fluctuating temperature leads to a higher migration at higher temperatures and a higher intensity of fat bloom crystallization on the surface at lower temperatures (Timms 1984; Ziegleder and Schwingshandl 1999).



Figure 2.19: The optimum temperature for fat bloom formation in filled chocolate products is in between the optimum temperatures of crystallization of fat bloom on the surface and high migration of oils from the filling according to Ziegleder and Schwingshandl 1999

For shelf life prediction, accelerated storage tests are used. These include temperature variations, namely isothermal or cycling temperature storage, but humidity variation is also possible (Ali et al. 2001; Bricknell and Hartel 1998; Depypere et al. 2009; Guiheneuf et al. 1997; Jin and Hartel 2015; Jinap et al. 2009; Khan and Rousseau 2006; Nightingale et al. 2011; Ziegleder and Schwingshandl 1999; Rothkopf, Schütz, et al. 2017).

In the case of *isothermal storage*, the optimum temperature has to be found, where migration rate is high enough to bring TAG to the surface and low enough, so that

they are able to crystallize there. In contrast, *cycled storage* temperatures promote migration during high temperature periods and accelerate crystallization during low temperature periods (Cartier 2009; Subramaniam 2016). Both tests are used in the industry. However, to distinguish the effects of migration and crystallization on fat bloom formation, a mathematical description must be possible. This is only the case for isothermal storage.

# 2.6.3 Production parameters and fat bloom formation

Due to the interaction of crystallization and migration, the production and storage parameters have a major impact on fat bloom stability (Ziegleder and Mikle 1995b; Ziegleder and Mikle 1995a; Ziegleder and Mikle 1995c). The different shell forming techniques vary in technical equipment, energy consumption, production time and in shelf life. Ziegleder, Danzl, et al. 2010 compared different manufacturing methods for filled pralines: conventional shelling, cold forming, one-shot and enrobing. Considerable differences were found in SFC of fresh products, filling fat migration during storage and fat bloom appearance.

The results for fat bloom stability found for pralines produced with different techniques lead to the assumption that initial filling fat in the chocolate and the amount of crystallized cocoa butter when the filling is added are the reasons for the differences. The comparison of pralines with preformed shells and the time for stabilization before filling shows that shells with a higher amount of crystallized cocoa butter are more stable with regard to fat bloom. This also brought up the idea to stabilize shells by melting instable crystals by warm post-tempering before filling (Juul 2010).

Another possibility of warm post-tempering is the storage of filled pralines at higher temperatures. This leads to a fast migration (Ziegleder 1995). It is assumed that above a certain concentration the fat is too soft to crystallize on the surface. This might also be the case with one-shot pralines, where parts of the filling and chocolate unintentionally mix during dosage. Beside accelerated migration, the surface might be sealed with fat, especially in enrobed products. In addition, mechanical tensions may cause cracks and crevices in the product. Their reduction might also reduce fat bloom formation (Minifie 1989).

# 3 Material, processes and methods

# 3.1 Sample material

A dark chocolate was offered by an industrial partner and used as a model chocolate for all experiments. Four cocoa butter samples were provided by industrial partners. Different fillings as well as filling fats and oils were used in this work. All sample materials are listed in tab. 3.1.

sample	name / supplier / description
dark chocolate	$39\mathrm{g}/100\mathrm{g}$ cocoa mass, $13\mathrm{g}/100\mathrm{g}$ cocoa butter, $47.5\mathrm{g}/100\mathrm{g}$ sugar,
	$0.5\mathrm{g}/100\mathrm{g}$ lecithin
CB 01	Astra A, DeZaan, ADM Inernational Sarl, The Netherlands, origin:
	West Africa
CB 02	no information available
CB 03	no information available
CB 04	origin: West Africa
hazelnut oil	Vom Fass AG, Waldburg, Germany
butterfat	Butaris, Hoche Butter GmbH, Uelzen, Germany
coconut fat	Palmin <sup>®</sup> , Peter Kölln KGaA, Elmshorn, Germany
almond oil	Vom Fass AG, Waldburg, Germany
olive oil	Bertolli - Unilever Deutschland GmbH, Hamburg, Germany
walnut oil	P. Brändle GmbH, Ölmühle - Speiseölgroßhandel, Empfingen, Ger-
	many
nougat	Nougat Extraklasse NNXX, Lubeca Lübecker Marzipan-Fabrik v.
	Minden & Bruhns GmbH & Co KG, Stockelsdorf, Germany

Table 3.1: Fillings and filling fats and oils for experimental procedures

# 3.2 Investigation of particle impact on chocolate crystallization

The solid fat content (SFC) and crystallization behavior of all chocolate and cocoa butter samples was determined as described in chap. 3.6. To study the impact of particles on crystallization and migration, chocolate was compared to cocoa butter and cocoa butter mixtures. The mixtures contained cocoa butter CB 04 with either fat-free cocoa powder (D-00-ZR, ADM International Sarl, Rolle, Swiss) or finest sugar (SF0, Pfeifer & Langen, Cologne, Germany) or both. An additional second series with soy lecithin powder (Cargill Texturizing Solutions Deutschland GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany) was prepared. For this purpose one third of lecithin powder was mixed with two thirds of cocoa butter. This premix was added to the model systems to achieve 0.5 g/100 g lecithin based on total sample weight. The aim was to identify the impact of particle surfaces and surface active ingredients on cocoa butter crystallization.

# 3.3 Investigation of filling lipids in chocolate and cocoa butter

# 3.3.1 Impact of filling fats and oils on cocoa butter and chocolate crystallization

Mixtures of filling fats and oils in chocolate or cocoa butter were investigated using physical and chemical methods as described in chap. 3.6. The aim was to study the impact of filling fats and oils on crystallization behavior.

# 3.3.2 Proof of the presence and quantification of filling lipids in chocolate

Binary mixtures of chocolate with hazelnut oil, butterfat and coconut fat were used to establish methods for detection and quantification of filling fat and oil in chocolate. Hence, decision limit and determination limit were calculated in accordance to DIN 2008. The decision limit is the smallest amount of filling fat, which leads to a significantly different signal of the analytical system compared to a sample without filling fat. In contrast, the determination limit is the lowest quantifiable content of filling fat, which is always linked to numerical data.

The fatty acid (FA) composition of some of the binary mixtures with dark chocolate was determined using the gas chromatography (GC) method described in chap. 3.6.1.

To verify the method, the recovery rate RR was calculated using eq. 3.3.1 (Kromidas and Kuss 2008).

$$RR = \frac{\overline{x}}{x_T} \tag{3.3.1}$$

With  $\overline{x}$  being the measured mean value and  $x_T$  being the target amount, given by the sample preparation, e.g. by the preset concentration.

# 3.4 Filling oil migration in cylindrical chocolate model systems

The migration of oil from the filling into the surrounding chocolate can be described both by diffusion through the fat phase (Fickian law) and by capillary flow (Lucas-Washburn equation). In both cases the migrated amount in the beginning is proportional to the square root of time (Aguilera et al. 2004). Migration is influenced by many factors, which can be explained by both mechanisms. Therefore a lot of models have been developed to study migration in chocolate. They all have in common that two different components are brought into contact, trying to copy a filled chocolate product. An example is the "'Washer"' test introduced by Talbot 1996 and used by several other researchers (K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007; K. W. Smith 2008; Ghosh et al. 2002). It is performed by using thin chocolate plates and placing them directly on the filling or on a filter paper soaked up with oil (Ziegler, Shetty, et al. 2004; Tran et al. 2015). This setup was adapted for this study and the composition of the cylinders was adjusted to clarify the open questions regarding migration.

### 3.4.1 Cylindrical model systems

A setup of a cylindrical model system, which can be seen in fig. 3.1 according to K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007 was created to study filling oil migration in chocolate and cocoa butter. Nougat was chosen as the filling for all trials as the detection methods were most effective for this type of filling (see chap. 4.2).



Figure 3.1: Setup of cylindrical model systems

While the nougat base, which contains hazelnut oil, remained constant throughout all experiments, the cylinders consisted of different mixtures of dark chocolate, cocoa butter (CB 04), fat-free cocoa powder (D-00-ZR, ADM International Sarl, Rolle, Swiss) or finest sugar (SF0, Pfeifer & Langen, Cologne, Germany). The cylinder variation is shown in fig. 3.2 and 3.3.



Figure 3.2: Basic experiment (blue) and changed crystal form cylinders (red) for model migration measurements, see text for detailed explanation

The **basic experiment**, whereof all other variations were derived, is shown in fig. 3.2 in blue. It included cylinders of dark chocolate, cocoa butter CB 04 (see section 3.1) and a 1:1 mixture of dark chocolate and cocoa butter CB 04, all in  $\beta_{\rm V}$  crystal modification. The main difference in this basic setup is the portion of cocoa and sugar particles. This setup is used to identify the main migration type, which is either along the particle surface or through the fat phase.

Further studies on the continuous phase impact were carried out with **changed crystal** form cylinders where crystals in a higher polymorphic form were present. Another batch of cylinders was prepared as described for the basic experiment with dark chocolate, cocoa butter and a 1:1 mixture. To evaluate the impact of the crystal structure, these cylinders were stored at 27 °C to accelerate crystal transition. The presence of  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  crystals was verified using differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) melting curves as described in chap. 3.6.3.1.



Figure 3.3: Cylinder variation for model migration measurements with different types of particles and lecithin addition, see text for detailed explanation

Since the cocoa butter in dark chocolate and the pure cocoa butter in the basic experiments do not necessarily have the same chemical composition, a model chocolate system with changed **dispersed phase** was prepared, shown in fig. 3.3. For this purpose, cocoa butter CB 04 was mixed with either cocoa powder or finest sugar or both and in a further approach lecithin was also added to the system, to alter the particle surface. The names of the samples are shown in tab. 3.2.

Table 3.2: Naming and composition of the samples of cocoa butter mixed with different amounts of finest sugar (S) and fat-free cocoa powder (CP)

model system	$\frac{sugar}{[g/g]}$	cocoa powder $[g/g]$
S30_CP0	0.30	0.0
$S50\_CP0$	0.50	0.0
$S10\_CP20$	0.10	0.20
$S25\_CP25$	0.25	0.25
$S0\_CP30$	0	0.30
$S0\_CP50$	0	0.50

To produce the different types of cylinders, the components were heated to 40 °C and optionally combined and homogenized with a magnetic stirrer. For cylinder preparation, the mixtures were cooled at room temperature to 29.0 °C to 29.3 °C and seeded using cocoa butter seed powder SEED 100 (Uelzena eG, Uelzen, Germany) with  $\beta_{\rm V}$  crystals. The amount of seed powder was 5 mg/g based on the fat content.

The seeded mixtures were each poured in Nunc<sup>®</sup> 24 well plates, which were tempered at 27 °C. The plates were vibrated on a vibrating table (Pferrer Vibrationstechnik, Georgenberg, Germany) to remove air bubbles. Subsequently samples were cooled at 4 °C for 20 min and stabilized for at least 24 h at 18 °C before demolding. The resulting cylinders had a height and diameter of 15 mm each.

Per each experimental setup two cylinders were prepared and placed on a nougat base. For the nougat base, which was kept constant throughout all experiments, nougat was melted at 27 °C. A spoon was used to fill the nougat into round petri dishes with 90 mm diameter. The filled dishes were vibrated to apportion the nougat and to remove air bubbles. The prepared nougat base was stored for at least 24 h at 18 °C. To complete the sample preparation each two cylinders were placed on the nougat base in one petri dish. Therefore the plain front side of the cylinders, which was inside the mold, was put on the nougat and gently pressed against it for 5 s to ensure good contact between the surfaces. The samples were stored at 18 °C, 20 °C and 23 °C for 2, 4, 8 and 12 weeks. At the end of the storage period, the cylinders were removed from the nougat base and cut in slices of 5 mm perpendicular to the longitudinal axis using a sharp carpet knife, as shown in fig. 3.4. The samples for DSC and GC measurements were taken from the middle of each slice. The rest of the slices was used for nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) measurements.



Figure 3.4: Slicing of the cylindrical model systems for sampling

# 3.5 Manufacture of filled model pralines

Filled model pralines were produced using a praline plant and the cold forming process. The aim of these trials was to be able to transfer the findings from the previous tests to industrial reality.

# 3.5.1 Tempering of chocolate

First of all, the chocolate had to be tempered, as described in chap. 2.5.2. For this purpose a Minitemper Turbo TFD 100 (Sollich KG, Bad Salzuflen, Germany) was used. To ensure correct tempering, the temper index (TI) was measured using a MultiTherm<sup>TM</sup> TC (Bühler AG, Uzwil, Swiss) and a Tempermeter E4 (Sollich KG, Bad Salzuflen, Germany). The target TI, an empirical value from the industries, was 5.0, which indicates good tempering for dark chocolate (Bühler n.d.).

### 3.5.2 Cold forming of model praline shells

A praline plant ubi<sup>®</sup> PN-Y (ubitec GmbH, Bergneustadt, Germany) was used for producing cold formed shells. The principle of the cold forming process is explained in chap. 2.5.3. The output of filled products is 5 kg/h to 10 kg/h and the dimensions of the plant are ca. 4 m in length and 0.7 m width (Ubitec GmbH 2012).

The stations of the praline plant used for manufacturing are schematically shown in fig. 3.5. The production starts with the feed-in of molds, where 10 molds are stocked above each other. The used molds were made from polycarbonate by Hans Brunner GmbH (Glonn, Germany). The mold, which is in the lowest position in the stock is advanced for transport to the mold preheater. The preheated molds are filled with chocolate by sink head 1, which moves towards the single cavities of each mold. There are several lanes for moving towards the cavities, which are shown in fig. 3.6. During implementation it could be shown that the two possible routes used for chocolate production did not show any differences with regard to SFC after cooling nor to fat bloom development.

At the same position as sink head 1 the pneumatic vibrator 1 shakes the molds to apportion the chocolate and to remove air bubbles. The frequency and amplitude are

1	feed-in of molds	49	
2		48	
3	mold preheater	47	
4		46	
5		45	
6	sink head $1 / vibrator 1$	44	
7		43	
8	cooled plunge	42	
9		41	
10		40	
11		39	
12		38	cooling tunnel 3
13		37	cooming tunner 5
14	cooling tunnel 1	36	
15	cooming tunner i	35	
16		34	
17		33	
18		32	
19	sink head 2	31	
20	vibrator 2	30	
21		29	
22	cooling tunnel 9	28	
23	tunner 2	27	
24		26	
25	cross t	ransp	port

Figure 3.5: Numbered stations per mold of the praline forming plant ubi<sup>®</sup> PN-Y; molds move from position 1 to 49



Figure 3.6: Molds with dimension of  $275 \text{ mm} \times 135 \text{ mm} \times 24 \text{ mm}$  (length  $\times$  width  $\times$  height) and the two lanes for mold filling from A1 to G3 (red) and in reverse direction G3 to A1 (blue)

stepless and independently adjustable. The cooled plunge, whose shape is adjusted to the used molds is cooled by a Peltier element.

The plant includes three cooling tunnels. The first one is used to cool the cold formed shells and give time for stabilization. Afterwards shells can be filled and sealed with sink head 2. This one-shot sink head can also be used independently from the before mentioned facilities to produce one-shot pralines, as described in chap. 2.5.3. Just as the first sink head 1, it moves towards the single cavities and it is followed by vibrator 2. Subsequently the samples are cooled further in the second and third cooling tunnel, which are connected by the cross transport.

The system was operated using a touch screen and system control by Julius GmbH (Marienheide, Germany). In the following tab. 3.3 the parameters and their meaning are shown. Within the software for the control system, the plant is divided in several units: sink head 1, cooled plunge, sink head 2, facility 1 and facility 2. In each unit parameters can be set and the elements can be switched on or off. The system is operated with its own parameters, which will be called machine relative units (m.r.u.).

Additionally to the settings at the plant, external coolers and a heater were used. A Systemcooler SC 1.7 VS ers<sup>®</sup> (Energie- und Kältetechnik GmbH, Strassenhaus, Germany), which was set to  $4.0 \,^{\circ}$ C was used for the cooling tunnels. For counter-cooling of the Peltier element a Systemcooler SC 1.7 V ers<sup>®</sup> (Energie- und Kältetechnik GmbH, Strassenhaus, Germany) at  $18.0 \,^{\circ}$ C was used. The heater was a water bath teco cs 90e (Gesellschaft Wärme Kältetechnik mbH, Kierspe, Germany) set at temperatures from  $33.0 \,^{\circ}$ C to  $35.0 \,^{\circ}$ C. It was used to heat the storage tank and the sink heads to keep the chocolate in molten and tempered state. The TI was measured intermittently during production. Therefore a tempermeter cup was filled with chocolate from the dosing

Table 5.5: Used parameters in machine relative units (m.r.u.) and then meaning
for praline production using the praline plant $ubi^{$ PN-Y (ubitec GmbH
Bergneustadt, Germany)

unit	parameter	m.r.u.	meaning
sink head 1	dosing stroke	25	dosing quantity of sink head 1
	dosing speed	95	speed of dosing
	back suction stroke	8	back suction stroke after dosing
	excavation stroke	80	nozzle lifting distance during dos-
			ing
	excavation stroke speed	60	nozzle lifting speed during dosing
cooled plunge	plunge stroke	250	mold lifting distance
	speed	50	mold lifting speed
	cooling on	16	switch on of the Peltier element
			when the named cavity gets dosed
sink head $2$	dosing stroke filling	40	dosing quantity of the filling
	dosing speed	85	speed at which filling and shell are dosed
	dosing stroke shell	0	dosing quantity of shell
	back suction stroke	15	back suction stroke after dosing of
			shell and filling
facility 1	mold preheater		switch On/Off
-	sink head 1		switch On/Off
	vibrator 1		switch On/Off
	cooled plunge		switch On/Off
	vibrating roller		switch On/Off
	sink head 2		switch On/Off
	vibrator 2		switch On/Off
facility 2	vibrating time 1	61	vibrating time in tenths of a sec-
			ond of vibrator 1
	vibration start 2	1	vibration start of vibrator 2 at the
			named cavity
	vibration stop 2	5	vibration stop vibrator 2 at the
			named cavity
	heater on	1	start of mold preheater at cavity
	heater off	8	stop of mold preheater at cavity
	empty run w/o molding		switch $On/Off$ ; form transporta-
			tion without dosing

stroke of sink head 1.

The praline plant can also be used to produce empty shells and fill them in a second round. The advantage of using the praline plant is an equal filling height. However, the nougat temperature has to be continuously controlled, since the temperature for the two storage tanks and sink heads (or filling and chocolate) can not be controlled individually. The nougat was melted at temperatures above 30 °C and cooled to  $(29.0 \pm 0.5)$  °C by adding solid nougat.

### 3.5.3 Simulation of unintended mixing during production

For some pralines, hazelnut oil was added to the shell chocolate. The aim was to simulate mixing of chocolate and filling during production, as described in chap. 2.6.2.2. In this case the chocolate and hazelnut oil were first mixed and tempered afterwards. Concentrations were 5 mg/g, 10 mg/g, 20 mg/g, 30 mg/g, 40 mg/g and 50 mg/g hazelnut oil in chocolate. This chocolate-hazelnut-oil-mixture was used to produce cold stamped praline shells as described in chap. 3.5.2. The shells passed all three cooling tunnels and were stored subsequently at  $18 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  over night before they were filled the next day. For filling, the shells remained in the molds which were fed into the praline plant. The mold preheater was switched off and at sink head 1 nougat was filled into the shells. Then they were cooled in the first cooling tunnel and a chocolate sealing was deposited at sink head 2. After passing cooling tunnel 2 and 3, the pralines were demolded and stored at  $18 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ ,  $20 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  and  $23 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ .

### 3.5.4 Pralines with post treatments

Post treatment of pralines is performed to reduce fat bloom in industrial production. Some post treatments were investigated to identify their efficacy and the mechanism of action. The aim was to investigate the usefulness of such treatments and to learn more about their impact on the underlying mechanisms of migration and crystallization.

#### 3.5.4.1 Identification of optimum post treatment conditions via DSC

To identify post treatment conditions for pralines as described by Juul 2010, the production process was simulated using DSC. Therefore tempered chocolate was placed in an DSC aluminum pan. To ensure that the degree of crystallization was not changed, the aluminum pan was kept at 29 °C. Samples were measured using the following timetemperature protocol. For stabilization, the sample was held at 29 °C for 0.2 min followed by simulation of the cold plunge: The sample was cooled to -10 °C at 100 °C/min and held for 0.1 min at this temperature. Subsequently the cooling tunnel was simulated by heating to 18 °C at 100 °C/min and holding for 5 min until warm post tempering process was simulated by heating the sample to different temperatures  $T_{post}$  at 100 °C/min and holding for 3 min at this temperature. To evaluate the post tempering treatment a melting curve was added starting from  $T_{post}$  and heating to 45 °C at 3 °C/min and holding for 1 min. Investigated temperatures  $T_{post}$  were 25 °C, 28 °C, 29 °C, 30 °C, 32 °C and 33 °C. As a reference, a sample without post treatment was measured for which  $T_{post}$  was set to 18 °C.

#### 3.5.4.2 Application of post treatment on praline shells

According to the results of process simulation via DSC, the praline shells were treated as follows. The praline shells were taken from the praline plant after the first cooling tunnel at position 19, shown in fig. 3.5 and in fig. 3.7. They were placed in a conditioning cabinet Incucell LSIS-B2VI IC222 (MMM Group, Planegg, Germany) at the determined temperature  $T_{post}$  and remained there for 15 min. The time was extended relative to DSC measurement to ensure equal temperature throughout the whole shell. As a reference a shell without post treatment was prepared by placing the shell in a conditioning chamber at 18 °C for the according time.



Figure 3.7: schematic drawing of shell manufacturing with post treatment

After post treatment samples were stored for 2 h at  $18 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  and subsequently filled with nougat, using a disposable syringe with a volume of  $20 \,\text{mL}$  (Henke-Sass, Wolf GmbH, Tuttlingen, Germany). An amount of  $4 \,\text{mL}$  nougat was filled in each shell. After filling, the samples were shaken to remove air bubbles and to evenly spread the nougat followed by sealing with a layer of tempered chocolate.

After production sample pralines were stored at  $18 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  for 24 h, demolded and further stored at  $18 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ ,  $20 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  and  $23 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ .

### 3.5.5 Praline storage tests at isothermal and cycled temperature

Different storage tests are used to accelerate fat bloom formation (see chap. 2.6.2.3). To identify the optimum tests for this study, different storage conditions were used and fat bloom formation was observed.

The praline shells were produced as described in chap. 3.5.2. After the first cooling tunnel, the shells were directly filled with nougat using sink head 2 without a chocolate sealing. After production pralines were stored for 20 h at 18 °C and subsequently storage tests were started. Pralines were stored at varying conditions and analyzed over time. Main analyzed parameters were filling migration, polymorphic transition and fat bloom development as described in chap. 3.6. All samples were stored isothermally at different constant temperatures, namely 18.0 °C, 20.0 °C, 23.0 °C, 25.5 °C and 27.0 °C and at cycling temperatures for different times as can be seen in tab. 3.4.

start temperature	cycling temperature	frequency
18.0	25.5	three times a week
25.5	18.0	three times a week
18.0	25.5	weekly
25.5	18.0	weekly

Table 3.4: Conditions for 40 d of cycling temperature storage

The storage temperature was changed by manually putting the samples into another conditioning cabinet or chamber. Samples were stored in two conditioning cabinets Incucell LSIS-B2VI IC222 (MMM Group, Planegg, Germany) set to 25.5 °C and 27.0 °C and different conditioning chambers (Viessmann Allendorf (Eder), Germany and York Deutschland GmbH, Mannheim, Germany) at 18.0 °C, 20.0 °C and 23.0 °C. Random control of temperatures and humidity were performed using a data logger Easylog EL-USB-2+ (Lascar electronics, Salisbury, United Kingdom). Temperature was constant  $\pm 0.5$  °C and relative humidity fluctuated between 24 %rH to 34 %rH.

# 3.6 General instrumental analysis

# 3.6.1 Fat analysis

FA and TAG composition were determined as described by Rothkopf and Danzl 2015. The used chemicals are listed in tab. 3.5.

### 3.6.1.1 Fat extraction

Samples were weighed in 2 mL Eppendorf tubes (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany). Sample weight was adjusted to fat content, so that each sample contained about 10 mg fat. Until further processing, samples were stored at -20 °C. Samples were mixed with 1 mL n-hexan, including internal standard for GC measurements. To completely dissolve the samples they were shaken at 25 °C with 1300/min for 15 min using a Thermomixer Comfort (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany) followed by centrifugation for 5 min at 800/min with a WiseSpin<sup>®</sup> CF-10 (LENNOX, Dublin, Ireland). The supernatant was transferred in crimp-top vials ND 11 with 1.5 mL volume (Th. Geyer GmbH & Co. KG, Renningen, Germany) and purged with nitrogen at 40 °C to replace the solvent.

### 3.6.1.2 Fatty acid determination via GC-FID

The FA composition was determined via GC-flame ionization detector (FID). About 5 mg to 9 mg of sample was dissolved in 1 mL tert-butylmethylether and filtrated using a PTFE-membrane. The filtered samples were put into vials which were filled with 0.2 mL to 0.25 mL of 0.2 mol/L methanolic trimethylsulfoniumhydroxide (TMSH) solution for esterification. Vials were sealed with crimp caps (Th. Geyer GmbH & Co. KG, Renningen, Germany) and heated to 100 °C for 15 min. After cool-down, measurement was started using a GC-System 7890A (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA), with OpenLAB CDS ChemStation GC Drivers (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, USA) and a Chrompack FFAP-CB column ( $50 \,\mathrm{m} \times 0.45 \,\mathrm{mm} \times 0.3 \,\mathrm{mm}$ ). Injector temperature was 250 °C with 1:20 split and 1 µL injection volume. Carrier gas was hydrogen and oven temperature was held at 200 °C for 10 min, heated to 250 °C with 30 °C/min and held for another 10 min for cocoa butter and hazelnut oil. In case of butterfat and coconut fat, oven temperature was held at  $40 \,^{\circ}$ C for 2 min, heated to  $250 \,^{\circ}$ C with  $30 \,^{\circ}$ C/min and held for 10 min. Detector temperature was 260 °C and gas flow was 40 mL/min hydrogen, 450 mL/min air and 30 mL/min nitrogen make-up. For quantification, two internal standards were used. Tridecanoic or heptadecanoic acid was used for samples containing hazelnut oil and valeric acid for samples with short-chained fatty acids (less than ten carbon atoms), such as butyric acid. Measurements were carried out in triplicate.

### 3.6.1.3 Triacylglyceride determination via RP-HPLC-ELSD

The TAG composition was determined using a high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with Solvent rack SOR-100, HPLC pump P680, automated sample injector

	Table §	3.5: Used chemicals	for fat analysis by GC and HPLC
chemical	concentration	additional	supplier
	[n/n] - %	information	
acetonitrile	99.9	gradient grade for HPLC	CHEMSolute <sup>®</sup> , Th. Geyer GmbH & Co. KG, Renningen, Germany
ethanol	66	for analysis	CHEMSolute <sup>®</sup> , Th. Geyer Gmb H & Co. KG, Renningen, Germany
methanol	99.85	gradient grade for HPLC	CHEMSolute <sup>®</sup> , Th. Geyer Gmb H & Co. KG, Renningen, Germany
n-hexan	66	for analysis	CHEMSolute <sup>®</sup> , Th. Geyer Gmb H & Co. KG, Renningen, Germany
tert- butylmethylether	99.8	gradient grade for HPLC	CHEMSolute <sup>®</sup> , Th. Geyer Gmb H & Co. KG, Renningen, Germany
heptadecanoic acid	98		Alfa Aesar, Thermo Fisher GmbH, Karlsruhe, Germany
hydrochloric acid	35 to 38	for analysis	CHEMSolute <sup>®</sup> , Th. Geyer Gmb H & Co. KG, Renningen, Germany
phenolphthalein		pH 8.2 to 9.8	MERCK KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
sodium hydroxide	66		MERCK KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany
tridecanoic acid	98		SIGMA-ALDRICH <sup>®</sup> , St. Louis, USA
trimethylsulfonium iodide	98		SIGMA-ALDRICH <sup>®</sup> , St. Louis, USA
valeric acid	66		SIGMA-ALDRICH <sup>®</sup> , St. Louis, USA

52

ASI-100 and thermostated column compartment TCC-100 (Dionex Softron GmbH, Germering, Germany). An amount of 10 mg of each sample was weighed into a 10 mL volumetric flask. The flask was filled to the mark with the solvent, which consisted of 0.6 L/L acetonitrile and 0.4 L/L tert-butylmethylether. A volume of  $2 \mu \text{L}$  to  $5 \mu \text{L}$  was injected and a flow rate of 0.5 mL/min was used. Oven temperature was  $18 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ . As detector a LT-evaporative light scattering detector (ELSD) SEDEX 85 (Sedere S.A., Olivet, France) was used at 4 bar and 40  $^{\circ}\text{C}$ . A Security Guard Cartridge C18  $4 \times 3 \text{ mm}$  ID (Phenomenex, Aschaffenburg, Germany) was used in front of the capillary column Nucleosil ET 250 cm  $\times 4 \text{ mm}$  ID 120-3 µm C18 (Macherey Nagel, Düren, Germany) with 125 mm length and 4 mm diameter.

### 3.6.2 NMR - nuclear magnetic resonance

The SFC, the amount of solidified fat, is influenced by many factors, such as the sample composition including the amount of fat and its composition, as well as the thermal history. Therefore it can be used as an indicator for fat composition in samples with same thermal treatment or to see differences in treatment of samples with same composition. A minispec mq 20 TD-NMR spectrometer (Bruker BioSpin GmbH, Rheinstetten, Germany) was used to detect the SFC. Two methods for SFC detection by NMR exist, the direct and the indirect. The determination of the SFC is explained using an exemplary decreasing signal of a fat sample after a 90° high frequency impulse, shown in fig. 3.8.



Figure 3.8: Decreasing signal of a fat samples after a  $90^{\circ}$  high frequency impulse (DIN EN ISO 2010a)

In the graph S represents the decreasing signal, t the time, 1 is the high frequency impulse and 2 the dead time,  $S_S$  the signal of the solid phase and  $S_{S+L}$  of the solid and the liquid phase at time t = 0. Due to the dead time shown as hatched area, the signal can just be detected after some micro seconds. Therefore the signal  $S_1$  after about 11 µs is used. It equals  $S'_{S+L}$ , which includes the signal of the solid and the liquid phase at that time.  $S'_S$  is the signal of the solid phase at that time. A second signal  $S_2$  after 70 µs is recorded, which equals  $S_L$ , the signal of the liquid phase at that time. The signal for the solid phase is already zero due to the faster signal decay in the solid phase.

For the **direct method** (DIN EN ISO 2010a) only one measurement needs to be done. The ratio of the signal  $S_{S+L}$ , which includes the signal of the solid and the liquid phase, and  $S_L$ , which includes the signal of the liquid phase is used to calculate the direct SFC<sub>d</sub>. Due to the dead time, the signal of the solid and liquid phase  $S_{S+L}$  can not be detected directly after the high frequency impulse. Therefore an extrapolation factor f is used to calculate  $S_{S+L}$  using  $S'_{S+L}$  resulting in eq. 3.6.1.

$$SFC_d = \frac{f(S'_{S+L} - S_L)}{f(S'_{S+L} - S_L) + S_L}$$
(3.6.1)

The direct method results in an approximate value because of the *f*-factor. A linear extrapolation is assumed to calculate the signal at t = 0, but the signal shows a non-linear decrease. Additionally, *f* depends on the molecular mobility, e.g. temperature, polymorphism and crystal size and its temperature dependency is also due to the dilatation of the liquid phase. Typical values for *f* are given in DIN EN ISO 2010a and range from 1.10 to 1.30; 1.40 to 1.50 and 1.60 to 2.00 for  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta'$  and  $\beta$ , respectively. Another influencing value is the solid phase in samples with non-fat solids. Thus, the direct method was only used for pure fat samples.

For all samples with particles, the **indirect method** must be used. For the indirect method (DIN EN ISO 2010b), only the signal  $S_2$  of the liquid phase of the sample after about 70 µs is measured. The signal of the liquid phase of a fully molten sample is measured at the temperature  $T_{melt}$  and the signal of the liquid phase of a crystallized sample is measured at the temperature  $T_{crys}$ . Additionally, the signal of the liquid phase of a reference is recorded at the same temperatures. Oils that are liquid at  $T_{crys}$  were used as reference, namely sunflower, rapeseed and hazelnut oil. The values of the reference are needed for temperature correction. From these four values, the SFC<sub>ind</sub> can be calculated using eq. 3.6.2.

$$SFC_{ind} = 1 - \frac{S_{2,crys} \cdot S_{2,ref,melt}}{S_{2,melt} \cdot S_{2,ref,crys}}$$
(3.6.2)

Both methods can be used to either determine the SFC at a certain temperature or to evaluate crystallization (Rothkopf and Danzl 2015). For both direct and indirect measurement, solid samples were chopped before they were placed in glass tubes and compressed inside them. Molten samples were directly filled into the glass tubes. The tubes were sealed with parafilm<sup>®</sup>. Filling height varied between 30 mm to 50 mm for the direct method and 8 mm to 10 mm for the indirect method.

#### 3.6.2.1 Sample preparation for SFC determination with structure preservation

To observe changes caused by storage, samples were prepared without changing the initial crystal structure. For this purpose solid and stored samples were used. Samples were cut in small pieces and placed in a glass tube. They were subsequently stored at  $20 \,^{\circ}$ C for 24 h and measured with *f*-factor 1.8, four repetitions and 2s recycle delay.

#### 3.6.2.2 Standardized sample preparation with $\beta$ -stabilization for SFC determination

A standardized crystallization was used to prepare NMR samples for SFC determination, which allows to detect differences in the composition of samples. The aim of the procedure is to erase the thermal history and to achieve a stable  $\beta$  crystal polymorph, which ensures a good reproducibility of the measurement (DIN EN ISO 2010a; DIN EN ISO 2010b).

Samples were subject to the following time-temperature protocol: melting for  $(30\pm2)$  min at 70 °C to melt any remaining crystals was followed by cooling for  $(90\pm2)$  min at 0 °C in an ice bath to start crystallization. For  $\beta$ -stabilization, samples were stored for  $(40.0\pm0.5)$  h at 26 °C to melt instable crystals and allow further crystallization of stable crystals. Afterwards a last crystallization step for  $(90\pm2)$  min at 0 °C in an ice bath was performed. Samples were stabilized at the measuring temperature ( $T_{crys} = 20$  °C) for  $(60\pm2)$  min and subsequently measured. The *f*-factor was set to 1.8, with four repetitions and 2s recycle delay.

### 3.6.2.3 Dynamic, quasi-isothermal crystallization measurement

Crystallization kinetics can also be detected using NMR. For this purpose samples were heated at 70 °C for  $(30 \pm 2)$  min to melt any remaining crystals. Then they are placed in the probe-head, which is kept at 19 °C. A SFC measurement is performed every 30 s with three repetitions and 1.5 s recycle delay. Similar procedures are described by Padar, Jeelani, et al. 2008; Bootello et al. 2013.

The start point had to be set for evaluation. Therefore the indirect SFC (see eq. 3.6.2) was determined. Instead of a reference the sample was measured at several temperatures above the melting point. The samples were melted for 30 min at 70 °C and cooled for 1 h to 60 °C, 50 °C and 40 °C in decreasing order. Each temperature step was followed by a SFC measurement, which was used to extrapolate the temperature corrected value  $S_{2,melt,corr}$  of a molten sample at 20 °C. This simplifies eq. 3.6.2 to eq. 3.6.3.

$$SFC_{ind,corr} = 1 - \frac{S_{2,crys}}{S_{2,melt,corr}}$$
(3.6.3)

To evaluate fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal NMR crystallization measurements, the calculated  $SFC_{ind,corr}$  is plotted over time, as can be seen in fig. 3.9. In the beginning the curve decreases due to temperature adaptation from 70 °C to 19 °C of the sample. The time after this adaption was determined as the time, when slope > 0 is true and this time was used as starting time.



Figure 3.9: Curve progression of  $SFC_{ind,corr}$  at 19 °C of cocoa butter CB 02 plotted over time

# 3.6.3 DSC - differential scanning calorimetry

A DSC 8500 with Intracooler 2 (Perkin Elmer LAS GmbH, Rodgau-Jügesheim, Germany) was used for calorimetric measurements. An empty aluminum pan was used as reference. The thermal analysis system was purged with nitrogen. Thermograms were analyzed with Pyris Software (Version 10.1.0.0412, Perkin Elmer, Rodgau-Jügesheim, Germany).

### 3.6.3.1 Melting curves

Melting curves were used to determine the polymorphic form of the cocoa butter crystals in the sample, which is indicated by the peak maximum temperature. The sample weight was about  $(10\pm2)$  mg. The time-temperature protocol starts at 20 °C and increases with 3 °C/min up to 45 °C. In fig. 3.10 an exemplary melting curve is shown.

### 3.6.3.2 Cooling curves and isothermal crystallization

Both, cooling curves and isothermal crystallization are used to investigate the crystallization behavior of cocoa butter and chocolate. The sample weight was  $(18 \pm 2)$  mg and all samples were heated to 70 °C for 5 min prior to analysis to melt any remaining crystals and to erase the thermal history.

For isothermal measurements the samples were cooled from  $70 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  to the crystallization temperature of  $19 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  at  $20 \,^{\circ}\text{C/min}$  and held for  $120 \,\text{min}$  until crystallization was finished. An exemplary isothermal DSC measurement and the peak minimum time, which was used for evaluation, are shown in fig. 3.11.



Figure 3.10: Heat flow of cocoa butter CB 02 recorded by DSC during melting at  $3^{\circ}C/\min$  from 20 °C to 45 °C with peak maximum, which was used for evaluation, and baseline (dotted gray)



Figure 3.11: Heat flow of CB 02 recorded by DSC during isothermal crystallization at  $19\,^{\circ}$ C, peak maximum time and baseline (dotted gray)
Another measuring method using DSC are cooling curves, where the temperature is continuously decreased over time. For cooling curves the samples were melted as previously described for 5 min at 70 °C and cooled from 70 °C to 40 °C at 10 °C/min and further to -10 °C with a cooling rate of 2 °C/min. An exemplary curve is shown in fig. 3.12. The peak minimum temperature was taken directly from the measured heat flow over time and used for evaluation.



Figure 3.12: Heat flow of CB 02 recorded by DSC during cooling crystallization with peak maximum and baseline (dotted gray)

#### 3.6.4 Free fat

The amount of free fat is determined using a centrifuge. Samples were melted at 45 °C and about 7.0 g were weighed into a 50 mL centrifuge tube with screw cap (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, USA) and further heated for 1 h at 60 °C. A centrifuge Sigma 3 K 30 with angle rotor for  $8 \times 50$  mL (Sigma Laborzentrifugen GmbH, Osterode am Harz, Germany) was used at 40 °C for 60 min with 13 650/min revolution, which equals 20 000 g RCF.

After centrifuge, the samples were set upside down in a climate chamber at  $60 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  for 1 h to remove the supernatant fat. Subsequent, samples were cooled and weighed using a XS205 DualRange (Mettler Toledo AG, Gießen, Germany). The amount of free fat can be calculated as follows:

$$free \ fat = \frac{m_{int} - m_{res}}{m_{int} * fat \ content}$$
(3.6.4)

The initial weight  $m_{int}$  is the mass before centrifuge and the residual mass  $m_{res}$  is the mass after the supernatant fat was drained off.

#### 3.6.5 Particle size distribution

For particle size distribution measurement a Malvern® Morphologi G3 (Malvern Instruments, Malvern, Great Britain) was used. Samples were melted at  $45 \,^{\circ}$ C and about 40 mg were dispersed in 25 mL vegetable oil using a magnetic stirrer. The dispersed samples were filled in a wet cell using a disposable syringe. After letting the particles sediment for about 30 min, the measurement was started with 20× magnification, 60% light intensity, threshold 140 to 145 and smoothing of 40 points. After counting of 200 000 particles, the measurement stopped. For evaluation, incompletely captured particles were excluded by using circularity as indicator.

#### 3.6.6 BET-surface

The surface area of the samples were determined by krypton adsorption-desorption isotherms at -196 °C (77 K) using a Quantachrome Autosorb iQ automated gas sorption analyzer. Prior to the analysis, the powder samples were outgassed under vacuum at 50 °C for 5 h. The specific surface area was calculated by using the Brunauer Emmett Teller (BET) equation. All calculations were performed by an ASiQwin (Version 5.0) program developed by Quantachrome Instrument (Quantachrome Instruments 2020).

#### 3.6.7 Fat bloom evaluation

Fat bloom can be evaluated by either using a trained or customer panel or color and gloss measurement (Briones and Aguilera 2005). Using color or gloss measurements allows to create a number signifying the amount of whiteness on the chocolate surface.

Fat bloom was evaluated using the DigiEye Imaging System V2.60. The system consisted of a digital camera Nikon D90 placed on a light cabinet with a lamp VeriVide D65 "Artificial Daylight". A daily calibration was performed using a digitizer chart (all components from VeriVide Ltd., Leicester, United Kingdom).

Samples were photographed on blue ground with  $0.2 \,\mathrm{s}$  exposure time, ISO sensitivity ISO-200, f-number F/8, focal width 35 mm and lighting set to diffuse.

For evaluation a shape (round or rectangle) was chosen according to the sample dimensions. The area was chosen smaller than the size of the sample, since sample edges sometimes behaved different then the main area. The L<sup>\*</sup>, a<sup>\*</sup> and b<sup>\*</sup> values were determined by the DigiEye Software and were used to calculate the Whiteness Index (WI) (Briones and Aguilera 2005).

$$WI = 100 - \sqrt{(100 - L)^2 + a^2 + b^2}$$
(3.6.5)

#### 3.6.8 Statistics and curve analysis

Statistics were performed using SigmaPlot 12.5 (Systat Software Inc.) and OriginLab. SigmaPlot was used for ANOVA and according calculations, such as normality and equal variance test. OriginLab was used for calculation of curve mean values with linear interpolation including standard deviation.

# 4 Results and discussion

# 4.1 Filling fats and oils in cocoa butter and chocolate

During chocolate production, filling fats and oils can unintentionally get into the chocolate (Rothkopf, Danzl, and Ziegleder 2016). These are named *initial oils and fats* and they might affect crystallization and the resistance against migration. Therefore the effect of fats and oils on cocoa butter crystallization was studied.

#### 4.1.1 Fat analysis

The composition of fatty acid (FA) and resulting triacylglyceride (TAG) in all used filling fats and oils as well as in cocoa butter and chocolate samples was determined. The FA composition of the added fats was determined as described in chap. 3.6.1 and results are given in tab. 4.1 for short chained FA and in tab. 4.2 for long chained FA.

Table 4.1: Fatty acid composition of coconut fat and butterfat from C4:0 to C14:0 in mg/g for three replicates as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation

fatty acid	butyric	caproic	caprylic	capric	lauric	myristic
	C 4:0	C 6:0	C 8:0	C 10:0	C 12:0	C 14:0
coconut fat	31 + 3	$7\pm1$	$82\pm7$	$62\pm 4$	$471\pm20$	$182\pm 5$
butterfat		20+1	13+1	$30\pm 2$	$36\pm3$	112+10

FA with a short carbon chain length of 4 to 14 C-atoms were only found in coconut fat and butterfat in detectable quantities. Butyric acid (C4:0) was only found in butterfat and lauric acid mainly in coconut fat. Myristic acid was noticeable in both fats. Butterfat and coconut fat show clear differences in FA composition.

The long chained FA, shown in tab. 4.2, of coconut fat and butterfat differ clearly from each other and from the investigated oils. The investigated oils contain similar amounts of palmitic and stearic acid, but differ clearly in oleic and linoleic acid content. Additionally,  $(121 \pm 1) \text{ mg/g}$  of linolenic acid (C18:3) were found in walnut oil.

sample	palmitic C16:0	stearic C18:0	oleic C18:1	linoleic C18:2	sum C4:0 to C18:2
almond oil	$57\pm1$	$17\pm1$	$665 \pm 3$	$252\pm1$	991
butterfat	$285\pm26$	$92\pm9$	$223\pm13$	$21\pm2$	863
coconut fat	$77\pm5$	$58 \pm 4$	$30\pm2$		969
hazelnut oil	$55\pm1$	$21\pm1$	$809\pm3$	$110\pm1$	995
olive oil	$102\pm6$	$27\pm1$	$770{\pm}16$	$66{\pm}11$	965
walnut oil	$68 \pm 1$	$28\pm1$	$171 \pm 1$	$607\pm2$	874
CB 01	$252\pm1$	$353\pm1$	$338 \pm 1$	$30{\pm}1$	973
CB 02	$255\pm1$	$360{\pm}1$	$334{\pm}1$	$27\pm1$	976
CB 03	$253\pm1$	$363 \pm 1$	$331 \pm 1$	$28\pm1$	975
CB 04	$259 \pm 1$	$356{\pm}1$	$333 \pm 1$	$28\pm1$	976
dark chocolate	$240 \pm 10$	$348 \pm 18$	$316 \pm 15$	$29 \pm 1$	933

Table 4.2: Fatty acid composition in mg/g for three replicates as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation and sum of means from C4:0 to C18:2

The long chained FA, palmitic, stearic, oleic and linoleic acid of dark chocolate and cocoa butter vary only slightly. The resulting TAG are shown in tab. 4.3 and 4.4.

Table 4.3: Main TAG of cocoa butter in mg/g based on total quantified TAG, three replicates as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (P:palmitic, S:stearic, O:oleic)

	POP	POS	SOS	sum
CB 01	$168 \pm 1$	$420\pm4$	$273 \pm 4$	861
CB 02	$172 \pm 1$	$429\pm1$	$278\pm2$	879
CB 03	$167 \pm 1$	$431\pm1$	$281\pm1$	879
CB 04	$178 \pm 1$	$429\pm3$	$269\pm3$	876

Due to the high number of possible TAG resulting from the FA found in the filling fats and oils, only the main TAG of the cocoa butter samples are given. The main TAG in all investigated cocoa butter samples are POP, POS and SOS. The minor TAG which could be identified were PLP, POO, SOO and SSS. Their amount varied only slightly.

#### 4.1.2 Crystallization of cocoa butter mixed with oils and fats

Crystallization of cocoa butter depends on the TAG composition. To investigate its influence, cocoa butter was mixed with vegetable oils and edible fats. In chocolate the presence of particles causes heterogeneous nucleation and the effect of TAG addition might vanish. Therefore, cocoa butter was used instead of chocolate in this study.

Cocoa butter CB 01 was mixed with vegetable oils with differing TAG composition as well as coconut fat and butterfat, which are partly solid at room temperature compared

Table 4.4: Minor TAG of cocoa butter in mg/g based on total quantified TAG, three replicates as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (P:palmitic, S:stearic, O:oleic, L:linoleic)

	PLP	POO	SOO	SSS
CB 01	$19\pm1$	$55\pm1$	$52\pm1$	$13\pm1$
CB 02	$18\pm1$	$48\pm1$	$41 \pm 1$	$14\pm1$
CB 03	$18\pm1$	$49{\pm}1$	$41\pm1$	$12\pm1$
$\mathrm{CB}~04$	$19\pm1$	$50\pm1$	$42\pm1$	$13\pm1$

to the vegetable oils. Adding edible fats to cocoa butter can cause co-crystallization and formation of crystallite composition. Butterfat is included in big amounts in milk chocolate, while coconut fat can be washed of from pastries during the enrobing process and is known to be incompatible to cocoa butter due to its high amount of lauric acid.

#### 4.1.2.1 Crystallization of cocoa butter mixed with oils measured by NMR

Crystallization was recorded by fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) measurements at  $19 \,^{\circ}$ C, as described in chap. 3.6.2.3. The influence of almond, hazelnut, olive and walnut oil addition was investigated at concentrations of  $50 \,\text{mg/g}$ ,  $100 \,\text{mg/g}$  and  $150 \,\text{mg/g}$  oil addition based on the weight of cocoa butter and is shown in fig. 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 in comparison to pure cocoa butter CB 01 as a reference.



Figure 4.1: NMR fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal crystallization at 19 °C of cocoa butter CB 01 (reference) and mixed with 50 mg/g almond (ao), hazelnut (hno), olive (oo) and walnut oil (wo) based on cocoa butter weight from three measurements each



Figure 4.2: NMR fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal crystallization at 19 °C of cocoa butter CB 01 (reference) and mixed with 100 mg/g almond (ao), hazelnut (hno), olive (oo) and walnut oil (wo) based on cocoa butter weight from three measurements each

Plotting solid fat content (SFC) over time during fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal NMR crystallization measurements at  $19\,^{\circ}$ C shows a sigmoid curve progression for pure cocoa butter CB 01 and for mixtures with different amounts of almond, hazelnut, olive and walnut oil. During the first 30 min of the crystallization process the oil addition leads to a lower SFC and a curve progression with less slope for all oils compared to the pure cocoa butter reference CB 01. 30 min after the start of the crystallization a kink can be seen, which appears at almost the same time for samples with almond, hazelnut and walnut oil addition. Adding olive oil to the cocoa butter leads to an earlier appearance of the kink. The further curve progression changes depending on the type and amount of oil. Walnut oil reduced the SFC increase the most for all concentrations. At 50 mg/g oil addition, hazelnut oil increases the SFC increase compared to the other oils and to pure cocoa butter. Curve progression after the first kink of samples with almond oil and olive oil addition of 50 mg/g are comparable to pure cocoa butter. Adding 100 mg/gshows a different trend for the investigated oils. Compared to pure cocoa butter the SFC increase after the kink is reduced least by olive oil, followed by hazelnut oil, almond oil and strongest reduction is caused by walnut oil. This trend can also be observed when 150 mg/g oil are added. However, the difference between the crystallization curves of one sample increases with such a high oil amount for all types of oil. At the end of the measuring time the SFC of all samples progresses towards a similar final SFC value independent of the type of oil.



Figure 4.3: NMR fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal crystallization at 19 °C of cocoa butter CB 01 (reference) and mixed with 150 mg/g almond (ao), hazelnut (hno), olive (oo) and walnut oil (wo) based on cocoa butter weight from three measurements each

#### 4.1.2.2 Crystallization of cocoa butter mixed with oils measured by DSC

The isothermal crystallization of cocoa butter and vegetable oil mixtures was also recorded by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) at 19 °C as described in chap. 3.6.3.2. The evaluated peak maximum time indicates the time for maximum crystallization rate and is shown in fig. 4.4.

The time to reach the peak maximum is longer for samples with added oils compared to pure cocoa butter. A longer time to reach the peak maximum indicates a retarded crystallization. However, the time extension depends on the type of oil. For oil addition of up to 100 mg/g the trend for almond oil, hazelnut oil and olive oil does not show significant differences. Walnut oil has the least retarding effect. At 150 mg/g almond oil addition, the peak maximum appears at an earlier time compared to samples with hazelnut oil and olive oil addition at the same concentration.

In addition to isothermal crystallization, cooling curves, as described in chap. 3.6.3.2 were recorded, where the samples were subject to a constant temporal temperature decrease. The results of the evaluated peak maximum temperatures are shown in fig. 4.5 during DSC cooling curves with a cooling rate of  $2^{\circ}C/min$  from  $40^{\circ}C$  to  $-10^{\circ}C$ .

The peak maximum temperature obtained via DSC cooling curves is reduced by oil addition. Mixtures with 150 mg/g walnut oil show a higher peak maximum temperature than samples with hazelnut oil. For the other oils and lower concentrations no clear trend can be observed.



Figure 4.4: DSC peak maximum time of isothermally crystallized CB 01 as a reference and mixed with oils, namely almond (ao), hazelnut (hno), olive (oo) and walnut oil (wo) at 19 °C as mean of four measurements with standard deviation



Figure 4.5: Peak maximum temperature of cooling curves measured via DSC with a cooling rate of  $2^{\circ}C/\min$  from  $40^{\circ}C$  to  $-10^{\circ}C$  for cocoa butter CB 01 as a reference and mixed with oils, namely almond (ao), hazelnut (hno), olive (oo) and walnut oil (wo) as mean of four measurements with standard deviation

#### 4.1.2.3 Solid fat content (SFC) of cocoa butter mixed with oils

To investigate the crystallization of different mixtures of TAG, CB 01 was mixed with vegetable oils, namely almond oil, hazelnut oil, olive oil and walnut oil. For SFC measurement the samples were prepared with  $\beta$ -stabilization and the measuring temperature was 20 °C as described in chap. 3.6.2.2. The SFC is shown in fig. 4.6 as well as the SFC as one would theoretically expect based purely on dilution. For the dilution it is assumed that both substances are completely miscible. The SFC of such a mixture of component A with  $SFC_A$  and component B with  $SFC_B$  and the mass fraction of  $w_B = m_B/m_{total}$  can be calculated using eq. 4.1.1. This results in a straight line between the SFC of the pure substances. The SFC of an oil is 0% per definition, which says that oils are totally liquid at room temperature.



$$SFC(w_B) = w_B \cdot SFC_B + (1 - w_B) \cdot SFC_A \tag{4.1.1}$$

Figure 4.6: SFC at 20 °C of reference CB 01 mixed with different oils, namely almond oil (ao), hazelnut oil (hno), olive oil (oo) and walnut oil (wo) and the SFC of the mixtures which would be expected by dilution

The addition of filling oils to cocoa butter causes a decrease of SFC, which is comparable to the decrease, which would be expected by dilution. The type of oil has no impact.

#### 4.1.2.4 Solid fat content (SFC) of cocoa butter mixed with fat

The SFC of cocoa butter mixed with coconut fat and butterfat is shown in fig. 4.7 as well as the SFC as one would theoretically expect based purely on dilution for each fat (see eq. 4.1.1). Samples were prepared with  $\beta$ -stabilization and the measuring temperature was 20 °C, as described in chap. 3.6.2.2.



Figure 4.7: SFC at 20 °C of CB 01 as a reference mixed with increasing amounts of butterfat (bf) and coconut fat (cnf) and the SFC which would be expected by dilution

The addition of butterfat and coconut fat to cocoa butter leads to a SFC reduction. However, the measured SFC is clearly lower than expected by dilution, with the biggest difference at concentrations of 0.50 g/g to 0.65 g/g.

#### 4.1.3 Discussion

**Fat analysis** The results of FA analysis showed similar values for all investigated fats and oils compared to literature. Differences might be caused by different measuring systems. Additionally the origin and variety is important.

The TAG composition was analyzed for cocoa butter samples only. The amount of the main TAG, namely POP, POS and SOS are comparable to literature. CB 01 showed higher amounts of SOO and POO compared to the other samples.

**Crystal growth** The main effects of vegetable oil addition on cocoa butter crystallization are observed for the phase of crystal growth. The main crystallization process includes crystal growth and crystal transition into more stable polymorphic forms. DSC cooling curves and isotherms show that vegetable oil addition causes lower temperatures of the peak maximum and longer times until the peak maximum is reached. Adding walnut oil has less effect on peak maximum temperature compared to the other oils. Fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal NMR crystallization curves show the opposite trend. This might be caused by the different stages of crystal growth, which can be observed by NMR. In DSC isothermal and cooling crystallization measurements the main peak is evaluated. It refers to the main crystallization, which is characterized by crystal transition of less into more stable polymorphic forms of cocoa butter crystals. In the NMR measurements the crystal formation (first increase of the SFC) as well as the main crystallization (second increase of SFC) can be observed and evaluated.

Fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal NMR crystallization measurements curve progression was shown to be related to different stages of crystal growth (Marangoni and McGauley 2003). During nucleation not enough crystals are formed to be detected. The first SFC increase is caused by growth of crystals in an unstable polymorph such as  $\alpha$  (Foubert, Dewettinck, Janssen, et al. 2006). The addition of vegetable oils leads to a lower SFC at the beginning of the measurement compared to pure cocoa butter, which indicates that a smaller crystalline fraction is formed. This can be observed independent of the type of oil. The crystallizing component in the mixture is cocoa butter. Thus, a dilution with oils, which are all liquid at measuring temperature, leads to a reduced amount of TAG that can crystallize including those which start crystallization. In fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal NMR measurements, the start of polymorphic transition can be recognized by the kink at which the slope of SFC over time increases. The kink appears at a lower SFC, but at the same measuring time, in samples with oil addition. This might be explained by the higher mobility, since the liquid TAG from the oil can act as a flow agent so that crystals are more mobile and the polymorphic transition starts earlier.

The formation and growth of instable crystals seems to be independent of the type of oil and is only affected by dilution. Subsequent polymorphic transition and maximum crystallization rate are decelerated by oils high in linoleic acid content such as walnut oil, followed by almond oil and are least affected by hazelnut and olive oil.

**Post-crystallization** Samples, investigated via fast, dynamic, quasi-isothermal NMR crystallization measurements proceed towards the same final value after 100 min measuring time, which confirms the results of SFC measurements with standardized sample preparation at 20 °C. Thus, the effects of different vegetable oils on crystal growth and polymorphic transition vanished during storage. Crystallization with standardized sample preparation (see chap. 3.6.2.2) can be seen as a reference measurement. The SFC with standardized sample preparation is not affected by different crystal growth rate or polymorphic transitions because it only refers to the sample composition. During the sample preparation instable crystals are melted and no further polymorphic transition from instable to stable forms occurs. Therefore, it can be concluded that the addition of vegetable oils causes a dilution that is directly proportional to the oil content.

The SFC measurements with standardized sample preparation of cocoa butter mixed with edible fats indicates the formation of a grain microstructure. Different crystals, starting from each component are formed and grow in the further course of cooling until they finally abut against each other. The SFC decreases much more than would be expected by sole dilution when increasing amounts of fat are added. Thus, the occurrence of an eutectic is likely. It can be identified at around 0.50 g/g for butterfat and 0.65 g/g for coconut fat addition. However, such high quantities are not relevant for production. **Summary** Adding fats or oils, especially those with a low SFC, influences the crystallization process in many ways. The main crystallizing TAG in cocoa butter are of the sat-O-sat type. TAG with the same structure and chain length will be incorporated into the crystal lattice completely and even TAG with similar structure such as triolein (OOO) can be incorporated in small amounts. If TAG with different structure

and chain length are added, they seem to reduce the probability that matching TAG collide and form a crystal.

Besides the different melting ranges for edible fats and vegetable oils, a difference in FA and resulting TAG composition can be found. While the vegetable oils contained more unsaturated FA, their chain length is comparable to those found in cocoa butter. In contrast butterfat and coconut fat contain high amounts of short and medium chained FA, such as myristic or lauric acid. From this follows that vegetable oils mainly cause a dilution effect independent from the type of oil, but also have an impact on crystal growth depending on the saturation degree, which differs between the oils. However, the chain length of FA also affects crystal growth and seems to have an even stronger effect than the degree of unsaturation.

Initial fats and oils, which can get into the chocolate during production alter its crystallization. This changed crystallization might have an impact on the migration and subsequent fat bloom formation, which will be addressed in the following chapters.

# 4.2 Filling fat and oil detection in dark chocolate

The results in this section have been partly published in I. Rothkopf, J. Kind, et al. (2017). "Impact of sample preparation on physical quantification of filling fats and oils in fresh and stored chocolate". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 117.8. IGF-Vorhaben (17548 N), p. 1600359. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201600359. For the quantification of the amount of migrated oil in chocolate, fast and efficient methods were needed to handle the sample amount. Thus physical and chemical methods were investigated and compared to find a suitable method.

#### 4.2.1 Use of solid fat content (SFC) for filling fat and oil detection

The solid fat content (SFC) reduction caused by filling fats and oils can be used to quantify their amount in chocolate. The SFC of dark chocolate mixed with hazelnut oil, coconut fat and butterfat measured directly after  $\beta$ -stabilization procedure and after further storage for 22 days at 20 °C as described in chap. 3.6.2.2 is shown in fig. 4.8.

For all added fats and oils, the SFC decreases almost linearly with the amount of added fat. The slope differs, when samples are measured directly after preparation: hazelnut oil causes the least, butterfat the strongest decrease. The SFC of the same samples after further storage at 20 °C for 22 days has increased in total as can be seen in fig. 4.8. Additionally, the different effects on the SFC of the three filling fats and oils vanished. Therefore the decision and determination limit was also calculated combined for all three fats and oils. Since the slope is decreasing, decision and determination limit, which are described in chap. 3.3.2, are given as absolute values in tab. 4.5.

The SFC decrease with increasing amounts of added oil differs for cocoa butter or chocolate as base of the mixture. SFC reduction of 1%(w/w) equals 10 mg/g oil addition in cocoa butter (see fig. 4.6), but only 5 mg/g oil addition in dark chocolate, which contained about 34%(w/w) cocoa butter (see fig. 4.8).



Figure 4.8: SFC of chocolate mixed with different amounts of hazelnut oil (hno), butterfat (bf) or coconut fat (cnf) related to whole sample amount, prepared with  $\beta$ -stabilization and measured immediately after preparation (day 0) and after 22 days storage at 20 °C

Table 4.5: Decision and determination limit with  $\alpha = 0.05$  of hazelnut oil, coconut fat and butterfat in chocolate in mg/g quantified by SFC via NMR

		decision limit	determination limit
day 0	hazelnut oil coconut fat butterfat	7 3 4	$29\pm10$ $12\pm4$ $14\pm5$ $40\pm16$
day 22	hazelnut oil coconut fat butterfat	$\begin{array}{c} 11\\ 3\\ 5\\ 4\\ 2\end{array}$	$ \begin{array}{r}                                 $

The SFC measurement was developed to investigate fats and oils. Thus, the other components in chocolate, such as sugar and fat free cocoa solids are not measured but the amount of filling fat or oil is based on the whole sample weight. Therefore, the differences of the amount of oil needed to lower the SFC by a certain value can be explained by the different fat content of the samples.

# 4.2.2 Fatty acid composition for quantification of filling oils and fats in chocolate

A typical method to investigate cocoa butter purity is chemical fatty acid (FA) or triacylglyceride (TAG) analysis. Cocoa butter with added fats and oils was analyzed. Fat and oil detection by FA analysis via gas chromatography (GC) is always based on the total fat amount, because the fat phase is dissolved in n-hexane while non-fat particles remain undissolved during sample preparation.

Using the ratio of two lead substance peak areas as suggested by Ziegleder, Moser, et al. 1996a eliminated shifts in the system. The lead substances should be chosen as follows: The first substance should be present in high amounts in the cocoa butter and low amounts in the filling fat or oil; the second should be vice versa. Stearic acid C18:0 was chosen as lead substance in cocoa butter and chocolate. For hazelnut oil the lead substance was oleic acid C18:1, for coconut fat it was lauric acid C12:0 and for butterfat butyric acid C4:0 as well as myristic acid C14:0 were used.

The ratio of the curve area of the chromatogram measured via GC of two FA, namely stearic C18 and oleic acid C18:1, was plotted against the mass fraction of hazelnut oil in chocolate that was set in the sample. The results are shown in fig. 4.9. Three samples were prepared per concentration and each measured in duplicate.



Figure 4.9: GC-FID calibration curve of hazelnut oil in dark chocolate as the ratio of the lead substances C18:0 for chocolate and C18:1 for hazelnut oil

The decision and determination limit was calculated as described in chap. 3.3.2 for each filling fat or oil as well as the correlation coefficient  $R^2$ , listed in tab. 4.6. These values were used to identify the most efficient method and to assure the reliability of the measured differences by these methods in chap. 4.3.

Table 4.6: Decision and determination limit with  $\alpha = 0.05$  of hazelnut oil, coconut fat and butterfat (lead substance in brackets) in dark chocolate (lead substance C18) in mg/g quantified by FA composition via GC with number of concentrations c and samples s for each concentration and correlation coefficient  $R^2$ calculated for the ratio of the lead substances to given concentration

	decision limit	determination limit	С	s	$R^2$
hazelnut oil (C18:1)	0.26	$0.91\pm0.30$	6	7	0.9976
coconut fat $(C12)$	0.03	$0.11\pm0.04$	6	7	0.9996
butterfat (C4)	1.333	$3.67 \pm 1.22$	3	4	0.9818
butterfat $(C14)$	0.19	$0.67\pm0.22$	6	6	0.9927

Butyric acid C4 is a lead substance for butterfat. However, it could only be detected in amounts higher than 4 mg/g sample. Therefore C14 was also used as a lead substance. To ensure applicability, mixtures of CB 01 and CB 03 with hazelnut oil were analyzed and results are shown in fig. 4.10. The regression is linear for both samples, but absolute values differ. This is caused by the varying concentration of the lead substance C18 in the cocoa butter samples. Thus, a new calibration is needed for every cocoa butter.



Figure 4.10: GC calibration curve of hazelnut oil in cocoa butter CB 01 and CB 03 The recovery rate (RR) from several measurements was calculated using eq. 3.3.1. The

amount of filling fats and oils was calculated using the calibration curves and compared to the given amount. Results are shown in fig. 4.11. The expected RR is 1 g/g. The RR was stable for amounts of 2 mg/g to 10 mg/g oil or fat in chocolate.



Figure 4.11: Recovery rate for GC-FID measurements with target recovery rate of 1 g/g

#### 4.2.3 Discussion

**Solid fat content (SFC)** Fillings for chocolate products are often soft and have a lower SFC than the firm chocolate to achieve an interesting texture. The SFC of a mixture of two substances with different SFC lies in between that of the pure substances, if no eutectic effects occur (Gordon et al. 1979; Hogenbirk 1984). Rothkopf and Danzl 2015 showed, that the SFC reducing effect is the same up to an amount of 0.5 g/g of added filling fat or oil. However, this could not be observed when samples were measured directly after sample preparation, but after several days of storage due to equilibration. During the fast crystallization of the chocolate, a fraction of TAG from the filling fats and oils might be integrated in the crystal lattice of the fat in chocolate (Rothkopf and Danzl 2015; Ziegleder, Geier-Greguska, et al. 1994). Since the investigated fats and oils show different compatibilities, their SFC reducing effect varies (Rothkopf and Danzl 2015). Regarding the progression over time post-crystallization can be observed (Strassbourg et al. 2006). Filling fats and oils seem to have an impact on this process.

The varying degrees of SFC reduction caused by different types of filling fats and oils level out during storage. This can also be seen regarding the decision and determination limit across all investigated fats and oils. This leads to the assumption that the filling fats and oils are disintegrated from the crystal lattice over time independently of their type, while TAG of the sat-O-sat-type are integrated. The SFC reduction caused by oil addition in cocoa butter compared to chocolate shown in chap. 4.1 in fig. 4.6, suggests

that the added oil only acts as a dilution agent. Therefore, this method can be used to detect and quantify vegetable oils in chocolate or cocoa butter.

Fatty acid composition determined by GC The reliability of chemical methods, such as GC measurements for FA detection was investigated by measuring calibration curves with given amounts of filling fats and oils. Therefore decision and determination limit were calculated using the ratio of lead substances to evaluate detectable and quantifiable amounts of filling fats and oils. The usage of the peak ratio of the lead substances showed linear, precise and reliable results for the GC method. Additionally, systemic fluctuations are reduced by regarding a peak ratio rather than by using absolute signals. However, the calculated detection and determination limits are only valid for the fats and oils used in this study. Fluctuation in fat composition affect detection and determination limits. A higher concentration of the lead substances will reduce both limits. On the other hand it was shown that the method is also valid for other mixtures, e.g. other cocoa butter samples. However, a calibration curve with defined mixtures must be recorded in advance and after each change in the apparatus.

**Comparison of physical and chemical methods** The detection of hazelnut oil in chocolate and cocoa butter is more accurate than that of butterfat and coconut fat. Therefore hazelnut oil will be used for the further experiments. It was also shown that chemical methods for detection were much more accurate and can already detect one tenth of the amount compared to physical methods. However, the effort for the chemical methods is much higher than for the physical detection methods. For this reason, physical methods will be used primarily for large sample quantities, while chemical methods will be used for high accuracy requirements.

# 4.3 Filling oil migration in chocolate

The migration mechanism of oil in chocolate is still not fully understood. Therefore, migration was measured in cylindrical model systems described in chap. 3.4.1. Both the continuous and the dispersed phase of the cylinders were varied by changing their composition. Chocolate and pure cocoa butter CB 04 as well as a mixture of both was investigated as the *basic experiment* to study the impact of particle amount. The variation of the amount of particles allows to distinguish between capillary flow along the particle surface and diffusion through the fat phase. An increase of migrated oil with increasing particle amount indicates capillary flow along the particle surface as the predominant mechanism, while decreased migration with increasing particle amount would indicate diffusion through the fat phase. The predominant polymorphic form in these samples was  $\beta_{\rm V}$  in the *basic experiment* and  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  in another sample set since the morphology of crystals in these polymorphic forms may affect migration. To further study the impact of the type of particle and their surface properties, cocoa butter was mixed with fat-free cocoa powder (D-00-ZR, ADM International Sarl, Rolle, Swiss) or finest sugar (SF0, Pfeifer & Langen, Cologne, Germany) and the particle surface properties were additionally changed by adding lecithin. The samples are listed in tab. 3.2. The migration rate depends on temperature, thus samples were stored at  $18\,^{\circ}C$ ,  $20\,^{\circ}C$  and  $23 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  and three slices of each 5 mm were investigated on migrated hazelnut oil amount by gas chromatography (GC) and nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) analysis. In general, it was observed that in some cases the nougat adhered to the bottom of the cylinders, which can be seen in fig. 4.12. Thus, the contact area and intensity might be different for each cylinder.



Figure 4.12: Picture of two cocoa butter, two chocolate and two 1:1-mixture cylinders (from left to right) with adherent nougat at the bottom (Sonnleitner 2016)

In cylinders made of cocoa butter with finest sugar and fat free cocoa powder, some white spots could be observed when cut in half, as shown in fig. 4.13.



Figure 4.13: Pictures of the sectional view of cylinders made of cocoa butter and mixtures with sugar (S) and cocoa powder (CP), S30\_CP0, S50\_CP0, S10\_CP20, S25\_CP25, S0\_CP30 and S0\_CP50 (from left to right) (Waldschütz 2016)

#### 4.3.1 Storage temperature, time and sampling

At first the impact of the storage temperature on the migration rate in the slices was investigated in cocoa butter CB 04 and pure chocolate. The amount of migrated hazelnut oil indicated by solid fat content (SFC) obtained via NMR is shown in fig. 4.14 for the bottom slice of cocoa butter stored at  $18 \,^{\circ}$ C,  $20 \,^{\circ}$ C and  $23 \,^{\circ}$ C.

The SFC, determined by NMR, increases during the first week of storage and decreases during further storage. Higher storage temperatures cause a stronger decrease of the SFC. The storage temperature affects the migration rate.

The SFC obtained via NMR (after 21 d storage) of the top, middle and bottom slices of a cocoa butter cylinder is shown in fig. 4.15. It can be seen, that the most changes occur in the bottom slice, while the middle and top slice are rarely affected.

#### 4.3.2 Basic experiment - chocolate and cocoa butter

To identify the migration mechanism the particle amount in the samples was varied by comparing cocoa butter without particles to chocolate with about 0.66 g/g particles and



Figure 4.14: SFC of the bottom slice of cocoa butter model cylinders stored at 18 °C, 20 °C and 23 °C, determined by NMR analysis after sample preparation with  $\beta$ -stabilization and 21 d storage at 20 °C determined in duplicate



Figure 4.15: SFC of the bottom, middle and top slices of cocoa butter model cylinders stored at 23 °C, determined by NMR after sample preparation with  $\beta$ -stabilization and 21 d storage at 20 °C determined in duplicate

a 1:1 mixture of both with about 0.33 g/g particles. Results are shown in fig. 4.16a and fig. 4.16b for GC and NMR analysis, respectively.



Figure 4.16: SFC and amount of hazelnut oil that migrated into the bottom slice of basic experiment dark chocolate, cocoa butter and 1:1 mixture model cylinders stored at 23 °C, determined by GC analysis in triplicate and by NMR analysis after sample preparation with  $\beta$ -stabilization and 21 d storage at 20 °C determined in duplicate

The comparison of chocolate, cocoa butter and the 1:1 mixture of both shows an increasing hazelnut oil content with increasing particle amount determined by GC. The change of SFC during storage is almost the same for all samples. However, the chocolate sample after 8 weeks storage shows an outlier for both methods. Comparing chocolate and cocoa butter, the hazelnut oil content based on the fat phase is much higher in chocolate than in cocoa butter. Along with this the SFC reduction in chocolate is bigger than in cocoa butter. Additionally, the SFC decrease is more pronounced with longer storage time.

#### 4.3.3 Dispersed phase - variation of type and amount of particles

Sugar and cocoa particles show differences in hydrophobicity, porosity and surface roughness. To study the impact of particles, model systems with fat-free cocoa powder (D-00-ZR, ADM International Sarl, Rolle, Swiss) and finest sugar (SF0, Pfeifer & Langen, Cologne, Germany) in cocoa butter were prepared. The particle size, Brunauer Emmett Teller (BET)-surface and free liquid fat content were determined and migration trials were performed. The impact of lecithin was also investigated, because most chocolates are produced with lecithin.

#### 4.3.3.1 Particle size distribution and BET-surface

The circle equivalent (CE) diameter and volume based particle density distribution of fat free cocoa powder and finest sugar measured as described in chap. 3.6.5, are shown in fig. 4.17.

The particle size distribution of the finest sugar is narrower than that of the cocoa powder, which means that the sugar contains fewer very small and very big particles. Both show a maximum just below 20 µm. The particles were measured in a wet cell with oil. Therefore, agglomeration of the particles might occur, which is more likely to happen for sugar due to the hydrophilic particle surface (Tscheuschner and Markov 1989). The optical measuring system allowed to visually look at the particles identified by the system and differ between agglomerates and particles. This makes it possible to exclude agglomerates for the particle size evaluation.



Figure 4.17: CE diameter and volume based particle density distribution  $q_3$  of fat free coccoa powder and finest sugar

The externally measured BET-surface (see chap. 3.6.6) of fat free cocoa powder (D-00-ZR, ADM International Sarl, Rolle, Swiss) is  $3.805 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$  and  $0.722 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$  for finest sugar (SF0, Pfeifer & Langen, Cologne, Germany). The specific surface of cocoa particles is more than 5 times bigger than that of the sugar particles. Thus, the resulting surface area of the particles present in the mixtures can be calculated and is shown in tab. 4.7. The comparable particle size distribution and the huge differences in BET-surface confirm that sugar has a smooth surface while the cocoa particles have a rougher surface with pores, which was also found by Do et al. 2011.

model system	$\frac{sugar}{[g/g]}$	cocoa powder [g/g]	$\begin{array}{c} \text{BET-surface} \\ \text{[m^2/g]} \end{array}$
S30_CP0	0.30	0.0	0.2166
$S50\_CP0$	0.50	0.0	0.361
$S10\_CP20$	0.10	0.20	0.8332
$S25\_CP25$	0.25	0.25	1.1318
$S0\_CP30$	0	0.30	1.1415
$S0\_CP50$	0	0.50	1.9025

Table 4.7: Increasing BET-surface of particles in cocoa butter mixed with different amounts of finest sugar (S) and fat-free cocoa powder (CP)

#### 4.3.3.2 Free fat

The amount of free fat was determined as described in chap. 3.6.4 with a centrifuge and is shown in fig. 4.18. Samples are sorted according to their particles BET-surface area.

The particle type, the specific particles surface, the size of the particles and the amount of lecithin is of importance for the free fat content (Tscheuschner and Markov 1989). For the model systems with 0.5 g/g particles, namely S50\_CP0, S25\_CP25, S0\_CP50, a decrease in free fat with increasing BET-surface area of the particles in the sample can be observed. This is also the case for model systems with 0.3 g/g particles, namely S30\_CP0, S10\_CP20, S0\_CP30. However, the model systems with 0.3 g/g particles show an overall higher amount of free fat compared to the model systems with 0.5 g/g particles. The impact of lecithin was only significant for S50\_CP0 and S0\_CP30.

The particle size distribution and BET-surface area are supposed to have an impact on the free fat amount. However, the mixtures S25 CP25 and S0 CP30 show almost the same BET-surface area and have comparable particle size distributions, but show different free fat amounts. Thus, the particle amount, particle-particle and particleliquid interaction and surface charge seem to affect the free fat amount determined by centrifuging. Comparing the samples with  $0.5 \,\mathrm{g/g}$  particles, a decrease of free fat with increasing BET-surface can be observed. The samples with higher amounts of cocoa powder have a lower fraction of free fat, which can be explained by the higher surface area. However, the increase in free fat with increasing cocoa powder amount cannot be fully explained by the increase in BET-surface. The BET-surface area in sample S0 CP50 is five times larger than that of S50 CP0, while the free fat amount is only two and a half times lower. This may be explained by pores in which the fat is trapped (Do et al. 2011). Additionally the fat might be stronger bound to the lipophilic cocoa powder surface than to the hydrophilic sugar surface. The same can be observed for samples with  $0.3 \,\mathrm{g/g}$  particles, but to a lesser extent. The free fat content of around  $0.6 \,\mathrm{g/g}$  to  $0.8 \,\mathrm{g/g}$  is high and the difference in cocoa particle amount is small.

The difference of samples with 0.3 g/g and 0.5 g/g particles might be caused by particle interaction. Beside the fat binding properties of cocoa powder, agglomeration of



Figure 4.18: Free fat based on fat content of cocoa butter, sugar and cocoa powder mixtures, according to tab. 3.2 with 5 mg/g or without lecithin determined by centrifuge, sorted according to BET-surface

the hydrophilic sugar particles in the lipophilic continuous cocoa butter might occur. In these agglomerates cocoa butter can be enclosed (Tscheuschner and Markov 1989; Tscheuschner 1993).

The effect of the addition of lecithin on free fat content was investigated to ensure the comparability of the model systems and chocolate, which often contains lecithin. However, lecithin addition only had a small impact on the free fat content.

#### 4.3.3.3 Migration trials with varied type and amount of particles

The results of the migration trials are shown in fig. 4.19 and fig. 4.20 for GC and NMR analysis, respectively. The values of the cylinder model of pure CB 04 , already shown in fig. 4.14 for storage at  $23 \,^{\circ}$ C are included as a reference.

The GC analysis shows that the most hazelnut oil migrated in pure cocoa butter. The least amounts of hazelnut oil were found in model systems with only sugar or only cocoa powder. The hazelnut oil migration in model systems with a mixture of sugar and cocoa powder particles is in between pure cocoa butter and the model system with one type of particle. In model system cylinders with 0.5 g/g particles less hazelnut oil was detected than in model systems with 0.3 g/g particles. Migration during storage is also affected by the amount of particles.

NMR analysis also showed that the SFC of pure cocoa butter was reduced the most compared to the other samples. For the particle containing model systems no clear



Figure 4.19: Amount of hazelnut oil in mg/g based on fat content that migrated into the bottom slice of the cocoa butter CB 04 model cylinders with different amounts of sugar and fat-free cocoa powder particles, according to tab. 3.2, stored at 23 °C, determined by GC analysis in triplicate



Figure 4.20: SFC of the bottom slice of cocoa butter CB 04 model cylinders with different amounts of sugar and fat-free cocoa powder particles, according to tab. 3.2, stored at 23 °C, determined by NMR analysis after sample preparation with  $\beta$ -stabilization and 21 d storage at 20 °C determined in duplicate

trend could be observed due to high standard deviation. The SFC of samples with 0.3 g/g particles was reduced to a lower amount than the SFC of model systems with 0.5 g/g particles.

### 4.3.4 Changed particle surface properties by adding lecithin

Particle surface properties are affected by the type of particles, but can also be modified by adding lecithin, which is usually done in chocolate. Lecithin is known to accumulate on the surface of sugar particles and interact with the surrounding cocoa butter. Thus, the proportion of bound fat in a cocoa butter-sugar dispersion can be increased by lecithin (Middendorf et al. 2016). Lecithin might also bind migrating oil to the sugar surface. For this reason it was added to the model cylinders and migration was investigated. Results are shown in fig. 4.21 and fig. 4.22 for GC and NMR measurements, respectively.



Figure 4.21: Amount of hazelnut oil that migrated into the bottom slice of cocoa butter CB 04 model cylinders with different amounts of sugar and fat-free cocoa powder and with 5 mg/g lecithin stored at 23 °C, determined by GC analysis in triplicate

Compared to model cylinders without lecithin migration detected via GC is slightly decreased for model cylinders with sugar or with a mixture of sugar and cocoa powder. Model cylinders with cocoa powder and lecithin had higher amounts of hazelnut oil compared to cylinders without lecithin. However, the differences are not significant. SFC values determined via NMR showed less standard deviation for model cylinders with lecithin compared to cylinders without lecithin. For systems with 0.3 g/g particles there is no clear trend with regard to the type of particles. In comparison, model cylinder systems with 0.5 g/g particles showed stronger SFC reduction. In these model cylinder systems the SFC of cocoa butter with cocoa powder S0\_CP50\_LE is least reduced, followed by S25\_CP25\_LE and S50\_CP0\_LE, which show comparable SFC reduction



Figure 4.22: SFC of the bottom slice of cocoa butter model cylinders with different amounts of sugar and fat-free cocoa powder with 5 mg/g lecithin stored at  $23 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ , determined by NMR analysis after sample preparation with  $\beta$ -stabilization and 21 d storage at 20  $^{\circ}\text{C}$  in duplicate

and pure cocoa butter showed strongest SFC reduction during storage time.

#### 4.3.5 Impact of cocoa butter polymorphism

K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007 reported, that migrating hazelnut oil accelerates the polymorphic transition of cocoa butter. It is yet unclear how the polymorphic transition affects migration. Therefore the basic experimental set up was repeated with cylinders, that were stored at 27 °C to force polymorphic transition. The transition from  $\beta_{\rm V}$  to  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  was investigated by differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) melting curves. While it took about 76 d for dark chocolate to transform into  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  polymorph, the polymorphic state in cocoa butter was changed after 21 d and the 1:1 mixture was completely transformed in the  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  polymorph after 28 d. After these time periods the cylinders were placed on the nougat base and stored at 18 °C, 20 °C and 23 °C. Results are shown in fig. 4.23 for GC analysis and in fig. 4.24 for NMR measurements.

During the storage of the cylinders on the nougat a softening and swelling of the cylinders was observed. This resulted in sampling difficulties and high standard deviation. Therefore the results of the middle slice are also shown. It can be seen that samples with increasing particle amount show increased values of hazelnut oil determined by GC. Moreover, the amount of migrated hazelnut oil is much higher in samples in  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  state than for those in  $\beta_{\rm V}$  state (shown in fig. 4.16). The SFC determined by NMR shows a similar trend. With increasing particle amount the SFC is more reduced. The SFC reduction caused by added hazelnut oil is twice as high for chocolate as for cocoa butter (shown in chap. 4.2).



Figure 4.23: Amount of hazelnut oil that migrated into the bottom and middle slices of dark chocolate, cocoa butter and 1:1 mixture model cylinders in  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  polymorphic form stored at 23 °C, determined by GC analysis in triplicate



Figure 4.24: SFC of the bottom and middle slices of dark chocolate, cocoa butter and 1:1 mixture model cylinders in  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  polymorphic form stored at 23 °C, determined by NMR analysis after sample preparation with  $\beta$ -stabilization and 21 d storage at 20 °C determined in duplicate

#### 4.3.6 Discussion

**Storage conditions** For all systems it was confirmed that the amount of migrated hazelnut oil increased with higher storage temperatures and longer storage times, which was also described by other authors (Ali et al. 2001; Choi, K. L. McCarthy, and M. J. McCarthy 2005; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015b; Khan and Rousseau 2006; Miquel et al. 2001). A higher amount of the fat phase is liquid at higher temperatures and diffusion of the oil from the nougat base into the liquid fatty phase of the cylinder might occur. The viscosity is also decreased at higher temperatures, which increases the diffusion rate as well as capillary flow and results in a higher migration rate (Ziegleder, Moser, et al. 1996b). The migrated amount of oil is lower with increasing distance to the nougat base. The thickness of each slice was 5 mm, which shows that the hazelnut oil migrates only a few mm during the storage time of 12 weeks.

The migration in dependency of distance was also investigated within distances of 0 mm to 2.5 mm (Adenier et al. 1993; Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015b; K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007; Marty, Baker, et al. 2005; Svanberg et al. 2011a). However, Marty, Baker, et al. 2005 also found an exponential decrease in the amount of migrated fat for up to 7 mm from the filling oil base.

**Basic experiment - chocolate and cocoa butter** The migration mechanism in chocolate is still not fully understood. Thus, a model system with different amounts of particles was used. Diffusion through the fat phase is faster in pure cocoa butter due to less tortuosity. Migration caused by capillary flow through pores or along the particle surface is accelerated by the presence of particles in the sample, as was expected.

The particle amount in the model systems of the basic experiment can be estimated by the fat content. The dark chocolate contains around 0.34 g/g fat and results in 0.66 g/g particles. Thus, the 1:1 mixture of chocolate and cocoa butter contains 0.33 g/g particles. The amount of migrated hazelnut oil was slightly higher in the dark chocolate samples than in the mixture and in the pure cocoa butter. Thus migration along the particles seems to be the transport mechanism (Aguilera et al. 2004). However, the higher amount of migrated hazelnut oil is not directly proportional to the amount of particles in the sample. This leads to the assumption that a minimum particle amount is needed, so that the particles can interact and form a network. Additionally, the particles themselves can be regarded as a porous network, which enables hazelnut oil migration (Aguilera et al. 2004). However, it has to be considered that the SFC reduction detected by NMR, which was caused by hazelnut oil, is half for cocoa butter compared to chocolate, as was described in chap. 4.2.1.

**Dispersed phase - variation of type and amount of particles** Chocolate contains sugar as well as cocoa particles and the impact on migration might be different. Sugar crystals have a smooth surface and dense structure without pores, while cocoa particles are highly porous and have a rough surface (Do et al. 2011). Thus model systems with a mixture of cocoa butter with fat-free cocoa powder or finest sugar were used to study the impact of particle type. The total and individual amount of particles was also varied and pure cocoa butter was used as a reference.

In contrast to the experiments with chocolate and cocoa butter mixtures, pure cocoa

butter showed the highest amount of migrated hazelnut oil, while samples with particles contained lower amounts of migrated hazelnut oil. This was also observed by Dahlenborg, Millqvist-Fureby, et al. 2015b. The results of the experiments with samples made of cocoa butter with added fat-free cocoa powder or finest sugar lead to the assumption that migration can be described by diffusion through the fat phase. Due to the particles, a higher tortuosity is expected, which extends the migration path (Galdámez et al. 2009; Ghosh et al. 2002; Motwani et al. 2011). The slices in this study might have been too thick to see this effect and the surplus slice leads to a dilution of the migrated hazelnut oil. A thick slice with a high amount of hazelnut oil in the lower part might result in the same amount of migrated hazelnut oil as a slice with the same thickness and an equally distributed low amount of hazelnut oil in the whole slice.

The increased hazelnut oil migration rate is not proportional to the larger particle surface area. This was suggested due to the higher oil binding capacity of an enlarged surface and the differences in hydrophobic surface properties of sugar and cocoa powder. The particle size distribution might also be important, because smaller particles can fill up the space between the bigger particles, which causes a denser packaging (Hartel 1999). **Changed particle surface properties by adding lecithin** The migration rate for samples with lecithin addition were not significantly different due to the high standard deviation. The tendency of slightly increased migration rates for sample mixtures with sugar indicate an effect on samples with particles with lipophobic surface properties.

Lecithin might help to break up agglomerates and increases the interaction of sugar and

fat at the surface (Greiner et al. 2014; Timms 2002). However, the effect is very low. **Impact of cocoa butter polymorphism** An interference of altered crystallization and changed migration caused by particle addition might be the reason for contradictory findings in literature and in this study compared to literature (Reinke, Hauf, et al. 2015; Rousseau and P. Smith 2008; Sonwai and Rousseau 2006; Deka et al. 2006). Another possibility is a different sample treatment, such as deareation by vibration or particle treatment. However, an altered crystallization and migration affect the microstructure of a system. Cocoa butter forms a porous network during cooling due to contraction (Lee et al. 2010). This is especially the case if a polymorphic transition occurs (Lovegren and Feuge 1965; Svanberg et al. 2011a).

The samples were stored at elevated temperatures during preparation to accelerate the polymorphic transition from  $\beta_{\rm V}$  to  $\beta_{\rm VI}$ . It took longer for the dark chocolate to transform into  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  than it took for the 1:1 cocoa-butter-chocolate-mixture and the pure cocoa butter. This was also observed for  $\beta'_{\rm III}$  to  $\beta_{\rm V}$  transition by Ziegleder and Kegel 1989. Particles might not only influence the migration, but also the polymorphic transition. The migration rate in all samples with  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  was higher than in the samples with  $\beta_{\rm V}$  crystals, independent from the particle amount. However, the polymorphic form might not be the sole reason but also the accompanying structural changes. Latent heat is released during the polymorphic transition and smaller crystals melt, which results in Ostwald ripening. Additionally  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  has a denser structure than  $\beta_{\rm V}$  and the crystal lattice contracts. This can cause cracks and crevices, which creates pores that allow capillary flow. These cracks were found by Reinke, Wilde, et al. 2015 using synchrotron x-ray micro-

tomography, as images with a light microscope are not possible due to the dark color. Reinke, Hauf, et al. 2015 assumed that migration occurs through these pores in the beginning followed by diffusion through the fat phase. Additionally  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  shows needle like crystals while  $\beta_{\rm V}$  has nearly spherical ones (Arishima and Sato 1989). The hazelnut oil might easily migrate along the needle shaped crystals without steric hindrance.

However, it remains unclear if the increased migration rate in samples with  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  crystal form is caused by the polymorphic transition or by the accompanying structural changes. This might only be clarified if samples can be directly crystallized from the melt in form  $\beta_{\rm VI}$ , which could not be done until today van Malssen, Langevelde, et al. 1999.

**General conclusion** Migration in chocolate is affected by the properties of all components. The crystal structure of cocoa butter depends on the chemical composition, the tempering process and further sample treatment such as cooling. Particles also have an impact on cocoa butter crystal structure and additionally affect migration due to their particle size, surface properties and porosity. Additionally, sample processing, such as grinding or conching, seems to have an impact and will be subject to ongoing research.

# 4.4 Filled chocolates

The interaction of migration and crystallization may occur during production and storage. In the following the effects of storage conditions, production parameters and initial hazelnut oil on migration, crystallization and fat bloom development during storage will be shown. For the experiments *pralines* (filled chocolate) as well as *shells* (only chocolate without filling) were produced and stored. For some measurements the filling had to be removed from the pralines and only the *emptied shells* are measured.

#### 4.4.1 Storage tests

The shelf life of filled chocolates is mainly limited by physical changes such as softening of the chocolate shell or fat bloom formation. However, these changes do not occur immediately after production, but during storage. Thus, optimal storage conditions for accelerated storage tests had to be identified by storage tests with temperature variation. Dark chocolate pralines with nougat filling as well as pure shells without filling were stored isothermally and at cycling storage temperature. The solid fat content (SFC) was analyzed as an indicator for the amount of migrated hazelnut oil from the filling (see chap. 3.6.2) and the Whiteness Index (WI) was used as an indicator for fat bloom formation (as described in chap. 3.6.7).

#### 4.4.1.1 Solid fat content (SFC) as indicator for migrated oil in stored pralines

The SFC can be used as an indicator for migrated hazelnut oil, as shown in chap. 4.2. The SFC of emptied chocolate shells, which were separated from the nougat after storage, is shown in fig. 4.25 for isothermally stored pralines and in fig. 4.26 for pralines, which were subject to cycling storage temperatures.



Figure 4.25: SFC over time of emptied chocolate shells obtained from isothermally stored pralines



Figure 4.26: SFC over time of emptied chocolate shells obtained from pralines subjected to cycling temperature storage

Rising isothermal storage temperature leads to a faster decrease of SFC over time, as can be seen in fig. 4.25. In contrast, the SFC decrease is independent from the starting cycling temperature and cycling frequency after storage for 21 d, which is shown in fig. 4.26. The SFC of emptied chocolate shells from pralines stored at 25.5 °C for 3 d followed by storage at 18 °C for further 3 d was noticeably low. This SFC was even lower than the SFC of emptied shells from pralines, which were stored isothermally at 27 °C. The SFC of emptied chocolate shells obtained from pralines after 28 d storage can be seen in fig. 4.27. The SFC of emptied chocolate shells from pralines, which were stored at corresponding isothermal temperatures, namely 18.0 °C and 25.5 °C.



Figure 4.27: SFC of emptied chocolate shells obtained from pralines, which were subject to isothermal or cycling storage with intervals of 3 d and 7 d for 28 d in total

#### 4.4.1.2 Whiteness index (WI) as indicator for fat bloom formation

The WI can be used as indicator for fat bloom formation, as described in chap. 3.6.7 and shown by Schütz et al. 2016. Fig. 4.28a and 4.28b show the WI increase over time for filled pralines and chocolate shells stored at isothermal temperatures.

It can be seen that WI increase of samples starts earlier at higher storage temperatures. In contrast, WI after 98 d storage is highest for filled pralines stored at 23 °C. Chocolate shells also show a WI increase during storage, especially at higher temperatures. The picture of a filled praline after 98 d storage, shown in fig. 4.29, suggests that the WI increase of filled pralines stored at high temperatures is not only an indicator for fat



Figure 4.28: WI of isothermally stored filled pralines and chocolate shells in dependency of storage time

bloom, but also for color change. The filled praline, which was stored at  $20 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  shows a whitish, rough surface with a typical fat bloom pattern. The praline stored at  $27 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  shows a yellowish color with a regular and smooth looking surface. This means that the WI is an indicator for fat bloom, but an additional visual assessment is necessary.



Figure 4.29: View of the top of a fresh praline and after 98 d isothermal storage at 20  $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$  and 27  $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ 

Pralines stored at cycling temperatures show alternating high-low or 'zig-zag' curve progression of the WI during storage of the samples, which can be seen in fig. 4.30a for filled pralines and in fig. 4.30b for chocolate shells. This is in contrast to the continuous curve progression, which was observed for isothermally stored filled pralines. The starting temperature of pralines subjected to cycling temperature storage had an impact on the start of the WI increase. Filled pralines, which were first stored at the higher temperature showed an earlier WI increase. Regarding the cycling frequency, filled pralines with weekly cycling interval reached higher WI values after two to three weeks of storage than those treated with a cycling interval of 3 d.



Figure 4.30: WI of filled pralines and chocolate shells, which were subject to cycling temperature storage in dependency of starting temperature, second temperature, cycling frequency in days and storage time

#### 4.4.1.3 Discussion

Isothermal storage of filled chocolate products at high temperatures is an easy and defined way for accelerated storage tests. However, the optimum temperature for fat bloom formation has to be identified. Storing at too high temperatures facilitates fast oil migration from the filling into the shell. At the same time, high temperatures impede fat crystallization at the surface. In contrast the crystallization intensity is higher at lower temperatures, while the oil migration rate from the filling into the shell is low (Ziegleder and Schwingshandl 1999).

SFC decreases linearly with an increasing amount of hazelnut oil in chocolate (see chap. 4.8). The results show that SFC of emptied shells decreases during storage for all pralines (see fig. 4.25 and 4.26), which confirms that the amount of hazelnut oil increases. With isothermal storage at  $25.5 \,^{\circ}$ C and  $27.0 \,^{\circ}$ C, saturation relative to concentration is reached after about 30 d, while for pralines stored at lower temperatures further migration can be assumed (see fig. 4.25). Reaching saturation at cycling temperature storage takes more than 40 d (see fig. 4.26).

The mean storage temperature of cycling storage is 21.75 °C, which was none of the isothermal storage temperatures but is in between 20.0 °C and 23.0 °C. However, the SFC decrease of emptied shells from pralines, which were subject to cycling storage temperatures is much stronger than that of pralines subjected to isothermal storage at 20.0 °C or 23.0 °C. This could be caused by the negative-exponential dependence of

migration and storage temperature. The low migration rate during storage at the lower cycling storage temperature cannot compensate the high migration rate at the higher storage temperature.

The noticeably low SFC of emptied shells from pralines subjected to cycling storage temperatures, as can be seen in fig. 4.26, which were first stored at 25.5 °C for 3 d, indicates that additional changes occur. During the first high-temperature storage period, a high amount of hazelnut oil migrated, which softens the chocolate shell and might reduced resistance to further migration. During the second low temperature storage period, the previously melted fat in the sample can crystallize again. During this recrystallization, capillaries may form which facilitate further migration.

Crystallization is promoted at lower temperatures in the range of  $15 \,^{\circ}$ C to  $18 \,^{\circ}$ C, especially in the presence of crystals which can act as nuclei (Zeng 2000). This also occurs at the praline surface and the formed crystals become visible as fat bloom.

Fat bloom is indicated by a WI increase during storage, which starts earlier for pralines stored at higher isothermal temperatures. For low storage temperatures a decrease of the WI can be observed in the beginning (see fig. 4.28). This is caused by a loss of gloss. Due to the glossy surface, light is reflected and captured as white spots on the surface. These spots increase the lightness ( $L^*$ -value) of the whole sample. After a few weeks of storage at low temperatures the pralines turn matte and the light is not reflected any more, resulting in a lower  $L^*$ -value and thus in a lower WI (Briones and Aguilera 2005; Ziegleder and Mikle 1995b). At storage temperatures of 23 °C and above the fat bloom formation was too fast to observe this decrease and the WI increase started immediately. The WI increase of pralines stored at 25.5 °C and above was also observed in chocolate shells but to a lesser extent, as can be seen in fig. 4.28b. Thus the increased WI at higher storage temperatures might not only be caused by fat bloom formation but also by a color change of the chocolate (Briones and Aguilera 2005).

Even though the WI is affected by color change, it is much more effective for fat bloom evaluation than a panel. The costs are lower and the pictures can be evaluated using different criteria even after the storage test has ended. Additionally the constant lighting conditions reduce the deviation of the results.

For choosing an accelerated storage test several parameters have to be taken into account. Temperatures during storage and distribution might fluctuate and cycling storage tests seem close to reality. Yet cycling during distribution and storage includes a smaller temperature range and lower overall temperatures than tested in scientific studies. Independent of real conditions the results indicate, that even short temperature peaks cause earlier fat bloom. Cycling temperature storage at adequate levels includes the optimum temperature range for fat bloom formation, but takes crystallization and migration influence in unequal account and further structural changes cannot be excluded.

Isothermal storage and a maximum temperature are the target of most storage agreements. An accelerated storage test at isothermal conditions causes fast fat bloom formation and provides further information: relationship between temperature change, migration and crystallization can be described mathematically. However, several isothermal temperatures have to be investigated to find the optimum for fast fat bloom formation.

#### 4.4.2 Simulating mixing during production

As was described by Rothkopf, Danzl, and Ziegleder 2016 filling fats and oils can be mixed into the chocolate during production unintentionally. A model system was used to study the effects of initial hazelnut oil in chocolate. For this purpose dark chocolate was mixed with hazelnut oil and cold stamping was used to produce praline shells which were filled with nougat and stored at different temperatures.

#### 4.4.2.1 Observations during production

For praline production chocolate with initial hazelnut oil had to be tempered with a target temper index (TI) of 5.0, which is the optimum for standard dark chocolate according to industry. The supercooling temperature had to be reduced with increasing hazelnut oil content as known from experience. At the same time reaching the target TI of 5.0 measured using a Bühler MultiTherm<sup>TM</sup> and Sollich Tempermeter E4 became more difficult. The achieved TI and the corresponding supercooling temperature in the tempering machine can be seen in fig. 4.31a and fig. 4.31b.



Figure 4.31: Supercooling temperature and Temper Index (TI) measured using Bühler MultiTherm<sup>TM</sup>and Sollich Tempermeter E4 in dependency of initial hazelnut oil in dark chocolate

#### 4.4.2.2 Migration during storage

Hazelnut oil migration from the nougat filling into the shell chocolate was calculated by using the SFC measured via nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) with structure preservation as described in chap. 3.6.2.1. The SFC during storage at 18 °C, 20 °C and 23 °C is shown in fig. 4.32 for each initial hazelnut oil concentration.

It can be seen that the SFC decreases faster at higher temperatures. The SFC of emptied shells from pralines stored at 23 °C proceeds towards saturation after about


Figure 4.32: SFC of emptied chocolate shells obtained from pralines stored at 18 °C, 20 °C and 23 °C and in dependency of the initial fraction of hazelnut oil

50 d of storage, while the SFC of emptied shells from pralines stored at  $20 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  reaches saturation after around 200 d of storage and for emptied shells from pralines stored at  $18 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$  saturation was not reached during storage time.

There is a difference in the starting value of the SFC, which is lower in samples with a higher amount of initial hazelnut oil. This difference is constant during storage and corresponds to the reduction caused by hazelnut oil addition found in chap. 4.2.1. To visualize the impact of initial hazelnut oil on migration, the difference in the starting value was eliminated by using the  $\Delta$ SFC, which is the difference between the SFC at storing time t and SFC<sub>start</sub> at the beginning of storage (t = 0), as shown in eg. 4.4.1.

$$\Delta SFC(t) = SFC_{start} - SFC(t) \tag{4.4.1}$$

The  $\Delta$ SFC over time is shown in fig. 4.33 for pralines with increasing amounts of hazelnut oil stored at 18 °C.

The  $\Delta$ SFC increases during storage. The curve progression is steeper at short storage times and proceeds towards a first plateau at around 100 d of storage. After this period a steep increase of the  $\Delta$ SFC can be observed, which indicates swelling. Thus, only the storage of up to 100 d was regarded, which is enlarged in fig. 4.33b.

It was assumed that a) the amount of migrated oil is similar for all samples at the end of the migration process, because the amount of filling and chocolate are the same, b) the specific length  $l = \frac{A}{V}$  (see chap. 2.4.1) equals the shell thickness of l = 3 mm, c) the shell thickness is constant for all samples and d) according to chap. 4.2.1 a  $\Delta$ SFC of 1 % (w/w) equals 5 mg/g oil in chocolate. The simplification of the solution of the second Fickian law, given in eq. 2.4.1, can than be written as eq. 4.4.2

$$m(t) = \frac{1}{l} \cdot \sqrt{D_{eff} \cdot t} \tag{4.4.2}$$

The linearization is plotted in fig. 4.34. A linear fitting was applied for the first 25 d of storage, shown in fig. 4.33c, because the migrated amount in the beginning is proportional to the square root of time.

The resulting slope of the linearization  $m_{lin} = \frac{\Delta m_t}{\Delta \sqrt{t}}$  can be used to calculate  $D_{eff}$  as shown in eq. 4.4.3.

$$D_{eff} = \left(\frac{\Delta m_t}{\Delta \sqrt{t}} \cdot l\right)^2 \tag{4.4.3}$$

The values for  $D_{eff}$  for hazelnut oil migration in dark chocolate stored at 18 °C are listed in tab. 4.8. The  $D_{eff}$  for an initial fraction of hazelnut oil of 50 mg/g was regarded as an outlier. For the other concentrations, the resulting  $D_{eff}$  increases with higher amounts of initial hazelnut oil.

#### 4.4.2.3 Polymorphic changes during storage

Hazelnut oil accelerates polymorphic transition of cocoa butter crystals (K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007). Thus, melting curves of the emptied chocolate shells were recorded



(b) enlarged section for the first 100 d of storage (d

(c) enlarged section for the first 25 d of storage

Figure 4.33:  $\Delta$  SFC of dark chocolate nougat praline shells during storage at 18 °C, in dependency of the initial fraction of hazelnut oil



Figure 4.34: Migrated hazelnut oil during storage at  $18\,^{\circ}\mathrm{C},$  for different amounts of the initial fraction of hazelnut oil

Table 4.8:  $D_{eff}$  calculated for hazelnut oil migration in dark chocolate pralines stored at 18 °C, in dependency of initial hazelnut oil with standard error and correlation coefficient  $R^2$  of the linear regression

initial hazelnut oil mg/g	$\frac{D_{eff}}{10^{-15}\mathrm{m}^2/\mathrm{s}}$	R <sup>2</sup>
0	$1.8 \pm 0.3$	0.752
5	$1.1 \pm 0.7$	0.175
10	$27.5\pm2.7$	0.885
20	$39.4\pm8.3$	0.652
30	$53.4 \pm 13.3$	0.578
40	$76.9\pm8.5$	0.881
50	$0.1\pm2.9$	0.0002

via differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) according to chap. 3.6.3.1 during storage of the pralines. An increase of the melting temperature indicates a polymorphic transition from the  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  into the  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  crystal form.

At the beginning of the experiments the samples were measured using the DSC autosampler. It was noticed that the auto-sampler storage plate gets warm during measurement. Further investigations revealed that temperatures of 26 °C to 28 °C are reached, which can causes partial melting of the samples prior to the measurement. This could be seen by noticeably low melting enthalpies and irregular curve shapes. Those samples were excluded from further evaluation. For the other samples the peak maximum temperature was evaluated. The results for pralines without initial hazelnut oil in the chocolate shell, which were stored at 18 °C, 20 °C and 23 °C are shown in fig. 4.35.



Figure 4.35: Maximum peak temperature of melting curves obtained via DSC indicating the polymorphic crystal form of chocolate from pralines without initial hazelnut oil, stored at 18 °C, 20 °C and 23 °C and shown as single values

During storage an increase in peak maximum temperature can be observed, which is linked to the formation of a more stable polymorphic crystal form (see tab. 2.7 in chap. 2.2.1). While the peak maximum temperature in the beginning is around 30 °C to 31 °C for all samples, which indicates a  $\beta_{\rm V}$  polymorphic form, it increases and temperatures around 33 °C are reached, which indicate a  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  polymorphic form. The peak maximum temperature increases earlier at higher storage temperatures.

The impact of the initial fraction of hazelnut oil in the chocolate shell on the maximum melting peak temperature was compared for pralines stored at 20 °C. The results are shown in fig. 4.36.

The high variation of the measured temperatures can be explained by the transition from the  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  into the  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  crystal form, which occurs in clusters and not uniformly distributed throughout the sample.



Figure 4.36: Maximum peak temperature of melting curves obtained via DSC for emptied shells of pralines stored at 20 °C with increasing amounts of initial hazelnut oil, measured in duplicate and shown as single values

The peak maximum temperature of pralines with 50 mg/g initial fraction of hazelnut oil in the shell rise above a melting temperature of  $31.5 \,^{\circ}$ C first and that of pralines without an initial fraction of hazelnut oil increases at last. That confirms the finding of K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007 that the transition from  $\beta_{\rm V}$  to  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  polymorphic crystal form is accelerated in the presence of hazelnut oil, which again accelerates migration.

### 4.4.2.4 Fat bloom development during storage

The dependency of fat bloom development measured using the WI on storage conditions was shown and discussed in chap. 4.4.1. Filled pralines were most stable at an isothermal storage temperature of 18 °C and at a storage temperature of 23 °C the strongest fat bloom formation could be observed. Accordingly fat bloom development at 18 °C was used to investigate differences in start of fat bloom formation. Fat bloom development at 23 °C, shown in fig. 4.37, was used to investigate differences in maximum fat bloom.

The WI is slightly lower for pralines with a higher initial fraction of hazelnut oil and the further curve progression also depends on this initial fraction of hazelnut oil in the following way. In the beginning the WI decreases for samples with a lower initial fraction of hazelnut oil. For pralines without hazelnut oil the WI decreases from about 29 to 26, while pralines with 50 mg/g initial fraction of hazelnut oil decrease from 27.5 to 26.5. After decreasing the WI increases during further storage. However, the saturation value is lower for samples with higher amounts of initial hazelnut oil, but the quality limit is already exceeded clearly before, according to Schütz et al. 2016.



Figure 4.37: WI of dark chocolate nougat praline shells during storage at 23 °C and in dependency of the initial fraction of hazelnut oil

### 4.4.2.5 Discussion

During storage of the filled pralines the oil migration, polymorphic transition of the crystal form and fat bloom development were investigated. The starting hypothesis was, that initial hazelnut oil causes a lower degree of crystallization of the chocolate, which facilitates migration of hazelnut oil during storage. On the other hand, initial hazelnut oil reduces migration pressure due to a lower concentration difference and it reduces the SFC. Chocolate with a lower SFC is reported to be less resistant to migration (Motwani et al. 2011). However, the amount of migrated hazelnut oil indicated by SFC is only slightly depending on the initial content of hazelnut oil.

To directly compare the migration in samples with different amounts of initial hazelnut oil , the effective diffusion coefficient  $D_{eff}$  was calculated for each content of initial hazelnut oil. The  $D_{eff}$  were similar to those found by Silva et al. 2007, who investigated migration of diphenylbutadiene (molar mass 206 g/mol) from plastics into chocolate and found an effective diffusion coefficient of  $29 \times 10^{-15}$  m<sup>2</sup>/s for chocolate stored at  $25 \,^{\circ}$ C. The values are in a similar range, even though the molar mass is different. The molar mass of hazelnut oil can be estimated from the main components triolein (OOO) and trilinolein (LLL) with molar masses of 885 g/mol and 879 g/mol, respectively. A similar diffusion coefficient of substances with four times higher molar masses indicates that there are other processes beside diffusion such as capillary flow.

However, higher amounts of migrating hazelnut oil are supposed to accelerate the polymorphic transition (K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007). This can be partially confirmed, since pralines stored at higher temperatures include more migrated hazelnut oil and show earlier polymorphic transition. However, this polymorphic transition might also be accelerated by the increased temperature itself. Comparing pralines with increasing amounts of initial hazelnut oil at the same storage temperature, polymorphic transition occurs earlier in samples with higher amounts of initial hazelnut oil, which can be seen by the temperature increase in fig. 4.36. The difference in double determination is caused by the irregular transition of polymorphic forms. The transition is supposed to start in small clusters and spreads throughout the chocolate. The small amount of sample used for DSC, which was around 10 mg, might be taken from a cluster, where the transition already startet or from a spot of the sample, where the transition did not start. It is not possible to see the clusters before the sampling.

Migration and polymorphic transition are supposed to accelerate fat bloom formation (Ziegleder, Geier-Greguska, et al. 1994). However, the WI indicated, that pralines with an initial fraction of hazelnut oil are less affected by loss of gloss. Visual investigation revealed, that pralines with higher amounts of initial hazelnut oil are less glossy and have a lighter color. The glossy surface is a sign of properly tempered chocolate with a high amount of crystallized fat (Juul 2010). Initial hazelnut oil might have disturbed crystal formation and growth during manufacturing of the praline, as was shown in chap. 4.1.2. Thus, insufficient crystallization of the chocolate before removing from the molds might result in a less glossy surface. This will be part of further research.

The impact of a initial fraction of hazelnut oil could also be observed during production, where a lower supercooling temperature was needed for chocolate tempering. Additionally, this was also observed in chap. 4.1 for DSC cooling curves with increasing amounts of vegetable fats. Chocolate with 50 mg/g initial hazelnut oil had a TI below 5. However, the supercooling temperature was too high compared to the other chocolates with initial hazelnut oil. Thus, it cannot be excluded that the effects observed for samples with 50 mg/g initial hazelnut oil are caused by insufficient tempering.

The crystallization process of fat bloom at the surface is also affected by hazelnut oil, resulting in slower crystallization and less crystallized fat as to be seen in chap. 4.1.2. After the start of fat bloom development further fat bloom growth is indicated by a WI increase. The rate of fat bloom growth and the saturation value are lower for pralines with increasing amounts of initial hazelnut oil. This might also be explained by the reduced crystallization rate caused by the initial fraction of hazelnut oil.

Initial hazelnut oil has several effects in filled dark chocolate nougat pralines. During production the crystallization rate and the amount of crystallized fat is reduced. This could also be observed for palm oil and hazelnut oil mixtures (Hubbes, Braun, et al. 2020b) and results in less resistance against migration. On the other hand, the already present hazelnut oil is supposed to reduce migration pressure but the effects seem to cancel each other out. Further, hazelnut oil is known to promote polymorphic transition (K. W. Smith, Cain, et al. 2007), but elevated storage temperatures also accelerate polymorphic transition as well as migration of hazelnut oil. Thus the identification of the cause in pralines where migration occurs is not possible. The effect of initial hazelnut oil can likewise not be clarified, since several effects are overlapping.

### 4.4.3 Post-treatment of pralines

Crystallization can be divided in nucleation, crystal growth and post-crystallization. During post-crystallization the crystal amount is increased, the crystal network gets denser and more stable. Thus, fully crystallized chocolate should be more resistant against migration, if no defects, e.g. cracks, are formed. The idea of post-treatment of chocolate is to accelerate post-crystallization (Juul 2010). Therefore freshly cold stamped pralines were taken from the praline plant before the first cooling tunnel and the filling step and were subjected to post-tempering. To identify optimal temperatures for post-tempering, a simulation of the process in the DSC was done. For this purpose tempered chocolate was taken directly from the tempering machine and placed in an aluminum pan, which was put directly in the DSC and measurement was started. The time and temperature protocol was described in chap. 3.5.4.1 and is shown in fig. 4.38.



Figure 4.38: Time-temperature profile of the simulated post tempering DSC process

The subsequent melting curve gives information about the amount and polymorphic form of crystallized fat and is shown in fig. 4.39 for different post-tempering temperatures.

A clear shift of the peak maximum temperature can be seen, when post-tempering is performed at  $28 \,^{\circ}$ C to  $30 \,^{\circ}$ C. Therefore these temperatures were chosen for praline production. Since the chocolate volume of pralines is much bigger than the chocolate volume in a DSC pan, the holding time was increased from 3 min to 15 min. The holding time for the praline shells was determined based on experimental data such as DSC melting curves. During storage, the SFC of the emptied shells was determined to quantify hazelnut oil migration and is shown in fig. 4.40 for pralines stored at  $20 \,^{\circ}$ C.

Post-tempering has a slight impact on the SFC starting value and the slope of SFC over time remains constant. The SFC progression over time for pralines made of shells which were subject to post-tempering at 30 °C show a high standard deviation compared



Figure 4.39: Melting curves of tempered chocolate after process simulation in a DSC with varying post-tempering temperatures



Figure 4.40: SFC of pralines without post-tempering at 18 °C and with post-tempering at 28 °C and 30 °C for 15 min followed by subsequent storage at 20 °C measured with  $\beta$ -stabilization in duplicate

to those pralines, which were subject to non post-tempering at 18 °C and post-tempering and 28 °C. This can also be observed for peak maximum temperatures of DSC melting curves, shown in fig. 4.41, which were recorded to observe polymorphic change.



Figure 4.41: Peak maximum temperature as indicator for the polymorphic crystal form of melting curves of pralines without post-tempering at 18 °C and post-tempered at 28 °C and 30 °C stored at 18 °C determined in duplicate

The peak maximum temperature of melting curves from pralines made of shells which were subject to post-tempering at 30 °C show high standard deviations, as could also be observed for the SFC values. These pralines also show higher peak maximum temperatures and the earliest increase in peak maximum temperature, which is an indicator for polymorphic transition. Since polymorphic transition is a known factor for fat bloom formation, the WI was recorded during storage and is shown in fig. 4.42.

Start of fat bloom formation, which is indicated by WI increase, seems to be independent of post-tempering. On the contrary, the WI after 100 d of storage is lower for pralines, which were subject to higher post-tempering temperatures. The WI of pralines without filling remained at constant low values.

The optical appearance of the pralines with and without post-tempering differed. In fig. 4.43 pictures of fresh pralines after 7 d storage and of bloomed pralines after 49 d storage at  $23 \,^{\circ}$ C with and without post-tempering are shown.

Pralines, which were subject to post-tempering at 30 °C show an even surface with less fat bloom, compared to pralines without post-tempering.

### 4.4.3.1 Discussion

Post-tempering of pralines might be a way to accelerate post-crystallization and reduce quality loss of filled chocolates. Simulating post-tempering using DSC showed, that only high-melting fractions remain in the chocolate. However, too high temperatures lead to



Figure 4.42: WI of pralines and empty shells, which were produced without post-tempering at  $18\,^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$  or with post-tempering at  $28\,^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$  and  $30\,^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$  and sub-sequent storage at  $20\,^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ 



(a) Non-tempered pralines after storage for 7 d at 23  $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ 



(c) Non-tempered pralines after storage for  $49\,\mathrm{d}$  at  $23\,^{\mathrm{o}}\mathrm{C}$ 



(b) Post-tempered pralines after storage for 7 d at 23  $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ 



(d) Post-tempered pralines after storage for 49 d at 23  $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$ 

Figure 4.43: Dark chocolate nougat pralines stored at 23 °C without (left) and with shell post-tempering at 30 °C (right)

complete melting of the crystals.

Post-tempering at adequate temperatures around  $28 \,^{\circ}$ C to  $30 \,^{\circ}$ C had an impact on visual appearance of the pralines. There is no clear impact on migration, but pralines, which were subject to post-tempering at  $30 \,^{\circ}$ C had high standard deviations regarding SFC values as well as melting peak maximum temperatures obtained via DSC. This indicates that the pralines have been subject to partial melting, which might have accelerated crystal transformation. The pralines made from shells which were subject to high post-tempering temperatures had higher DSC melting peak maximum temperatures, which indicates higher melting crystal fractions. Additional to the higher peak maximum temperatures in the beginning, pralines made from shells which were subject to high temperature post-tempering showed earlier increase of peak maximum temperatures indicating a polymorphic transition.

However, the start of fat bloom formation, indicated by WI increase is not affected by post-tempering, while the maximum fat bloom intensity is. In contrast, the pictures of the pralines showed, that the fat bloom is not evenly distributed. The results show that chocolate stabilization prior to filling increases fat bloom stability.

# 5 Summary

Fat bloom is a major topic for quality assurance of filled chocolate products. Migration of oil from the filling into the chocolate is supposed to be the main trigger. Therefore, most studies focus on the migration of oils from the filling into the chocolate. In the underlying migration mechanism, both diffusion and capillary flow are discussed.

However, the impact of crystallization on migration and resulting fat bloom is rarely investigated. The crystalline state of cocoa butter in chocolate has a major impact on chocolate microstructure, which influences migration during storage. The interaction of migration and crystallization is complex, but their understanding is mandatory for high-quality products with long shelf-life.

The aim of this thesis was to identify the interaction of crystallization of the fatty phase and migration of oil from the filling into the surrounding chocolate in filled dark chocolate products and their impact on fat bloom formation. Therefore analytical methods for quantification of filling oils in chocolate had to be established and the impact of migration on crystallization as well as of crystallization on migration had to be evaluated in model systems. Afterwards a realistic praline was produced and the interaction of migration and crystallization was evaluated.

Analyzing crystallization of cocoa butter was of special interest to identify the impact of vegetable oil addition on it. The effect of vegetable oil addition on cocoa butter crystal growth depends on the triacylglyceride composition with regard to number of double bonds and chain length of the fatty acid. All added vegetable oils reduced the speed of crystallization and diluted the samples, which caused reduction of the relative amount of crystallized fat. This effect showed a linear correlation to the concentration of the added oils. Thus, measuring the amount of crystallized fat could be used to quantify the amount of vegetable oil in cocoa butter and chocolate.

The influence of the crystal state on migration was less pronounced. The migration in samples with  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  crystal forms was significantly accelerated compared to samples with  $\beta_{\rm V}$  crystal forms. However, the polymorphic transition from  $\beta_{\rm V}$  to  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  crystal forms was not sufficiently accelerated by the added oils or the particles present in the samples to significantly increase oil migration in industrial products.

The findings in this study show that the crystalline state of cocoa butter in chocolate is crucial for migration of oils from the filling into the chocolate. This crystalline state is influenced by initially present oils from the filling, which might be introduced during production. The migration of oils from the filling into the chocolate can not be investigated without considering the crystalline state of the chocolate. However, the mechanism of migration in chocolate, diffusion or capillary flow, could not be conclusively clarified, but the hypothesis of a combination of the mechanisms is supported.

Migration or unintentional addition of vegetable oils or fats to the chocolate during

production results in a lower solid fat content of the chocolate, which was supposed to accelerate migration during storage. However, the microstructure of chocolate with a lower amount of crystallized fat showed less resistance against migration, but the migration rate was reduced. On the other hand migration during storage accelerated crystal transition from  $\beta_{\rm V}$  to  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  in the solid state.

The practical application of this thesis mainly focuses on possible methods to reduce fat bloom caused by migration. Post-treatment by heating the shell before filling the pralines resulted in a stable and fully crystallized praline with a glossy surface. Initial hazelnut oil in the chocolate shell caused slower crystallization and a lower final solid fat content. Thus, pralines with initial hazelnut oil are less resistant against migration of oil from filling into the chocolate and show a less glossy surface. However, fat bloom appeared later during storage, but already the surface of fresh pralines might not be acceptable for the producers and customers.

Beside the newly found importance of the crystalline state of cocoa butter in chocolate, it could be seen that the polymorphic transition of crystals from  $\beta_{\rm V}$  to  $\beta_{\rm VI}$  massively accelerates migration, but is too slow in real products to affect industrial production.

This work also revealed more findings to be addressed in future research. Throughout the whole study, the filling base consisted of the same nougat. However, the mobility of the oil in the filling is a limiting factor for migration, since bound or immobilized oil can not migrate. The currently used models for migration assume an infinite oil resource. Additionally the contact area between the filling and the chocolate are of interest, because an air gap might act as a boundary for migration.

In this study, questions concerning the influence of the chocolate and its crystalline state on migration of oil from the filling into the chocolate in filled chocolate products such as pralines could be clarified. However, the influence of the oil content and mobility in the filling and the contact area between filling and chocolate should be addressed in future research.

# Bibliography

- Aasted, L. (1994). "A method and device for moulding of chocolate articles". 0 589 820 A1 (EU).
- Adenier, H., H. Chaveron, and M. Ollivon (1993). "Mechanism of fat bloom development in chocolate". Shelf Life Studies of Foods and Beverages. Ed. by G. Charalambous. Vol. 33, pp. 353–389.
- Afoakwa, E. O., ed. (2010). Chocolate Science and Technology. 1st ed. United Kingdom: Wiley-Blackwell. ISBN: 1444357336.
- Afoakwa, E. O., A. Paterson, and M. Fowler (2008). "Effects of particle size distribution and composition on rheological properties of dark chocolate". *European Food Research* and Technology 226.6, pp. 1259–1268. ISSN: 1438-2377. DOI: 10.1007/s00217-007-0652-6.
- Afoakwa, E. O., A. Paterson, M. Fowler, and J. B. Vieira (2008a). "Characterization of melting properties in dark chocolates from varying particle size distribution and composition using differential scanning calorimetry". *Food Research International* 41.7, pp. 751–757. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2008.05.009.
- Afoakwa, E. O., A. Paterson, M. Fowler, and J. B. Vieira (2008b). "Effects of tempering and fat crystallisation behaviour on microstructure, mechanical properties and appearance in dark chocolate systems". *Journal of Food Engineering* 89.2, pp. 128–136. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2008.04.021.
- Afoakwa, E. O., A. Paterson, M. Fowler, and J. B. Vieira (2008c). "Modelling tempering behaviour of dark chocolates from varying particle size distribution and fat content using response surface methodology". *Innovative Food Science & Emerging Technologies* 9.4, pp. 527–533. ISSN: 14668564. DOI: 10.1016/j.ifset.2008.02.002.
- Afoakwa, E. O., A. Paterson, M. Fowler, and J. B. Vieira (2009a). "Fat bloom development and structure-appearance relationships during storage of under-tempered dark chocolates". *Journal of Food Engineering* 91.4, pp. 571–581. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2008.10.011.
- Afoakwa, E. O., A. Paterson, M. Fowler, and J. B. Vieira (2009b). "Influence of tempering and fat crystallization behaviours on microstructural and melting properties in dark chocolate systems". *Food Research International* 42.1, pp. 200–209. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2008.10.007.
- Afoakwa, E. O., A. Paterson, M. Fowler, and J. B. Vieira (2009c). "Microstructure and mechanical properties related to particle size distribution and composition in dark chocolate". *International Journal of Food Science & Technology* 44.1, pp. 111–119. ISSN: 09505423. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.2007.01677.x.

- Aguilera, J. M., M. Michel, and G. Mayor (2004). "Fat Migration in Chocolate: Diffusion or Capillary Flow in a Particulate Solid?-A Hypothesis Paper". *Journal of Food Science* 69.7, pp. 167–174. ISSN: 00221147. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.2004.tb13615.x.
- Ali, A., J. Selamat, Y. B. Che Man, and A. Suria (2001). "Effect of storage temperature on texture, polymorphic structure, bloom formation and sensory attributes of filled dark chocolate". *Food Chemistry* 72.4, pp. 491–497. ISSN: 03088146. DOI: 10.1016/ S0308-8146(00)00271-5.
- Altan, A., D. M. Lavenson, M. J. McCarthy, and K. L. McCarthy (2011). "Oil Migration in Chocolate and Almond Product Confectionery Systems". *Journal of Food Science* 76.6, E489–E494. ISSN: 00221147. DOI: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02233.x.
- Altimiras, P., L. Pyle, and P. Bouchon (2007). "Structure-fat migration relationships during storage of cocoa butter model bars: Bloom development and possible mechanisms". *Journal of Food Engineering* 80.2, pp. 600–610. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/ j.jfoodeng.2006.06.022.
- Arishima, T., N. Sagi, H. MORI, and K. Sato (1995). "Density Measurement of the Polymorphic Forms of POP, POS and SOS". Journal of Japan Oil Chemists' Society 44.6, pp. 431–437. ISSN: 1884-2003. DOI: 10.5650/jos1956.44.431.
- Arishima, T. and K. Sato (1989). "Polymorphism of POP and SOS III. Solvent crystallization of beta 2 and beta 1 polymorphs". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 66.11, pp. 1614–1617. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/BF02636187.
- Attaie, H., B. Breitschuh, P. Braun, and E. J. Windhab (2003). "The functionality of milk powder and its relationship to chocolate mass processing, in particular the effect of milk powder manufacturing and composition on the physical properties of chocolate masses". *International Journal of Food Science & Technology* 38.3, pp. 325–335. ISSN: 09505423. DOI: 10.1046/j.1365-2621.2003.00678.x.
- Augusto, P. E., B. M. Soares, M. C. Chiu, and L. A. G. Gonçalves (2012). "Modelling the effect of temperature on the lipid solid fat content (SFC)". *Food Research International* 45.1, pp. 132–135. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2011.10.026.
- Avrami, M. (1939). "Kinetics of Phase Change. 1 General Theory". The Journal of Chemical Physics 7.12, p. 1103. ISSN: 00219606. DOI: 10.1063/1.1750380.
- Bahadir, M., H. Parlar, and M. Spiteller (2000). Springer Umweltlexikon. 2. Auflage. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Imprint, and Springer. ISBN: 3-642-56998-6.
- Bayés-García, L., T. Calvet, M. Á. Cuevas-Diarte, S. Ueno, and K. Sato (2015). "Phase behavior of binary mixture systems of saturated-unsaturated mixed-acid triacylglycerols: effects of glycerol structures and chain-chain interactions". *The journal of physical chemistry*. B 119.12, pp. 4417–4427. ISSN: 1520-5207. DOI: 10.1021/acs.jpcb. 5b00673. eprint: 25734369.
- Becker, K. (1957). "Über die Fettreif-Bildung bei Schokoladen und Pralinen I". Fette, Seifen, Anstrichmittel 59.8, pp. 636–644. DOI: 10.1002/lipi.19570590811.
- Beckett, S. T. (2000). "Cocoa bean processing". The science of chocolate. Ed. by S. T. Beckett. Cambridge, UK: The Royal Society of Chemistry, pp. 31–48. DOI: 10.1039/9781847552143-00031.

- Beckett, S. T. (2009a). "Chocolate Flow Properties". Chapter 10. Industrial Chocolate Manufacture and Use. Ed. by S. T. Beckett. 4th ed. Oxford (UK): Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 224–246.
- Beckett, S. T., ed. (2009b). Industrial Chocolate Manufacture and Use. 4th ed. Oxford (UK): Wiley-Blackwell.
- Bernardo-Gil, M. G., J. Grenha, J. Santos, and P. Cardoso (2002). "Supercritical fluid extraction and characterisation of oil from hazelnut". *European Journal of Lipid Sci*ence and Technology 104.7, pp. 402–409. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/1438-9312(200207)104:7<402::AID-EJLT402>3.0.CO;2-N.
- Bigalli, g. L. (1988). "Practical aspects of the eutectic effect on confectionery fats and their mixtures". The Manufacturing Confectioner 65-68, pp. 79–80.
- Birkett, J. (2009). "Fat-based centres and fillings". Science and technology of enrobed and filled chocolate, confectionery and bakery products. Ed. by G. Talbot. Woodhead Publishing in food science, technology and nutrition. Boca Raton and Oxford: CRC Press and Woodhead Pub., pp. 101–122. ISBN: 978-1-84569-390-9.
- Böhme, B., L. Linke, and G. Ziegleder (2003). "Optimale Bedingungen beim Kaltformen". Süsswaren 2003.11.
- Bootello, M. A., R. W. Hartel, M. Levin, J. M. Martínez-Blanes, C. Real, R. Garcés, E. Martínez-Force, and J. J. Salas (2013). "Studies of isothermal crystallisation kinetics of sunflower hard stearin-based confectionery fats". *Food Chemistry* 139.1-4, pp. 184–195. ISSN: 03088146. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.11.141. eprint: 23561095.
- Bowser, A. (2006). "Crystallization of cocoa butter". The Manufacturing Confectioner 86.9, pp. 115–118.
- Boyd, W. and W. H. Yates (Dec. 18, 1923). "Method of and means for the production of chocolate and other confectionery casings". GB 207974.
- Breitschuh, B. and E. J. Windhab (1998). "Parameters influencing cocrystallization and polymorphism in milk fat". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 75.8, pp. 897–904. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-998-0264-8.
- Bricknell, J. and R. W. Hartel (1998). "Relation of fat bloom in chocolate to polymorphic transition of cocoa butter". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 75.11, pp. 1609–1615. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-998-0101-0.
- Briones, V. and J. M. Aguilera (2005). "Image analysis of changes in surface color of chocolate". Food Research International 38.1, pp. 87–94. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10. 1016/j.foodres.2004.09.002.
- Brunello, N., S. E. McGauley, and A. G. Marangoni (2003). "Mechanical properties of cocoa butter in relation to its crystallization behavior and microstructure". *Food Science and Technology International* 36.5, pp. 525–532. ISSN: 1082-0132. DOI: 10. 1016/S0023-6438(03)00053-7.

Bueschelberger, H.-.-G. (2004). Lecithins.

Bühler (n.d.). Operating instructions MultiTherm. Ed. by Bühler AG. Uzwil: Bühler AG.

Büning-Pfaue, H. and A. Bartsch (1989). "Investigations on the compatibility of milk fat fractions and lauric fats". *Journal of Thermal Analysis* 35.2, pp. 671–675. ISSN: 0368-4466. DOI: 10.1007/BF01904467.

- Campos, R., S. S. Narine, and A. G. Marangoni (2002). "Effect of cooling rate on the structure and mechanical properties of milk fat and lard". *Food Research International* 35.10, pp. 971–981. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/S0963-9969(02)00159-X.
- Cartier, P. (2009). "Accelerated shelf-life testing". The Manufacturing Confectioner 89.8, pp. 53–61.
- Cebula, D. J. and K. W. Smith (1991). "Differential scanning calorimetry of confectionery fats. Pure Triglycerides: Effects of Cooling and Heating Rate Variation". *Journal of* the American Oil Chemists Society 68.8, pp. 591–595. ISSN: 0003-021X.
- Cebula, D. J. and K. W. Smith (1992). "Differential scanning calorimetry of confectionery fats: Part II-Effects of blends and minor components". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 69.10, pp. 992–998. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/BF02541064.
- Cebula, D. J. and G. Ziegleder (1993). "Studies of Bloom Formation Using X-Ray Diffraction from Chocolates after Long-Term Storage". *Fett Wissenschaft Technologie/Fat Science Technology* 95.9, pp. 340–343. ISSN: 09315985. DOI: 10.1002/lipi. 19930950907.
- Choi, Y. J., K. L. McCarthy, and M. J. McCarthy (2005). "Oil Migration in a Chocolate Confectionery System Evaluated by Magnetic Resonance Imaging". *Journal of Food Science* 70.5, E312–E317. ISSN: 00221147. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.2005. tb09970.x.
- Choi, Y. J., K. L. McCarthy, M. J. McCarthy, and M. H. Kim (2007). "Oil Migration in Chocolate". Applied Magnetic Resonance 32.1-2, pp. 205–220. ISSN: 0937-9347. DOI: 10.1007/s00723-007-0013-4.
- Crews, C., P. Hough, J. Godward, P. Brereton, M. Lees, S. Guiet, and W. Winkelmann (2005). "Study of the Main Constituents of Some Authentic Hazelnut Oils". *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53.12, pp. 4843–4852. ISSN: 0021-8561. DOI: 10. 1021/jf047836w.
- Dahlenborg, H. (2014). "Fat bloom on chocolate confectionery systems. From core to surface". Department of Food Technology, Engineering and Nutrition Faculty of Engineering LTH. Doctoral Thesis. Lund: Lund University.
- Dahlenborg, H., A. Millqvist-Fureby, and B. Bergenståhl (2015a). "Effect of particle size in chocolate shell on oil migration and fat bloom development". *Journal of Food Engineering* 146, pp. 172–181. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2014.09. 008.
- Dahlenborg, H., A. Millqvist-Fureby, and B. Bergenståhl (2015b). "Effect of shell microstructure on oil migration and fat bloom development in model pralines". *Food structure* 5, pp. 51–65. DOI: 10.1016/j.foostr.2015.06.002.
- Danzl, W. and G. Ziegleder (2013). "Rheology of pre-crystallised chocolate masses". New Food 16.5, pp. 67–70.
- Danzl, W. and G. Ziegleder (2016a). "Chocolate Crystallization Influenced by Minor Lipids". sweet vision 61.1, pp. 12–15.
- Danzl, W. and G. Ziegleder (2016b). "Chocolate Crystallization Influenced by Minor Lipids. Part II: Influence of diglycerides". sweet vision 61.2, pp. 12–14.

- Deka, K., B. MacMillan, G. R. Ziegler, A. G. Marangoni, B. Newling, and B. J. Balcom (2006). "Spatial mapping of solid and liquid lipid in confectionery products using a 1D centric SPRITE MRI technique". *Food Research International* 39.3, pp. 365–371. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2005.08.009.
- Delbaere, C., D. van de Walle, F. Depypere, X. Gellynck, and K. Dewettinck (2016). "Relationship between chocolate microstructure, oil migration, and fat bloom in filled chocolates". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 118.12, pp. 1800–1826. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201600164.
- Depypere, F., N. de Clercq, M. Segers, B. Lewille, and K. Dewettinck (2009). "Triacylglycerol migration and bloom in filled chocolates: Effects of low-temperature storage". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 111.3, pp. 280–289. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.200800179.
- Dhonsi, D. and A. G. F. Stapley (2006). "The effect of shear rate, temperature, sugar and emulsifier on the tempering of cocoa butter". *Journal of Food Engineering* 77.4, pp. 936–942. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2005.08.022.
- Dimick, P. S. (1999). "Compositional effect on crystallization of cocoa butter. Chapter 9". Physical properties of fats, oils, and emulsifiers. Ed. by N. Widlak. Champaign, Ill.: AOCS Press, pp. 140–163. ISBN: 0935315950.
- Dimick, P. S. and D. M. Manning (1987). "Thermal and compositional properties of cocoa butter during static crystallization". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 64.12, pp. 1663–1669. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/BF02542500.
- DIN, ed. (Nov. 1, 2008). Chemical analysis Decision limit, detection limit and determination limit under repeatability conditions – Terms, methods, evaluation. DIN.
- DIN EN ISO, ed. (Aug. 1, 2010a). Animal and vegetable fats and oils Determination of solid fat content by pulsed NMR Part 1: Direct method German version EN ISO 8292-1. DIN EN ISO.
- DIN EN ISO, ed. (Aug. 1, 2010b). Tierische und pflanzliche Fette und Öle Bestimmung des Festanteils von Fett durch das Verfahren mit gepulster magnetischer Kernresonanz – Teil 2: Indirektes Verfahren (ISO 8292-2:2008); Deutsche Fassung EN ISO 8292-2:2010. DIN EN ISO.
- Do, T.-A. L., J. B. Vieira, J. Hargreaves, J. Mitchell, and B. Wolf (2011). "Structural characteristics of cocoa particles and their effect on the viscosity of reduced fat chocolate". LWT - Food Science and Technology 44.4, pp. 1207–1211. ISSN: 00236438. DOI: 10.1016/j.lwt.2010.10.006.
- Early, R. (2012). "Dairy products and milk-based food ingredients". Natural Food Additives, Ingredients and Flavourings. Elsevier, pp. 417–445. ISBN: 9781845698119. DOI: 10.1533/9780857095725.2.417.
- European Parliament and Council (2000). Directive of 23 June 2000 relating to cocoa and chocolate products intended for human consumption. 2000L0036. Version 2000/36/EG.
- Fessas, D., M. Signorelli, and A. Schiraldi (2005). "Polymorphous transitions in cocoa butter. A quantitative DSC study". Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry 82.3, pp. 691–702. ISSN: 1388-6150. DOI: 10.1007/s10973-005-6934-y.

- Försterling, G., U. Löser, K. Kleinstück, and H.-D. Tscheuschner (1981). "Neue Erkenntnisse zur Kristallstruktur von Kakaobutter". *Fette, Seifen, Anstrichmittel* 83.7, pp. 249–254. DOI: 10.1002/lipi.19810830702.
- Foubert, I. (2003). "Modelling Isothermal Cocoa Butter Crystallization: Influence of Temperature and Chemical Composition". Faculteit Landbouwkundige. Dissertation. Gent: Universiteit Gent. 263 pp.
- Foubert, I., K. Dewettinck, G. Janssen, and P. A. Vanrolleghem (2006). "Modelling twostep isothermal fat crystallization". *Journal of Food Engineering* 75.4, pp. 551–559. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2005.04.038.
- Foubert, I., K. Dewettinck, and P. A. Vanrolleghem (2003). "Modelling of the crystallization kinetics of fats". Trends in Food Science & Technology 14.3, pp. 79–92. ISSN: 09242244. DOI: 10.1016/S0924-2244(02)00256-X.
- Foubert, I., P. A. Vanrolleghem, and K. Dewettinck (2003). "A differential scanning calorimetry method to determine the isothermal crystallization kinetics of cocoa butter". *Thermochimica Acta* 400.1-2, pp. 131–142. ISSN: 00406031. DOI: 10.1016/S0040-6031(02)00484–7.
- Foubert, I., P. A. Vanrolleghem, O. Thas, and K. Dewettinck (2004). "Influence of Chemical Composition on the Isothermal Cocoa Butter Crystallization". *Journal of Food Sci*ence 69.9, E478–E487. ISSN: 00221147. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.2004.tb09933.x.
- Fowler, M. S. (2009). "Cocoa Beans: from Tree to Factory". Industrial Chocolate Manufacture and Use. Ed. by S. T. Beckett. 4th ed. Oxford (UK): Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 10– 47.
- Franke, K., K. Heinzelmann, and U. Bindrich (2011). "Beeinflussung der Wechselwirkungen von Kakaobutter und Feststoffen durch Emulgatoren unter Berücksichtigung von Zerkleinerung und Conchieren: Teil 2". Süsswaren 11/12, pp. 14–19.
- Galdámez, J. R., K. Szlachetka, J. L. Duda, and G. R. Ziegler (2009). "Oil migration in chocolate: A case of non-Fickian diffusion". *Journal of Food Engineering* 92.3, pp. 261–268. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2008.11.003.
- Garside, J. (1987). "General principles of crystallization". Food structure and behaviour/edited by JMV Blanshard and P. Lillford.
- Ghosh, V., G. R. Ziegler, and R. C. Anantheswaran (2002). "Fat, moisture, and ethanol migration through chocolates and confectionary coatings". *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 42.6, pp. 583–626. DOI: 10.1080/20024091054265.
- Gibbs, J. W. (1874-78). "On the Equilibrium of Heterogeneous Substances". Transactions of the Connecticut Academy of Arts and Sciences 3, pp. 108–248, 343–524.
- Gordon, M. H., F. B. Padley, and R. E. Timms (1979). "Factors Influencing the Use of Vegetable Fats in Chocolate". *Fette, Seifen, Anstrichmittel* 81.3, pp. 116–121. DOI: 10.1002/lipi.19790810305.
- Gregersen, S. B., R. L. Miller, M. Hammershøj, M. D. Andersen, and L. Wiking (2015). "Texture and microstructure of cocoa butter replacers. Influence of composition and cooling rate". *Food structure* 4.0, pp. 2–15. DOI: 10.1016/j.foostr.2015.03.001.
- Greiner, M., B. Sonnleitner, M. Mailänder, and H. Briesen (2014). "Modeling complex and multi-component food systems in molecular dynamics simulations on the example

of chocolate conching". *Food & function* 5.2, pp. 235–242. ISSN: 2042-650X. DOI: 10. 1039/c3fo60355e. eprint: 24336688.

- Guiheneuf, T. M., P. J. Couzens, H.-J. Wille, and L. D. Hall (1997). "Visualisation of Liquid Triacylglycerol Migration in Chocolate by Magnetic Resonance Imaging". Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 73.3, pp. 265–273. ISSN: 0022-5142. DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0010(199703)73:3<265::AID-JSFA715>3.0.C0;2-I.
- Gunstone, F. D. (2013). "Composition and properties of edible oils". *Edible Oil Process*ing. Ed. by W. Hamm, R. J. Hamilton, and G. Calliauw. John Wiley & Sons, pp. 1–33. ISBN: 978-1-4443-3684-9.
- Guthrie, S. E. (2008). "Physical Properties of Shear Oriented Cocoa Butter". Dissertation. Waterloo, Ontario, and Canada: University of Waterloo. 241 pp.
- Hall, A., J. Repakova, and I. Vattulainen (2008). "Modeling of the Triglyceride-Rich Core in Lipoprotein Particles". *The Journal of Physical Chemistry B* 112.44, pp. 13772– 13782. ISSN: 1520-6106. DOI: 10.1021/jp803950w.
- Hartel, R. W. (1999). "Chocolate: Fat Bloom During Storage". The Manufacturing Confectioner 79, pp. 89–99.
- Haylock, S. J. and T. M. Dodds (2009). "Ingredients from milk". Industrial Chocolate Manufacture and Use. Ed. by S. T. Beckett. 4th ed. Oxford (UK): Wiley-Blackwell.
- Herrera, M., M. de León Gatti, and R. W. Hartel (1999). "A kinetic analysis of crystallization of a milk fat model system". Food Research International 32.4, pp. 289–298. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/S0963-9969(99)00083-6.
- Himawan, C., V. Starov, and A. G. F. Stapley (2006). "Thermodynamic and kinetic aspects of fat crystallization". Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 122.1-3, pp. 3–33. ISSN: 00018686. DOI: 10.1016/j.cis.2006.06.016.
- Hogenbirk, G. (1984). "Compatibility of specialty fats with cocoa butter". The Manufacturing Confectioner 64.6, pp. 59–63.
- Hogenbirk, G. (1990). "The influence of milk fat on the crystallization of cocoa butter". 44th P.M.C.A. Production Conference.
- Hubbes, S.-S., A. Braun, and P. Foerst (2020a). "Sugar particles and their role in crystallization kinetics and structural properties in fats used for nougat creme production". Journal of Food Engineering 287, p. 110130. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j. jfoodeng.2020.110130.
- Hubbes, S.-S., A. Braun, and P. Foerst (2020b). "Crystallization Kinetics and Mechanical Properties of Nougat Creme Model Fats". *Food Biophysics* 15.1, pp. 1–15. ISSN: 1557-1858. DOI: 10.1007/s11483-019-09596-w.
- Hubbes, S.-S., W. Danzl, and P. Foerst (2018). "Crystallization kinetics of palm oil of different geographic origins and blends thereof by the application of the Avrami model". LWT - Food Science and Technology 93, pp. 189–196. ISSN: 00236438. DOI: 10.1016/j.lwt.2018.03.022.
- Jin, J. and R. W. Hartel (2015). "Accelerated Fat Bloom in Chocolate Model Systems. Solid Fat Content and Temperature Fluctuation Frequency". Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society 92.10, pp. 1473–1481. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-015-2709-1.

- Jinap, S., A. A. Ali, Y. B. Che Man, and A. M. Suria (2009). "Use of palm mid-fraction in dark chocolate as base filling centre at different storage temperatures". *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition* 51.6, pp. 489–499. ISSN: 0963-7486. DOI: 10. 1080/09637480050208107.
- Juul, B. (2010). "Beat Migration Bloom by Optimizing Your Process. A new look at the tempering process to reduce migration bloom in chocolate products." *The Manufacturing Confectioner* May, pp. 68–75.
- Khan, R. S. and D. Rousseau (2006). "Hazelnut oil migration in dark chocolate kinetic, thermodynamic and structural considerations". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 108.5, pp. 434–443. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.200501194.
- Kindlein, M., M. Greiner, E. Elts, and H. Briesen (2015). "Interactions between phospholipid head groups and a sucrose crystal surface at the cocoa butter interface. Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics". J Phys D 48.38. ISSN: 00223727 (ISSN). DOI: 10.1088/0022-3727/48/38/384002.
- Klagge, P. and A. K. Sen Gupta (1990). "Kakaobutter und ihre Alternativen für Schokoladenprodukte". Fett Wissenschaft Technologie/Fat Science Technology 92.12, pp. 485– 492. ISSN: 09315985. DOI: 10.1002/lipi.19900921208.
- Kleinert, J., ed. (1997). Handbuch der Kakaoverarbeitung und Schokoladeherstellung. 1st ed. Hamburg: Behr. ISBN: 3-86022-327-5.
- Krist, S. (2013a). "Einleitung". Lexikon der pflanzlichen Fette und Öle. Ed. by S. Krist and S. Biladt. 2. Aufl. Wien: Springer, pp. 1–26. ISBN: 978-3-7091-1004-1. DOI: 10. 1007/978-3-7091-1005-8\_1.
- Krist, S. (2013b). "Sonnenblumenöl". Lexikon der pflanzlichen Fette und Ole. Ed. by S.
  Krist and S. Biladt. 2. Aufl. Wien: Springer, pp. 759–768. ISBN: 978-3-7091-1004-1.
  DOI: 10.1007/978-3-7091-1005-8\_112.
- Krist, S. and S. Biladt, eds. (2013). Lexikon der pflanzlichen Fette und Öle. 2. Aufl. Wien: Springer. ISBN: 978-3-7091-1004-1.
- Kromidas, S. and H.-J. Kuss (2008). Chromatogramme richtig integrieren und bewerten. Ein Praxishandbuch f
  ür die HPLC und GC ; [mit CD]. Weinheim: WILEY-VCH-Verl. ISBN: 9783527317745.
- Lagaly, G., O. Schulz, and R. Zimehl (1997). Dispersionen und Emulsionen. Eine Einführung in die Kolloidik feinverteilter Stoffe einschliesslich der Tonminerale. Darmstadt: Steinkopff. ISBN: 3-7985-1087-3.
- Lee, W. L., M. J. McCarthy, and K. L. McCarthy (2010). "Oil Migration in 2-Component Confectionery Systems". *Journal of Food Science* 75.1, E83–E89. ISSN: 00221147. DOI: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2009.01454.x.
- Liang, B. and R. W. Hartel (2004). "Effects of Milk Powders in Milk Chocolate". *Journal of Dairy Science* 87.1, pp. 20–31. ISSN: 00220302. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04) 73137-9.
- Lock, A. and P. Garnsworthy (2003). "Seasonal variation in milk conjugated linoleic acid and D9-desaturase activity in dairy cows". *Livestock Production Science* 79.1, pp. 47–59. ISSN: 0301-6226. DOI: 10.1016/S0301-6226(02)00118-5.

- Loisel, C., G. Lecq, G. Ponchel, G. Keller, and M. Ollivon (1997). "Fat Bloom and Chocolate Structure Studied by Mercury Porosimetry". *Journal of Food Science* 62.4, pp. 781–788. ISSN: 00221147. DOI: 10.1111/j.1365-2621.1997.tb15455.x.
- Lonchampt, P. and R. W. Hartel (2004). "Fat bloom in chocolate and compound coatings". European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology 106.4, pp. 241–274. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.200400938.
- Lovegren, N. V. and R. O. Feuge (1965). "Solidification of cocoa butter". Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society 42.4, pp. 308–312. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/ BF02540135.
- Lovegren, N. V., M. S. Gray, and R. O. Feuge (1976). "Effect of liquid fat on melting point and polymorphic behavior of cocoa butter and a cocoa butter fraction". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 53.3, pp. 108–112. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10. 1007/BF02635960.
- Maleky, F. (2015). "Nanostructuring triacylglycerol crystalline networks under external shear fields: a review". Innovation in Food Science • Foodomics Technologies 4.0, pp. 56–63. ISSN: 2214-7993. DOI: 10.1016/j.cofs.2015.05.005.
- Maleky, F., K. L. McCarthy, M. J. McCarthy, and A. G. Marangoni (2012). "Effect of Cocoa Butter Structure on Oil Migration". *Journal of Food Science* 77.3, E74–E79. ISSN: 00221147. DOI: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02575.x.
- Marangoni, A. G. (1998). "On the use and misuse of the avrami equation in characterization of the kinetics of fat crystallization". Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society 75.10, pp. 1465–1467. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-998-0203-8.
- Marangoni, A. G. and S. E. McGauley (2003). "Relationship between Crystallization Behavior and Structure in Cocoa Butter". *Crystal Growth & Design* 3.1, pp. 95–108. ISSN: 1528-7483. DOI: 10.1021/cg0255801.
- Marty, S., K. W. Baker, E. Dibildox-Alvarado, J. N. Rodrigues, and A. G. Marangoni (2005). "Monitoring and quantifying of oil migration in cocoa butter using a flatbed scanner and fluorescence light microscopy". *Food Research International* 38.10, pp. 1189– 1197. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2005.04.008.
- Marty, S. and A. G. Marangoni (2009). "Effects of Cocoa Butter Origin, Tempering Procedure, and Structure on Oil Migration Kinetics". Crystal Growth & Design 9.10, pp. 4415–4423. ISSN: 1528-7483. DOI: 10.1021/cg9004505.
- McCarthy, K. L. and M. J. McCarthy (2008). "Oil Migration in Chocolate-Peanut Butter Paste Confectionery as a Function of Chocolate Formulation". *Journal of Food Science* 73.6, E266–E273. ISSN: 00221147. DOI: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2008.00797.x.
- Metin, S. and R. W. Hartel (1996). "Crystallization behavior of blends of cocoa butter and milk fat or melk fat fractions". *Journal of Thermal Analysis* 47.5, pp. 1527–1544. ISSN: 0368-4466. DOI: 10.1007/BF01992844.
- Metin, S. and R. W. Hartel (1998). "Thermal analysis of isothermal crystallization kinetics in blends of cocoa butter with milk fat or milk fat fractions". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 75.11, pp. 1617–1624. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-998-0102-z.

- Middendorf, D., U. Bindrich, P. Mischnick, A. Juadjur, K. Franke, and V. Heinz (2016). "Atomic Force Microscopy study on the effect of different lecithins in cocoa-butter based suspensions". *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects* 499, pp. 60–68. ISSN: 0927-7757. DOI: 10.1016/j.colsurfa.2016.03.057.
- Minifie, B. W. (1989). Chocolate, Cocoa and Confectionery: Science and Technology. Science and technology. 3rd ed. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. ISBN: 9789401179263. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-011-7924-9.
- Miquel, M. E., S. Carli, P. J. Couzens, H.-J. Wille, and L. D. Hall (2001). "Kinetics of the migration of lipids in composite chocolate measured by magnetic resonance imaging". *Food Research International* 34.9, pp. 773–781. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/S0963– 9969(00)00162–9.
- Miura, M., A. Kusanagi, S. Kobayashi, S. Tokairin, and Z. Jin (2004). "Effect of Static Magnetic Field on Crystallization of Triacylglycerols". *IEEE Transactions on Appiled Superconductivity* 14.2, pp. 1588–1591. ISSN: 1051-8223. DOI: 10.1109/TASC.2004. 830738.
- Motwani, T., W. Hanselmann, and R. C. Anantheswaran (2011). "Diffusion, counterdiffusion and lipid phase changes occurring during oil migration in model confectionery systems". *Journal of Food Engineering* 104.2, pp. 186–195. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10. 1016/j.jfoodeng.2010.11.032.
- Nightingale, L. M., S.-Y. Lee, and N. J. Engeseth (2011). "Impact of storage on dark chocolate: texture and polymorphic changes". *Journal of food science* 76.1, pp. C142– 53. ISSN: 0022-1147. DOI: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2010.01970.x. eprint: 21535643.
- Padar, S. (2009). "Optimization of a Co-Injection Process for Confectionery Systems aided by Flow Simulation and Experiment". Laboratory of Food Process Engineering; Institute of Food Science and Nutrition. Dissertation. Zürich: Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich, 203 pp.
- Padar, S., S. A. K. Jeelani, and E. J. Windhab (2008). "Crystallization Kinetics of Cocoa Fat Systems: Experiments and Modeling". Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society 85.12, pp. 1115–1126. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-008-1312-0.
- Padar, S., Y. E. Mehrle, and E. J. Windhab (2009). "Shear-Induced Crystal Formation and Transformation in Cocoa Butter". Crystal Growth & Design 9.9, pp. 4023–4031. ISSN: 1528-7483. DOI: 10.1021/cg900194t.
- Pajin, B. S., I. Radujko, Z. Šereš, D. Š. Simovic, J. Gyura, and M. Sakac (2012). "Influence of low-melting milk fat fraction on crystallization and physical properties of chocolate". *British Food Journal* 114.6, pp. 868–879. ISSN: 0007-070X. DOI: 10.1108/ 00070701211234381.
- Patel, A. R. and K. Dewettinck (2015). "Current update on the influence of minor lipid components, shear and presence of interfaces on fat crystallization". *Current Opinion* in Food Science 3, pp. 65–70. ISSN: 2214-7993. DOI: 10.1016/j.cofs.2015.05.010.
- Petersson, B. (1986). "Pulsed NMR Method for Solid Fat Content Determination in Tempering Fats Part II: Cocoa Butters and Equivalents in Blends with Milk Fat". *Fette, Seifen, Anstrichmittel* 88.4, pp. 128–136. DOI: 10.1002/lipi.19860880404.

- Petersson, B., K. Anjou, and L. Sandström (1985). "Pulsed NMR Method for Solid Fat Content Determination in Tempering Fats, Part I: Cocoa Butters and Equivalents". *Fette, Seifen, Anstrichmittel* 87.6, pp. 225–230. DOI: 10.1002/lipi.19850870603.
- Quantachrome Instruments (2020). Characterizing Porous Materials and Powders Autosorb iQ and ASiQwin Gas Sorption System. Operating Manual. Ed. by Quantachrome Instruments. Boynton Beach.
- Quevedo, R., C. Brown, P. Bouchon, and J. M. Aguilera (2005). "Surface roughness during storage of chocolate: Fractal analysis and possible mechanisms". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society* 82.6, pp. 457–462. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/ s11746-005-1093-2.
- Ramel, P. R. and A. G. Marangoni (2017). "Insights into the mechanism of the formation of the most stable crystal polymorph of milk fat in model protein matrices". *Journal of Dairy Science*. ISSN: 00220302. DOI: 10.3168/jds.2017-12758. eprint: 28668535.
- Reinke, S. K., K. Hauf, J. B. Vieira, S. Heinrich, and S. Palzer (2015). "Changes in contact angle providing evidence for surface alteration in multi-component solid foods". *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics* 48.46, p. 464001. ISSN: 0022-3727. DOI: 10. 1088/0022-3727/48/46/464001.
- Reinke, S. K., S. V. Roth, G. Santoro, J. B. Vieira, S. Heinrich, and S. Palzer (2015). "Tracking structural changes in lipid-based multicomponent food materials due to oil migration by microfocus small-angle X-ray scattering". ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces 7.18, pp. 9929–9936. ISSN: 19448244 (ISSN). DOI: 10.1021/acsami. 5b02092.
- Reinke, S. K., F. Wilde, S. Kozhar, F. Beckmann, J. B. Vieira, S. Heinrich, and S. Palzer (2015). "Synchrotron X-Ray microtomography reveals interior microstructure of multicomponent food materials such as chocolate". *Journal of Food Engineering*. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2015.11.012.
- Ribeiro, A. P. B., M. H. Masuchi, E. K. Miyasaki, M. A. F. Domingues, V. L. Z. Stroppa, G. M. de Oliveira, and T. G. Kieckbusch (2015). "Crystallization modifiers in lipid systems". *Journal of food science and technology* 52.7, pp. 3925–3946. ISSN: 0022-1155. DOI: 10.1007/s13197-014-1587-0. eprint: 26139862.
- Richter, K. (2009). "Tempering process technology". Science and technology of enrobed and filled chocolate, confectionery and bakery products, pp. 344–361. ISSN: 1845693906.
- Rieblinger, K. and G. Ziegleder (1995). "Neue Methoden zur Beurteilung von Haselnußkernen. Teil 1: Triglyceridanalyse". Zucker- und Süßwarenwirtschaft 11, pp. 457– 459.
- Rigolle, A., I. Foubert, J. Hettler, E. Verboven, R. Demuynck, and K. Van Den Abeele (2015). "Development of an ultrasonic shear reflection technique to monitor the crystallization of cocoa butter". *Food Research International*. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10. 1016/j.foodres.2015.05.059.
- Rothkopf, I. and W. Danzl (2015). "Changes in chocolate crystallization are influenced by type and amount of introduced filling lipids". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 117.11, pp. 1714–1721. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201400552.

- Rothkopf, I., W. Danzl, and G. Ziegleder (2016). "Proof and quantification of filling oils in chocolates from enrobers". New Food 19.6, pp. 48–52.
- Rothkopf, I., J. Kind, J. Zuber, W. Danzl, and G. Ziegleder (2017). "Impact of sample preparation on physical quantification of filling fats and oils in fresh and stored chocolate". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 117.8, p. 1600359. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201600359.
- Rothkopf, I., B. Schütz, W. Danzl, and G. Ziegleder (2017). "Comparison of isothermal and cycling temperature storage of filled dark chocolate products for accelerated shelf life prediction". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 119.9, p. 1600481. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201600481.
- Rousseau, D. and P. Smith (2008). "Microstructure of fat bloom development in plain and filled chocolate confections". *Soft Matter* 4.8, p. 1706. ISSN: 1744-683X. DOI: 10. 1039/b718066g.
- Rousset, P., M. Rappaz, and E. Minner (1998). "Polymorphism and solidification kinetics of the binary system POS-SOS". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society* 75.7, pp. 857–864. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-998-0237-y.
- Sabariah, S., A. R. M. Ali, and C. L. Chong (1998). "Chemical and physical characteristics of cocoa butter substitutes, milk fat and malaysian cocoa butter blends". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 75.8, pp. 905–910. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-998-0265-7.
- Sato, K. (1999). "Solidification and phase transformation behaviour of food fats a review". *Fett/Lipid* 101.12, pp. 467–474. ISSN: 0931-5985. DOI: 10.1002/(SICI)1521– 4133(199912)101:12<467::AID-LIPI467>3.0.CO;2-D.
- Sato, K. (2001). "Crystallization behaviour of fats and lipids a review". Chemical Engineering Science 56.7, pp. 2255–2265. ISSN: 00092509. DOI: 10.1016/S0009-2509(00)00458-9.
- Sato, K., S. Ueno, and J. Yano (1999). "Molecular interactions and kinetic properties of fats". *Progress in Lipid Research* 38.1, pp. 91–116. ISSN: 01637827. DOI: 10.1016/ S0163-7827(98)00019-8.
- Schlichter-Aronhime, J. and N. Garti (1988). "Solidification and polymorphism in cocoa butter and the blooming problems". *Crystallization and polymorphism of fats and fatty acids*. Ed. by N. Garti and S. s. s. v. 31. 1 Ed. Vol. 31. New York: Marcel Dekker, pp. 363–393. ISBN: 9780824778750.
- Schlichter-Aronhime, J., S. Sarig, and N. Garti (1988). "Reconsideration of polymorphic transformations in cocoa butter using the DSC". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 65.7, pp. 1140–1143. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/BF02660570.
- Schmelzer, J. M. and R. W. Hartel (2001). "Interactions of Milk Fat and Milk Fat Fractions with Confectionery Fats". *Journal of Dairy Science* 84.2, pp. 332–344. ISSN: 00220302. DOI: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(01)74482-7.
- Schuster-Salas, C. and G. Ziegleder (1992). "DSC-Messung des Temperiergrades fließfähiger vorkristallisierter Schokoladenmassen unter Produktionsbedingungen". Zucker- und Süßwarenwirtschaft 45.9, pp. 324–326.

- Schütz, B., I. Rothkopf, and W. Danzl (2016). "Correlation of the Whiteness-Index with consumer acceptance". sweet vision 61.4, pp. 20–23.
- Shi, X. and F. Maleky (2015). "Effects of external shear forces on crystallisation kinetics of model fat blends". *International Journal of Food Science & Technology* 50.10, pp. 2255–2263. ISSN: 09505423. DOI: 10.1111/ijfs.12878.
- Shukoff, A. A. (1899). "Über eine neue Methode zur Bestimmung der Erstarrungstemperatur". Zeitschrift für Angewandte Chemie 12.24, pp. 563–564. ISSN: 00448249. DOI: 10.1002/ange.18990122403.
- Shukoff, A. A. and Schtschawinsky (1903). "Ueber die Bestimmung der Erstarrungstemperatur der Fettkörper". Fresenius, Zeitschrift f. anal. Chemie (Zeitschrift für Analytische Chemie) 42.11-12, pp. 761–762. DOI: 10.1007/BF01306205.
- Silva, A. S., J. C. Freire, R. S. García, R. Franz, and P. P. Losada (2007). "Timetemperature study of the kinetics of migration of DPBD from plastics into chocolate, chocolate spread and margarine". *Food Research International* 40.6, pp. 679–686. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2006.11.012.
- Smith, K. W. (2008). Fundamentals of Fat Crystallisation.
- Smith, K. W., K. Bhaggan, and G. Talbot (2013). "Phase behavior of symmetrical monounsaturated triacylglycerols". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 115.8, pp. 838–846. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201300035.
- Smith, K. W., K. Bhaggan, G. Talbot, and K. F. van Malssen (2011). "Crystallization of Fats: Influence of Minor Components and Additives". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 88.8, pp. 1085–1101. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-011-1819-7.
- Smith, K. W., F. W. Cain, and G. Talbot (2007). "Effect of nut oil migration on polymorphic transformation in a model system". *Food Chemistry* 102.3, pp. 656–663. ISSN: 03088146. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.05.045.
- Smith, K. W. and K. F. van Malssen (2003). Cocoa butter crystallisation. In collab. with Biscuit, Cake, Chocolate and Confectionery Association 50th Technology Conference. London, UK.
- Sonnleitner, B. (2016). "Fettmigration in der kontinuierlichen Phase von zylindrischen Schokoladenmodellsystemen". Masterarbeit. Freising: TU München. 120 pp.
- Sonwai, S. and D. Rousseau (2006). "Structure evolution and bloom formation in tempered cocoa butter during long-term storage". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 108.9, pp. 735–745. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.200600078.
- Sonwai, S. and D. Rousseau (2010). "Controlling fat bloom formation in chocolate Impact of milk fat on microstructure and fat phase crystallisation". Food Chemistry 119.1, pp. 286–297. ISSN: 03088146. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2009.06.031.
- Stapley, A. G. F., H. Tewkesbury, and P. J. Fryer (1999). "The effects of shear and temperature history on the crystallization of chocolate". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 76.6, pp. 677–685. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-999-0159-3.
- Strassbourg, J., G. Ziegleder, and S. T. Beckett (2006). "When are chocolates really finished?" New Food 9.4, pp. 28–33.

- Subramaniam, P. J. (2016). "The Stability and Shelf Life of Confectionery Products". *The Stability and Shelf Life of Food.* Ed. by P. J. Subramaniam and P. Wareing. [Place of publication not identified]: Elsevier Ltd, pp. 545–573. ISBN: 978-0-08-100435-7. DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-08-100435-7.00019-8.
- Svanberg, L., L. Ahrné, N. Lorén, and E. J. Windhab (2011a). "Effect of pre-crystallization process and solid particle addition on microstructure in chocolate model systems". *Food Research International* 44.5, pp. 1339–1350. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/j. foodres.2011.01.018.
- Svanberg, L., L. Ahrné, N. Lorén, and E. J. Windhab (2011b). "Effect of sugar, cocoa particles and lecithin on cocoa butter crystallisation in seeded and non-seeded chocolate model systems". *Journal of Food Engineering* 104.1, pp. 70–80. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2010.09.023.
- Svanberg, L., L. Ahrné, N. Lorén, and E. J. Windhab (2013). "Impact of pre-crystallization process on structure and product properties in dark chocolate". *Journal of Food En*gineering 114.1, pp. 90–98. ISSN: 02608774. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2012.06.016.
- Talbot, G. (1990). "Fat Migration in Biscuits and Confectionery Systems". 37th Technology Conference. Biscuit, Cake, Chocolate and Confectionery Alliance, pp. 265–272.
- Talbot, G. (1996). "Fat eutectics and crystallisation". Physico-Chemical Aspects of Food Processing. Ed. by S. T. Beckett. Boston, MA: Springer US, pp. 142–166. ISBN: 978-0-7514-0240-7. DOI: 10.1007/978-1-4613-1227-7\_7.
- Talbot, G. (2009a). "Chocolate temper". Industrial Chocolate Manufacture and Use. Ed. by S. T. Beckett. 4th ed. Oxford (UK): Wiley-Blackwell, pp. 261–275.
- Talbot, G., ed. (2009b). Science and technology of enrobed and filled chocolate, confectionery and bakery products. Woodhead Publishing in food science, technology and nutrition. Boca Raton and Oxford: CRC Press and Woodhead Pub. ISBN: 978-1-84569-390-9.
- Tietz, R. A. and R. W. Hartel (2000). "Effects of minor lipids on crystallization of milk fat-cocoa butter blends and bloom formation in chocolate". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 77.7, pp. 763–771. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-000-0122-5.
- Timms, R. E. (1984). "Phase behaviour of fats and their mixtures". Progress in Lipid Research 23.1, pp. 1–38. ISSN: 01637827. DOI: 10.1016/0163-7827(84)90004-3.
- Timms, R. E. (2002). "Oil and Fat Interactions. Theory, Problems and Solutions". The Manufacturing Confectioner 82.6, pp. 50–64.
- Timms, R. E. (2003). Confectionery fats handbook. Properties, production and application. Vol. vol. 14. Oily Press lipid library. Bridgwater and Cambridge: Woodhead Publishing Limited. ISBN: 9780953194940. DOI: 10.1533/9780857097958.
- Toro-Vazquez, J. F., M. Briceño-Montelongo, E. Dibildox-Alvarado, M. Charó-Alonso, and J. Reyes-Hernández (2000). "Crystallization kinetics of palm stearin in blends with sesame seed oil". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 77.3, pp. 297– 310. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-000-0049-x.
- Tran, P. D., D. van de Walle, M. Hinneh, C. Delbaere, N. de Clercq, D. N. Tran, and K. Dewettinck (2015). "Controlling the stability of chocolates through the incorporation

of soft and hard StOSt-rich fats". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, n/a-n/a. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201400584.

- Tscheuschner, H.-D. (1993). "Grundlegende rheologische Eigenschaften". Rheologie der Lebensmittel. Ed. by D. Weipert, H.-D. Tscheuschner, and E. J. Windhab. Hamburg: Behr, pp. 51–100.
- Tscheuschner, H.-D. and E. Markov (1989). "INSTRUMENTAL TEXTURE STUDIES ON CHOCOLATE II. COMPOSITIONAL FACTORS INFLUENCING TEXTURE". *Journal of Texture Studies* 20.3, pp. 335–345. ISSN: 00224901. DOI: 10.1111/j.1745-4603.1989.tb00444.x.
- Ubitec GmbH, ed. (2012). Bedienungsanleitung Laboranlage Typ ubi PN-Y.
- Vaeck, S. V. (1960). "Über Kakaobutter und den Fettreif von Kakao-Erzeugnissen". Fette, Seifen, Anstrichmittel 62.8, pp. 709–722. DOI: 10.1002/lipi.19600620816.
- van Malssen, K. F., A. Langevelde, R. Peschar, and H. Schenk (1999). "Phase behavior and extended phase scheme of static cocoa butter investigated with real-time X-ray powder diffraction". Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society 76.6, pp. 669–676. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-999-0158-4.
- van Malssen, K. F., R. Peschar, C. Brito, and H. Schenk (1996). "Real-time X-ray powder diffraction investigations on cocoa butter. III. Direct β-crystallization of cocoa butter: Occurrence of a memory effect". Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society 73.10, pp. 1225–1230. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/BF02525450.
- Vereecken, J., I. Foubert, K. W. Smith, and K. Dewettinck (2007). "Relationship between Crystallization Behavior, Microstructure, and Macroscopic Properties in trans-Containing and trans-Free Filling Fats and Fillings". Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 55.19, pp. 7793–7801. ISSN: 0021-8561. DOI: 10.1021/jf070650n.
- Waldschütz, L. (2016). "Einfluss von Oberflächen auf die Kakaobutterkristallisation und die Migration von Füllungsfetten". Masterarbeit. Freising: TU München. 129 pp.
- Walstra, P. (2009). *Physical chemistry of foods*. United Kingdom: CRC Press. ISBN: 0-8247-9355-2.
- Walstra, P., W. Kloek, and T. van Vliet (2001). "Fat Crystal Networks". Crystallization processes in fats and lipid systems. Ed. by N. Garti and K. Sato. New York: Marcel Dekker, pp. 289–328. ISBN: 978-0824705510.
- Wille, R. L. and E. S. Lutton (1966). "Polymorphism of cocoa butter". Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society 43.8, pp. 491–496. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/ BF02641273.
- Williams, S. D., K. L. Ransom-Painter, and R. W. Hartel (1997). "Mixtures of palm kernel oil with cocoa butter and milk fat in compound coatings". *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 74.4, pp. 357–366. ISSN: 0003-021X. DOI: 10.1007/s11746-997-0091-3.
- Yano, J., S. Ueno, K. Sato, T. Arishima, N. Sagi, F. Kaneko, and M. Kobayashi (1993). "FT-IR study of polymorphic transformations in SOS, POP, and POS". *The Journal of Physical Chemistry* 97.49, pp. 12967–12973. ISSN: 0022-3654. DOI: 10.1021/ j100151a053.

- Zeng, Y. (2000). "Impf- und Scherkristallisation von Schokoladen". ETH Zentrum LFO. Dissertation. Zürich: Eidgenössische Technische Hochschule Zürich,
- Zhmud, Tiberg, and Hallstensson (2000). "Dynamics of Capillary Rise". Journal of colloid and interface science 228.2, pp. 263–269. ISSN: 0021-9797. DOI: 10.1006/jcis. 2000.6951. eprint: 10926465.
- Ziegleder, G. (1985). "Die Isotherme DSC-Methode. Messung des Kristallisationsverhaltens von Kakaobutter". Zucker- und Süßwarenwirtschaft 38.5, pp. 258–263.
- Ziegleder, G. (1988). "Kristallisation von Kakaobutter unter statischen und dynamischen Bedingungen. (DSC, Rheometer)". Süsswaren 32.12, pp. 487–493.
- Ziegleder, G. (May 13–15, 1991). Kristallisation von Kakaobutter und Schokoladenmassen. München: 2nd International Congress on Cocoa and Chocolate, 13-15 May 1991 in Munich.
- Ziegleder, G. (1993a). "Milchfettfraktionen. Teil 2: Die Rezeptur muss stimmen". Süsswaren 12, pp. 22–27.
- Ziegleder, G. (1993b). "Milchfettfraktionen. Teil 1: Mischungsverhalten mit Kakaobutter". Süsswaren 37.11, pp. 24–29.
- Ziegleder, G. (1993c). "Vorkristallisation von Schokoladen. Einflüsse durch Produkt und Maschine". Süsswaren 37.1-2, pp. 54–58.
- Ziegleder, G. (1995). "Kristallisation fetthaltiger Massen, dargestellt an Beispielen aus der Schokoladentechnologie. Chemische, physikalische, rheologische und verfahrenstechnische Einflüsse". Habilitationsschrift. München: TU München. 203 pp.
- Ziegleder, G. (2002). "Qualitätserhalt gefüllter Schokoladen am Beispiel Fettmigration". Forschung im Dienste der Lebensmittelqualität. Beiträge der Gemeinschaftsforschung ; 2002. 60. FEI-Diskussionstagung / Forschungskreis der Ernährungsindustrie e.V 60. Bonn: FEI. ISBN: 3-925032-36-3.
- Ziegleder, G. (2005a). "Conchieren". Britannia Magazin.
- Ziegleder, G. (2005b). "Verfestigung im Tank. DVS-Untersuchung über amorphe Lactose in flüssig gelagerten Schokoladen". *Lebensmitteltechnik* 4, pp. 88–89.
- Ziegleder, G., G. Balimann, H. Mikle, and H. Zaki (2003). "Neue Erkenntnisse über das Conchieren. Teil II: Aroma-Untersuchung". Süsswaren 48.4, pp. 16–18.
- Ziegleder, G., W. Danzl, T. Hinterberger, and H. Mikle (2010). "Pralinen. Teil 5: Einfluss der Produktionstechnik". Teil 5. Süsswaren 2010.7/8, pp. 18–20.
- Ziegleder, G., W. Danzl, T. Hinterberger, and H. Mikle (2011). "Haltbarkeit von Pralinen. Einfluss der Produktionstechnik". dmz 2011.2, pp. 21–23.
- Ziegleder, G., J. Geier-Greguska, and J. Grapin (1994). "HPLC-Analysis of Bloom". Fat Sci. Technol. 96.10, pp. 390–394.
- Ziegleder, G. and M. Kegel (1989). "Kristallisation von Schokoladenmassen. Teil 3 DSC-Messung der Kühlungskristallisation". Zucker- und Süßwarenwirtschaft 10, pp. 338– 342.
- Ziegleder, G. and H. Mikle (1995a). "Fettreif. Teil 2 Probleme, Ursachen, neuere Ergebnisse". Süsswaren 39.10, pp. 23–25.
- Ziegleder, G. and H. Mikle (1995b). "Fettreif. Teil 1 Probleme, Ursachen, neuere Ergebnisse". Süsswaren 39.9, pp. 28–32.

- Ziegleder, G. and H. Mikle (1995c). "Fettreif. Teil 3 Probleme, Ursachen, neuere Ergebnisse". Süsswaren 39.11, pp. 26–28.
- Ziegleder, G., C. Moser, and J. Geier-Greguska (1996a). "Kinetik der Fettmigration in Schokoladenprodukten. Teil 1 - Grundlagen und Analytik". *Fett/Lipid* 98.6, pp. 196– 199. ISSN: 0931-5985. DOI: 10.1002/lipi.19960980603.
- Ziegleder, G., C. Moser, and J. Geier-Greguska (1996b). "Kinetik der Fettmigration in Schokoladenprodukten. Teil 2 - Einfluss von Lagertemperatur, Diffusionskoeffizient, Festfettgehalt". *Fett/Lipid* 98.7-8, pp. 253–256. ISSN: 0931-5985. DOI: 10.1002/lipi. 19960980706.
- Ziegleder, G., A. Petz, and H. Mikle (2001). "Fettmigration und Fettreif in gefüllten Schokoladen. Die dominierenden Einflussgrößen". Zucker- und Süßwarenwirtschaft 01.7-8, pp. 29–31.
- Ziegleder, G. and I. Schwingshandl (1998). "Kinetik der Fettmigration in Schokoladenprodukten. Teil III: Fettreif". *Fett/Lipid* 100.9, pp. 411–415. ISSN: 0931-5985.
- Ziegleder, G. and I. Schwingshandl (1999). "Fettreif. eine Frage der Lagertemperatur". Süsswaren 99.4, pp. 36–38.
- Ziegler, G. R. (2009). "Product design and shelf-life issues: oil migration and fat bloom". Science and technology of enrobed and filled chocolate, confectionery and bakery products. Ed. by G. Talbot. Woodhead Publishing in food science, technology and nutrition. Boca Raton and Oxford: CRC Press and Woodhead Pub., pp. 185–210. ISBN: 978-1-84569-390-9.
- Ziegler, G. R., A. Shetty, and R. C. Anantheswaran (2004). "Nut Oil Migration Through Chocolate". The Manufacturing Confectioner.
- Ziegler, G. R. and K. Szlachetka (2005). "Where is the nut oil in chocolate?" New Food 8.3, p. 46.

## Publications from the author

## Peer-reviewed articles related to this work

- Rothkopf, I. and W. Danzl (2015). "Changes in chocolate crystallization are influenced by type and amount of introduced filling lipids". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 117.11, pp. 1714–1721. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201400552.
- Rothkopf, I., J. Kind, J. Zuber, W. Danzl, and G. Ziegleder (2017). "Impact of sample preparation on physical quantification of filling fats and oils in fresh and stored chocolate". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 117.8, p. 1600359. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201600359.
- Rothkopf, I., B. Schütz, W. Danzl, and G. Ziegleder (2017). "Comparison of isothermal and cycling temperature storage of filled dark chocolate products for accelerated shelf life prediction". *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology* 119.9, p. 1600481. ISSN: 1438-7697. DOI: 10.1002/ejlt.201600481.

### Further peer-reviewed articles from the author

- Senturk Parreidt, T., M. Lindner, I. Rothkopf, M. Schmid, and K. Müller (2019). "The Development of a Uniform Alginate-Based Coating for Cantaloupe and Strawberries and the Characterization of Water Barrier Properties". *Foods (Basel, Switzerland)* 8.6. ISSN: 2304-8158. DOI: 10.3390/foods8060203. eprint: 31212593.
- Guckenbiehl, Y., A. Martin, E. Ortner, I. Rothkopf, U. Schweiggert-Weisz, A. Buettner, and S. Naumann-Gola (2022). "Aroma-active volatiles and rheological characteristics of the plastic mass during conching of dark chocolate". *Food Research International*, p. 112063. ISSN: 09639969. DOI: 10.1016/j.foodres.2022.112063.

## Non-peer-reviewed articles

- Ganß, V., I. Rothkopf, and W. Danzl (2015). "Übeltäter im Überzug: Nachweismöglichkeiten für Füllungsfette in Schokolade". Deutsche Lebensmittel Rundschau 111.11, pp. 458– 462.
- Rothkopf, I., W. Danzl, and G. Ziegleder (2016). "Proof and quantification of filling oils in chocolates from enrobers". New Food 19.6, pp. 48–52.
- Schütz, B., I. Rothkopf, and W. Danzl (2016). "Correlation of the Whiteness-Index with consumer acceptance". sweet vision 61.4, pp. 20–23.

- Rothkopf, I. (2017). "Pralines without fat bloom feasible solutions from the Fraunhofer IVV". *SweetsProcessing* 9-10, pp. 30–33.
- Rothkopf, I., W. Danzl, and G. Ziegleder (2017). "Best practice for crystallization kinetics measurements via NMR". New Food 20.1, pp. 34–36.
- Stallinger, K., I. Rothkopf, and W. Danzl (2017a). "Impact of storage temperature on fat bloom development of filled chocolate. Part 1". sweet vision 62.2, pp. 12–15.
- Stallinger, K., I. Rothkopf, and W. Danzl (2017b). "Influence of Lipid Addition to Chocolate Mass. Part 2". sweet vision 62.3, pp. 12–14.
- Stallinger, K., I. Rothkopf, and W. Danzl (2017c). "Morphologic Changes. Part 3". sweet vision 62.
- Rothkopf, I. and G. Ziegleder (2018). "Premiumschokoladen mit hohem Kakaogehalt. Premium chocolate with high cocoa content". *SweetsProcessing* 8.5-6, pp. 28–31.

## Presentations

- Rothkopf, I. (Oct. 17, 2014). Gefüllte Schokoladenprodukte. Einfluss von Füllungsfetten in Überzugsschokoladen bei der Produktion. Rodgau, Germany. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2. 2.28612.22409.
- Thanheiser, I. (July 2, 2014). Schokoladenüberzug II. Einfluss von Füllungsfetten auf Fettmigration und -Kristallisation. Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 22, 2015a). Change of Cocoa Butter Crystallization during processing of Cocoa. Aveiro, Protugal. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.4496.3687/1.
- Rothkopf, I. (Sept. 28, 2015b). Comparing cocoa butter crystallization using different measuring techniques. Florenz, Italy. DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.1.4585.3688.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 25, 2015c). Kristallisationstendenz von Kakaobutter. Ergebnisse aus den Ringversuchen. Freising, Germany: Fraunhofer IVV.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 24, 2015d). Verbesserte Fettreifstabilität von schokoliertem Feingebäck oder anderen Produkten mit Schokoladenüberzug AiF-Projekt Nr. 17548. Freising, Germany: Fraunhofer IVV.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 30, 2016a). Einfluss von Nachtemperierung und unterschiedlichen Lagertemperaturen auf Fettreifbildung. Freising, Germany: Fraunhofer IVV.
- Rothkopf, I. (Sept. 19, 2016b). Extending Filled Chocolate Shelf Life by Post Tempering. Ghent, Belgium.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 30, 2016c). Kristallisationsverhalten in Kakaobohne, Kakaomasse und Kakaobutter. Freising, Germany: Fraunhofer IVV.
- Rothkopf, I. (May 17, 2017a). Cocoa butter crystallization: standardization of cocoa butter analysis for a better comparability of quality assurance. Solingen, Germany: Zentralfachschule der Deutschen Süßwarenwirtschaft e.V. -ZDS-.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 28, 2017b). GanzNuss-Schokolade: bisherige Ergebnisse (IVLV 01/2014-12/2015) Ziele und Ausblick des IGF-Vorhabens 18978 N. Whole-nut chocolate: previous results (IVLV 01/2014-12/2015 Aims and outlook of IGF-project 18978 N. Freising, Germany: Fraunhofer IVV.

- Rothkopf, I. (Jan. 30, 2017c). *Hazelnut quality influences shelf life of chocolate with whole nuts.* Cologne, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (Sept. 28, 2017d). Schokolade und Füllung ein Wechselspiel aus Kristallisation und Migration. Zurich, Swiss: ETH Zurich.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 29, 2017e). Wechselwirkung von Fettmigration und -kristallisation am Beispiel von gefüllten dunklen Schokoladen. Wechselwirkung von Fettmigration und -kristallisation am Beispiel von gefüllten dunklen Schokoladen Interactions of fat migration and crystallization in filled dark chocolate products. Freising, Germany: Fraunhofer IVV.
- Rothkopf, I. (Apr. 11, 2018a). Contribution of molding technique and adjusted cooling tunnel parameter to improve fat bloom stability of filled chocolates. Solingen, Germany: Zentralfachschule der Deutschen Süßwarenwirtschaft e.V. -ZDS-.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 28, 2018b). Einfluss der Schokoladenrezeptur und verarbeitung auf die Fettreifbildung. Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (Jan. 29, 2018c). Filling oil migration in chocolate Impact of chocolate composition, conching and crystallization. Cologne, Germany: ISM.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 28, 2018d). GanzNussSchokolade Rösten, Mischen und Lagern. Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (Dec. 4, 2018e). Herausforderungen und Lösungsansätze für das homogene Einmischen geringer Mengen Rezepturbestandteile in temperierte Schokolade. Cologne, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 27, 2018f). Homogenes Einmischen geringer pulvriger Rezepturbestandteile in Schokolade. Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (Sept. 18, 2018g). Milk fat release in milk chocolates during conching depending on process parameter variation. Belfast, Northern Ireland.
- Rothkopf, I. (Sept. 17, 2018h). Non-destructive measurement of total oil content in hazelnuts by NMR and NIR compared to established methods. Belfast, Northern Ireland.
- Rothkopf, I. (Feb. 25, 2019a). Anwendungsbeispiele zur Fettreifreduktion. Fettreif auf überzogenen Produkten und Schokoladen mit ganzen Haselnüssen. Solingen, Germany: Zentralfachschule der Deutschen Süßwarenwirtschaft e.V. -ZDS-.
- Rothkopf, I. (Feb. 25, 2019b). Fettreifstudien an kaltgeformten Pralinen. Fettreifbeurteilung, Produktionseinflüsse und Lagerung. Solingen, Germany: Zentralfachschule der Deutschen Süßwarenwirtschaft e.V. -ZDS-.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 25, 2019c). IcePigging Eine Reinigungstechnik für die Schokoladenbranche. Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 26, 2019d). Kristallisation von Kakaobutter und Kakaomasse Messtechnik im Ringversuch. Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 26, 2019e). Schnelltests zur Fettreifvorhersage bei Pralinen. Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (Feb. 25, 2019f). Temperieren von Schokolade. Durchführung, Kontrolle und Auswirkungen auf Fettreif. Solingen, Germany: Zentralfachschule der Deutschen Süßwarenwirtschaft e.V. -ZDS-.

- Rothkopf, I. (June 25, 2019g). Vom Labor in die Realität Fettreifentwicklung auf Schokoladen mit ganzen Haselnüssen. Freising, Germany.
- Ziegleder, G. and I. Rothkopf (June 26, 2019). Kontaktintensität neuer Ansatz zur Fettreifforschung. Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 30, 2021a). Füllung Schokolade Tuchband: Kontakte mit Folgen (IVLV Projekte: Kontaktintensität 1+2). Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 24, 2021b). Oleogele in der Anwendung am Beispiel Pralinenfüllung und Brotaufstrich. online: ETH Zurich and Swiss Food Research.
- Rothkopf, I. (Dec. 9, 2021c). Reduktion der Migration und resultierendem Fettreif bei Pralinen durch den Einsatz von Schokoladenrezepturbestandteilen zur Verlängerung des MHD. online: Zentralfachschule der Deutschen Süßwarenwirtschaft e.V. -ZDS-.
- Rothkopf, I. (Dec. 8, 2021d). Verbesserte Vorhersage von Fettreif während der Lagerung von gefüllten dunklen Schokoladenprodukten anhand forcierter Lagertests. online: Zentralfachschule der Deutschen Süßwarenwirtschaft e.V. -ZDS-.
- Rothkopf, I., I. M. Buchmann, and F. Groß (June 17, 2021). Reformulation The use of oleogels as a potential fat replacer reducing the content of saturated fats. online: Gesellschaft zur Förderung der Verbraucherforschung.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 29, 2022a). Geht nicht, gibt's nicht das CCR als potentielle Methode zur rheologischen Charakterisierung hochviskoser Massen. Freising, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (June 28, 2022b). MilchNichtFett Migrationsminimierung durch Milchbestandteile in Schokolade. Freising, Germany.

## Posters

- Rothkopf, I. (June 9, 2021). Poster: Cocoa World Map Crystallization Properties of cocoa beans from different origins. Zentralfachschule der Deutschen Süßwarenwirtschaft e.V. -ZDS-.
- Danzl, W. and I. Rothkopf (2016-09-18/2016-09-21a). Comparing Storage Tests for Chocolate Shelf Life Prediction. 14th Euro Fed Lipid Congress, Ghent, Belgium.
- Danzl, W. and I. Rothkopf (2016-09-18/2016-09-21b). Hazelnut quality influences shelf life of chocolate with whole nuts. 14th Euro Fed Lipid Congress, Ghent, Belgium.
- Guckenbiehl, Y., S. Naumann, and I. Rothkopf (2019-06-13/2019-06-14). Cocoa World Map – Solid fat content of cocoa beans from different origins. Runder Tisch Kakao, Hamburg, Germany.
- Naumann, S., I. Rothkopf, and Schweiggert-Weisz Ute (2019-06-13/2019-06-14). Complete Utilization of Cocoa Fruits for Innovative Food Products and Ingredients. Runder Tisch Kakao, Hamburg, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. (2018-12-03/2018-12-05). Nougat filling temperature and seeding correlated to fat bloom on pralines. ZDS ChocoTec, Cologne, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. and W. Danzl (2016-12-06/2016-12-08). A guideline through different measuring and evaluation methods for cocoa and chocolate crystallization. ZDS - ChocoTec, Cologne, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. and W. Danzl (2014-09-14/2014-09-17). Influence of initial filling fat concentration and storage temperature on nougatfilled dark chocolate candies quality. 12th Euro Fed Lipid Congress, Montpellier, France.
- Rothkopf, I. and W. Danzl (2014-11-25/2014-11-28). Influence of initial filling fat concentration on nougat-filled dark chocolate candies quality. 28th EFFoST International Conference, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Rothkopf, I. and W. Danzl (2016-09-18/2016-09-21). Vegan Milk Chocolates Alternatives. 14th Euro Fed Lipid Congress, Ghent, Belgium.
- Rothkopf, I., B. Gollinger, W. Danzl, and K. Rieblinger (2014-12-09/2014-12-11). Proof and Quantification of Filling Oils in Chocolates from Enrobers. ZDS - ChocoTec, Cologne, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I., J. Kind, W. Danzl, and K. Rieblinger (2014-12-09/2014-12-11). Influence of Different Filling Lipids on Chocolate Crystallization. ZDS - ChocoTec, Cologne, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I., C. Koppe, T. Tybussek, I. Eibl, and G. Ziegleder (2017-08-27/2017-08-30). *Physical Behavior of Cocoa Butter Blended with Vegetable Oils*. 15th Euro Fed Lipid Congress, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Rothkopf, I., B. Schütz, and W. Danzl (2016-12-06/2016-12-08). Comparing Storage Tests for Chocolate Shelf Life Prediction. ZDS - ChocoTec, Cologne, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I. and Schweiggert-Weisz Ute (2017-06-22/2017-06-23). Complete Utilization of Cocoa Fruit by Recovery of The Aromatic Cocoa Pulp and Husk. Runder Tisch Kakao, Hamburg, Germany.
- Rothkopf, I., B. Sonnleitner, and W. Danzl (2016-12-06/2016-12-08). Fat migration in filled chocolate products. ZDS - ChocoTec, Cologne, Germany.